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Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. HAN Jun (Vice President)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong
Mr. WONG Chi Kin
Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. JI Yong
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Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Dong
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Mr. WANG Dong (Chairman)
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Mr. WONG Chi Kin
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The offices of Osiris International Cayman Limited

Suite #4-210, Governors Square

23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue

P.O. Box 3231

Grand Cayman KYI-1209, Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Room | 106, Block A Phase |
Tianan Digital City
Innovation Technology Plaza
Futian District, Chegongmiao
Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 6, I/F, Trust Centre
912 Cheung Sha Wan Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
(in alphabetical order)

Bank of China, Shenzhen branch

China Merchants Bank, Guangzhou branch

China Merchants Bank, Hongkong branch

China Merchants Bank, Shenzhen branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Hongkong branch

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.forgame.com

STOCK CODE ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED

484
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR fEHEHEZREMEEKER
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=+-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B —EF-FF —T-NF —T-NF —FT—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARBTT ARETFT
(Restated)
(&%)
Continuing Operations BEREER
Revenue WA 142,136 53,560 98,283 129,440 346,466
Gross profit EF 13,601 12,960 74,445 81,749 222,281
Profit/(loss) for the year FREMN, (EE) 31,58 (38,173) (95,932) (4,948) 68,648
Non-IFRSs Measures F B B B i s 2 A
e
— EBITDA® for the year — FRNEBTDA® 32,109 (32,150) (99,142) (10,345) 105,319
— Adjusted EBITDA® for the — FRKRE
year EBITDA® (13,420) (32,330) (74,281) 31,037 58,561
Notes: BT
(1) Financial figures of continuing operations in 2021 and 2020 exclude relevant (1) ZEZ—FR-TE-_TFFHELEEBFNUBERTE
figures of the discontinued operations pursuant to the IFRS 5. Details are ERBER I BREERES RO A RKR L L XA
disclosed in note 12 to the Financial Statement. AR o BRI BMERMGE 128 E -

(2)  The Group has ceased the operation of internet micro-credit business during  (2) AEBR T = —FRKILCERIE/ NBERER - &

2021. The results for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been restated EETF+ A=+ -BILFENEER R EE
on such basis. HEITED -
(3)  EBITDA means earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation and amortisation. (3) EBITDAIERFAIE - BiIE - e REHAAFE -

(4)  The Group defines adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding share-based  (4) AEEFGEFHEBITDARTEAIBR UKL AERD

compensation, investment related gains or losses and non-recurring events. For e REMEABRSKEEUARECESTEZED
details of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, please refer to the section headed ERBITDA ° BFEBITDAR K FARLEBITDARIGEE @ BAH
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Non-IFRSs Measures — EBITDA and RERIERE AN mEAANT —IFEERM B REEAGF =
Adjusted EBITDA" in this annual report. —EBITDAR 4K #EBITDA | —£f ©
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Financial Highlights
BRRE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL fHEA& BFRI AR R &
POSITION

As at 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-—f —T-FTF —FT-NF ET-NF ZT—LF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARMFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Assets BE

Non-current assets EREEE 155,391 122,765 149,788 102,929 416,930
Current assets mENEE 558,004 555,407 663,570 886,71 | 1,106,452
Total assets BEEAE 713,395 678,172 813,358 989,640 1,523,382
Equity and liabilities EzRkaE

Total equity EREEE 636,656 611,968 663,963 847,687 1,181,417
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 5,752 8,001 22,614 581 32,447
Current liabilities mEAas 70,987 58,203 126,781 141,372 309,518
Total liabilities EE8HE 76,739 66,204 149,395 141,953 341,965
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEERR 713,395 678,172 813,358 989,640 1,523,382

EWERERAT FEHs00 1



Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

OVERVIEW

In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic lingered worldwide due to the emergence
of variants Delta and Omicron, bringing downward pressure to the global
economy. As the COVID-19 vaccines are being promoted, the global
economy was also gradually recovering, with an increase of approximately
6% in 2021 according to IMF's projection. However, it will take time for
the global economy to truly recover as a result of the ongoing political and
economic turmoil in the world, divergent recovery paths among countries
affected by the pandemic, and further widening gap in living standards among

countries.

Due to the impact of the pandemic and complex market environment,
the Company’s business faced continuous challenges. The Board and the
management reviewed the internal operation and management strategies
on a regular basis and proactively dealt with past issues while continuously
improving the level of corporate governance. We continued to develop the
online gaming and trading of electronic device and semiconductor business,
improved the management and operation efficiency, and successfully
recovered a portion of the past receivables, by which the Company
got through a challenging year. In 2021, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately RMBI142.]1 million, representing an increase of |65.4%
compared to the same period of last year. Thanks to successful operating
strategy adjustment and effective operating cost control, the Group
achieved a turnaround from loss to profit during the year, with a profit of

approximately RMBI7.5 million for the year.

8 FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 202| Annual Report
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OUTLOOK

As an ancient Chinese poetry goes, “Listen not to the rain beating against

the trees. Why don't you slowly walk and chant at ease?” Looking ahead to
2022, the Group will still face many uncertainties such as the instability of
international politics, the continuing pandemic, the adjustments in policies
regarding the issuance of game permits in the PRC, the intensification of
industry competition and the accelerated product update iterations. Besides,
the development of new games will also face great resistance. In 2022, the
rise of new technologies and new concepts will bring new opportunities
and challenges to the entire industry. Under the guidance of China’s grand
strategy of “transporting data from eastern regions to western regions for
storage and calculation”, the Group will consolidate internal and external
resources, increase investment in research and development of games
and peripheral storage products, and expand cooperation channels for
game operations, actively explore opportunities for business upgrading and

transformation, deepen and improve existing businesses, and stabilize income

sources through diversified development to cope with market risks.

The journey is long and arduous but we will get through with determination
and perseverance. Under a prudent and optimistic investment strategy,
the Group will explore new investment opportunities while organically
integrating existing resources and improving the management level, so as to
ensure the steady development of the Group's business that will benefit our

shareholders (the “Shareholders”) in the long run.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Shareholders,
the management team, employees, business partners and customers of the

Group for their continued support and contribution to the Group.

CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended

31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games and trading of electronic devices and

semiconductors in the PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the

Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page |19 and page 120 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 6 and page 7, page 8

and page 9 and pages 52 to 65 of this annual report, respectively.
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EZeMAREAFHRERNAEFEE T —F+
“A=T-RLEFENKEZAHUBTRE -

FEXK

AEETZNPEREEASEINEREBR LD
BEROMERET  UREFRUERFERES -

ARAMEEXBRAREZR - FATZMEARN
TEXEBHE  SRPBRARMEE20 -

ES

AEAHE-ZE-—F+-A=+—"HIELFENEE
HRARNFRBIOANE 20EMHNEGHEE KEM
EEBERA -

e qe]

AEBHE T -_—F+_A=+—HBLEFEZEH
CEDRENAFRFECEARFETA - FAREIAR
FAEZFSANMBRHE] [TEREEIRIERE
ErmEniT IZH8 -



Description of principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
can be found in the sections headed “Report of Directors — Contractual
Arrangements — D. Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
the actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Risks and Hurdles” on pages 3| to 36 and
page 66 of this annual report, respectively. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
52 to 67 of this annual report. An indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 and page
9 and page 67 of this report. In addition, the Group's environmental, social
and corporate government report for the year ended 31 December 202
(the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”) can be found in the

appendix to this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the

year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 35 to the Financial

Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 123 and note 37 of this annual report.

Report of Directors
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately RMB636.6 million (as at 31 December 2020: RMB612.0
million), none of which had been proposed as final dividend for the year
ended 3| December 2021.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial position for
the last five financial years of the Group is set out on page 6 and page 7 of

this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Save for those disclosed in the section headed "“Aspect B8: Community
Investment” in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, the Group
did not make charitable donations during the year ended 31 December
2021.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note |7 to the Financial

Statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group during the year ended 31 December

2021 are set out in note 31 to the Financial Statements.

12  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2021 Annual Report
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded

contingent liabilities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2021 and as at the Latest Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, and there is no restriction against such rights which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the

existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the

Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)

Mr. HAN Jun (Vice President)

Mr. DIAO Guoxin (resigned with effect from 25 August 2021)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (resigned with effect from |7 December 2021)

Report of Directors
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. Jl Yong (appointed with effect from 6 September 202 1)

Pursuant to article 99(3) of the Articles, any Director so appointed to fill a
casual vacancy by the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Any Director so appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. JI Yong shall hold
office until the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall then, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election as a Director at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting.

Pursuant to article 104(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. WONG Chi Kin and Mr. WANG Dong shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Mr. WANG
Dong has indicated that he will not offer himself for re-election as Director
and will retire after the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting. Mr.
WONG Chi Kin, being eligible, has offered themselves for re-election as

Director at the Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 103 to |10 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company, and each of the Independent Non-executive Directors and the

Non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company.

The appointment of the Directors, including the Executive Directors, the
Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors,
is effective from the respective appointment date for an initial term of
three years and is renewable for a further term of three years. All of these
appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable within one year without payment

of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WANG Dong, Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma
and Mr. JI Yong) a confirmation in writing in respect of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
reviewed the independence of each of these Directors and considers all the

Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions at the relevant time being
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 3| December 2021, the following are the persons, other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company at the relevant time, who had
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

BARRNESERER

FTERRRRORERROHER AR

REB-—F+-"A=+—8 A TFTAL(XRERHE
TN BERIN) IR K A8 BE A )
A BB RIBE LG ERPIFEXVERE33616A

HARRFENERECMOERIOXR

Capacity/ Number and ~ Approximate percentage of
Name Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L 513,/ EatE IR0 BB KB MAKRET L
Managecorp Limited(" Trustee 29,437,335 20.06%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
XFEA 29437,3350%
EEi(re)
Foga Group!" Beneficial Owner 21,673,338 14.77%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAA 21,673,338%
EEi(re)
WANG Dongfeng Founder of the Discretionary 21,673,338 14.77%
Trust and Interest of Ordinary Shares
Controlled Corporation(" (long position)
ERE RRETAMARZIRER 21,673,3380%
fEzn " EEi(Fe)
Beneficial Owner® 1,500,800 1.02%

BEHEBA®
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Report of Directors

EEEHRE

Capacity/ Number and ~ Approximate percentage of
Name Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L 513/ EatE KRHBE RER BMARET DL
Foga Holdings(" Beneficial Owner 7,763,997 5.29%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESHEAA 7,763,997R%
EEi(Fe)
LIAO Dong®" Founder of the Discretionary 7,763,997 5.29%
Trust and Interest of Ordinary Shares
Controlled Corporation (long position)
BRO PRERAIMARTIEAE 7,763,9970%
fEat EE(re)
Foga Internet Development® Beneficial Owner 7,785,700 5.31%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESHEAA 7,785,7008%
EE(FR)
YANG Tao Interest of Controlled 7,785,700 531%
Corporation® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
158 WAL £l 7,785,7008%
EEi(FR)
Beneficial Owner® 1,340,000 091%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ESHEAAY 1,340,0008%
EEi(FR)
KongZhong Corporation® Beneficial Owner 10,202,168 6.95%

ek

BEmBEBA

Bl

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
10,202, 1 68
EE(re)
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Capacity/ Number and ~ Approximate percentage of
Name Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L 513 EatE IRAD BB K5 BMARET DL
Linkedsee Limited® Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
R A E 10,202, 168%
EE(re)
Linkedsee Group Limited® Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
EREPRE] 10,202, 1 68%
Em(re)
WANG Leilei® Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
IEE R 10,202, 1 68%
EE(Fe)
Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology  Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Co., Limited*® Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
LERETBEMZARIF® Ry A E s 10,202,1688%
EE(Fe)
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Co., Limited.*® Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
tRRERABMBZERET AR Ry AE s 10,202,1688%
EE(re)
Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%

(Limited Partnership)*®

ERMBRERERD(BRER)O

Corporation

SRR F
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Capacity/ Number and ~ Approximate percentage of
Name Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L 513/ EatE IR A7 BB K5 BMARET DL
Hexie Tianming Investment Management Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*® Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
MHAAREEEULR)ARARA ZEEE#ER 10,202, 168%
EEi(FR)
Hexie Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU) Interest of Controlled 10,202,168 6.95%
Investment Center (Limited Corporation Ordinary Shares
Partnership)*® (long position)
MERRZH(ES)RED L RPN 10,202,1688%
(BERER)O EE(re)
China Create Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 9,584,000 6.53%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
FRAEARRAF BESHEAA 9,584,000A%
EE(re)
BASEWAY CO LTD® Beneficial Owner 9,614,760 6.55%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESHEAA 9,614,7608%
EE(FR)
GU Wei® Interest of Controlled 9,614,760 6.55%
Corporation Ordinary Shares
(long position)
e Ry AE s 9,614,7600%
EEi(Fe)
Beneficial Owner 6,073,000 4.14%

BERmBEBA

Bl

Ordinary Shares
(long position)
6,073,000/%
EEi(Fe)
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Foga Group is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee of Wang
Trust. Wang Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. WANG Dongfeng, who
is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on |5 March
2013. The beneficiary objects of Wang Trust include Mr. WANG Dongfeng
and certain of his family members. Mr. WANG Dongfeng and Managecorp
Limited are taken to be interested in 21,673,338 Shares held by Foga Group. In
addition, Foga Holdings is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee
of Hao Dong Trust. Hao Dong Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIAO
Dong, who is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on
|5 March 2013. The beneficiary object of Hao Dong Trust is Mr. LIAO Dong
himself. Mr. LIAO Dong and Managecorp Limited are taken to be interested in
7,763,997 Shares held by Foga Holdings.

Mr. WANG Dongfeng was granted 500,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share
Unit Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December
2016 to | June 2018. Mr. WANG Dongfeng bought an aggregate of 850,800
Shares during the period from 26 June 2017 to 13 July 2017. He was further
granted 300,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2018, 50,000
of which vested on | December 2018 and 250,000 of which were cancelled
on 30 June 2019. The Company further granted 250,000 RSUs to Mr. WANG
Dongfeng under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2019, 50,000 of which
vested on | July 2019, 50,000 vested on | January 2020, and 150,000 were
cancelled.

Foga Internet Development is wholly owned by Mr. YANG Tao. Mr. YANG
Tao is taken to be interested in the 7,785,700 Shares held by Foga Internet
Development Ltd.

Mr. YANG Tao was granted 1,340,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit
Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December 2016
to | June 2018.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 202| Annual Report
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KongZhong Corporation is interested in 10,202,168 Shares, representing
approximately 6.95% of the issued share capital of the Company. KongZhong
Corporation is 100% owned by Linkedsee Limited, which in turn is 73.13%
owned by Linkedsee Group Limited. Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology
Co,, Limited* (B8 FEG BRI AR A F]) holds 57.32% of equity interest
of Linkedsee Group Limited. Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co.,
Limited * (At R A E @B BHE AR E LA ) holds 100% equity interest of
Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology Co., Limited.* (/8% B ABRRAE
FR A &)). Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Ltd.* (Jb TR 1 2 sk
BREERAF]) is 51.11% owned by Mr. WANG Leilei and 40.89% owned by
Hexie Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU) Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (7l
BEREZHES) REFL (AREH)). Hexie Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU)
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (&K &E B (EE)IREF L
(BRRER)) is 3% held by Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center (Limited
Partnership)* (b RMFEMREEIRE R L (AR E %)), Beijing Hexie Xinrong
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (AL RAGETREIZE R (BRER))
is 0.1% owned by Hexie Tianming Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (F01
BRAAKREERE dtw) ERRA).

BASEWAY CO LTD is wholly owned by Ms. Gu. Ms. Gu is taken to be
interested in the 9,614,760 Shares held by BASEWAY CO LTD.

The English name(s) has/have been translated from its/their respective Chinese
name(s) and is/are for identification purpose only.

Save as disclosed above, as at 3|1 December 2021, the Company is not

aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of

the Company at the relevant time) who had an interest or short position in

the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Q)

(6)

Bk £ XTI ER & SN
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ZEHFEAF 10202, 168G KR - HERARAE
BITRRA#)6.95% ° 22/ HLinkedsee Limited# A 100%
% - Linkedsee Limited Bl fLinkedsee Group Limited
WAH73.13% = - LEFEDHAREARARGE
Linkedsee Group Limited 57.32%R%# - 4t X 2 B
MEARETARBA L EEEEHAREARAR
100%f%#E - R A EMHAREEREFAGIETES
EERMBERR-—H(EB)RERPL(AERER)D A
A5 1%Kk4089%Ewm - MEBKKR-_H(ES)IRESD
DBEREE)BILRFEMERETL(BRAEZ)FE
3%MER o L RFBMEREROL(ARAER) BMAEXR
HIREER (L R) BRARMEBO. | %R ©

BASEWAY CO LTDHEEX T2 EHE - BREWHEMN
FBASEWAY CO LTD#5H #99,614,7608% Ak {5 H % 5 7

I °

RXPBHEARSAZPXEE - ERARHMAR

CTRZE—F+ZA=+—H "

RRBETMBEAEMA L (RN EESHENE
EHEBTHRABRINRBRO BB P HEERE
&7 LB IRGIFE336RREABARRFEMNE M
WAL ER IR A ©
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors And Chief Executives'
Interests And Short Positions In Shares, Underlying Shares And Debentures”
above, at no time during the year ended 3| December 2021 and up to
the Latest Practicable Date was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding company,
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of |8 were granted any right to subscribe
for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body

corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for their respective interests in the Group (including the PRC
Operational Entities), none of the Directors was interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Material Acquisition and Disposal” in this annual report, during
the year ended 3| December 2021, the Group did not perform any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures.

22  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2021 Annual Report

ESBEROIEEEHEF

BEXEZRERTRABRKN - HRERO REE
ERHER MR | —BREESN  AAREEM
(=N el N = R SN 2 N I R R E LRI/
ARBE-Z - —F+-A=+—HIFENEMK
BREEREERATEMERT I EMZY - BE
EEARBEARASEMEMEABRORDHE
BEMELS  ARUBEERRENETAEBR TN
BRA T B F RN ARBE AR B S HEAIEA
R R AR BB B SR D ITRE R BER -

EEREEMEBNER

BREEZARASE(BETREEER) WERN
BHE_Z-—F+_A=1+—"BLLFE  KELER
EAEAREEBERE FHLAEBRHEFNELS
BEEER -

EXANBEERHEESER

BAFHRIEEENRENT —EXRBEARKES
HIZEHAREN  RBE-_T-_—F+-A=+—H
IEFE - AEEWEETEMNBRAMNBAR - BERQ
AREEEENERYBHHESH -



CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Report of Directors — Contractual
Arrangements — F. Chapter |4A Implications” in this annual report, during
the year ended 31 December 2021, no related party transactions disclosed
in note 42 to the Financial Statements constituted a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to

Rules 14A49 and [4A.71 of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors and foreign-owned
enterprises shall comply with the Foreign Investment Law, the Regulation
on Implementing the Foreign Investment Law and the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (the
“Negative List”). According to the Negative List, the webgame and mobile
game businesses currently operated by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, namely Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, involve in value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce) and internet cultural
business (except for music), and restricted or prohibited foreign investors to

invest in.

Furthermore, according to the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises, which were issued on
I'l December 2001 by the State Council and amended on 10 September
2008, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests of a company providing value-added telecommunications
services, including internet content provision services. Internet content
provision services are classified as value-added telecommunications
businesses, and a commercial operator of such services must obtain an
ICP Licence from the appropriate telecommunications authorities in order
to carry on any commercial internet content provision operations in the
PRC. A foreign investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of business

operations overseas (the "Qualification Requirement”).
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As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, as at 31 December 2021,
no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules had provided clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement, and there was no update to

the Qualification Requirement.

A. Feidong Contractual Arrangements

In order for the Company to be able to carry on its businesses in the
PRC, including webgame and mobile game businesses, the Group has
in place the Feidong Contractual Arrangements between Feidong, on
one hand, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and their respective
shareholders on the other hand, which enable the Company to
exercise control over the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, and to
consolidate the financial results of Feidong PRC Operational Entities in
the results of the Company under IFRSs as if they were wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Company.
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The table below sets out a simplified

Contractual Arrangements:

offshore
BN

onshore

EA

structure of the Feidong

Company
RN
100%
A
Foga Tech
100%
Contractual
! arrangements
. NS
Feidong | _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
JEE)
I
| Contractual
| arrangements
| BRLHE

Summary of the major terms of the structured contracts under the

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

The following sets out a summary of the major terms of the

structured contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

which were in place during the year ended 31 December 2021:

Exclusive options agreements dated June and July 2012, which

were amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were

entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational

Entities, their respective shareholders, and Feidong, under

which Feidong was granted an exclusive irrevocable option to

purchase from the respective shareholders some or all of their

equity interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities at any

time, at a nominal amount subject to applicable PRC laws.
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Exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 21 June
2012, which were amended and restated on |2 September
2013, were entered into between each of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities and Feidong, under which each of the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities agreed to engage Feidong
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including network support, business
consultations, intellectual property development, equipment
leasing, marketing consultancy, system integration, product
research and development and system maintenance, in
exchange for a monthly service fee. The monthly fee is, subject
to Feidong's adjustment, equal to 100% of the net income of
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and may also include
accumulated earnings of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
from previous financial years. Pursuant to the exclusive business
cooperation agreements, Feidong also has the exclusive and
proprietary rights to all intellectual properties developed by the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities.

Share pledge agreements dated July 2012, which were
amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were entered
into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,
its respective shareholders, and Feidong, under which the
shareholders of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities pledged
all of their respective equity interests in the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to Feidong as collateral security for all of
their payments due to Feidong and to secure performance of
their obligations under the above-mentioned exclusive business

cooperation agreements.

Irrevocable powers of attorney were executed in June and July
2012, which were amended and restated on |12 September
2013, executed by each of the shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to appoint Feidong as the exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and to exercise all of
their rights as registered shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities.
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For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the

section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, (i) there were no new
contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,
(ii) there were no material changes in the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements or the circumstances under which they were adopted,
and (iii) none of the structured contracts under the Feidong
Contractual Arrangement mentioned above has been unwound
as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured
contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements has been

removed.

Particulars of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities as at
31 December 2021:

Name of the
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Feidong PRC Type of legal entity/
Operational place of establishment
Entities and operation Registered owners Business activities
FEBHELE FERBER S
EREE B R AR i B BREAA EBEE
Feiyin Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development of webgames and mobile games
company/the PRC  24.70% by Mr. Liao
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
FEE BREFAR/HE EEERKF4.106 HEEERBIHES
B ERR24.70%
ERERB23.75%
FESR AR H9.50%
BRI H0.95%
Weidong Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development and operation of webgames and mobile games

company/the PRC  24.70% by Mr. Liao
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
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Name of the

Feidong PRC Type of legal entity/
Operational place of establishment
Entities and operation Registered owners Business activities

FBHHEREE FEERER S
BEEEE RO AR i B BRBEA EBED

HEE) AREFEAR/HE BELEZEE4.10% HEMKSENE LBHEE

BRAERH2470%
AR ERH2375%
HRERH.50%
1B EFH0.95%

Jieyou Limited liability 48.61% by Mr. Zhuang Development and operation of webgames and mobile games

company/the PRC  20.94% by Mr. Wang
17.13% by Mr. Liao
12.37% by Mr. Huang
0.95% by Mr. Yang

Reis EREARR/PE HEERE4861% RAEREEBERBBDEE

R EREH20.94%
BRERFHE7.13%
HEERF1237%
B EREF0.95%

The Feidong PRC Operational Entities are significant to the Group
as they hold certain licences and permits that are essential to the
operations of the webgame and mobile game businesses in the PRC
of the Group, such as the ICP Licence, the Network Cultural Business
Permit, in the PRC. In addition, most of the intellectual property rights
relating to such businesses, including software copyrights, trademarks,
patents and domain names, are held by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities.
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The Feidong PRC Operational Entities have undertaken to the
Company that, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities will provide the
Group's management and the auditors of the Company with full
access to its relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the auditors of the Company on the transactions

contemplated under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements.

Requirements related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than

relevant foreign ownership restrictions)

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, requirements
related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than relevant foreign

ownership restrictions) include:

Pursuant to Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, a contract
is void under any of the following five circumstances: (i) the
contract is concluded through the use of fraud or coercion
by one party and thereby damages the interest of the state,
(if) malicious collusion is conducted to damage the interest of
the state, a collective unit or a third party, (i) the contract
damages the public interest, (iv) an illegitimate purpose is
concealed under the guise of legitimate acts or (v) the contract
violates the mandatory provisions of the laws or administrative
regulations. As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers,
the relevant terms of the Contractual Arrangements do not
fall within any of the aforementioned five circumstances, and in
particular, would not be deemed as “concealing an illegitimate
purpose under the guise of legitimate acts” under Article 52 of
the PRC Contract Law, and do not violate the provisions of the
PRC Contract Law or the General Principles of the PRC Civil
Law. However, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of PRC laws and future PRC laws
and regulations, and there can be no assurance that any PRC
government agency will not take a view that is contrary to or

otherwise different from the above.
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According to the Contractual Arrangements, when a dispute
arises, any party to the agreements may submit such dispute
to the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission for settlement pursuant to the effective arbitration
rules at that time, and the arbitration award shall be final
and binding on the parties. Arbitration tribunal may decide
compensation for the equity interests and property ownership
of the on-shore subsidiaries, decide enforceable remedy or
demand liquidation of relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request the competent court
to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect. The
courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands also have the right
to grant or execute awards of arbitration tribunal and make
decision or execute temporary remedy on the equity interests
and property ownership of the on-shore subsidiaries. However,
pursuant to the laws of China, in the settlement of dispute, the
arbitration tribunals shall not be entitled to grant an injunctive
order to protect the property ownership or equity interests of
the on-shore subsidiaries, and shall not issue a temporary or
final liquidation order directly. Moreover, the interim remedies
or orders granted by the off-shore courts, including Hong Kong
and the Cayman Islands, may not be recognised or enforced
by the courts in China. Therefore, such terms in the above

agreements may not be enforceable under the laws of China.

Revenue and assets subject to the structured contracts under the

Contractual Arrangements

The revenue and the total asset value of the Feidong PRC Operational

Entities subject to the Feidong Contractual Arrangements amounted

to approximately RMB19.8 million for the year ended 31 December

2021 and approximately RMB283.2 million as at 31 December 2021,

respectively.
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D.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and the actions  D.

taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BHZHERRR
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR BERMZ R ERBRITE

If the PRC government finds that the underlying agreements
of the Contractual Arrangements that establish the structure
for operating the business of the Company in the PRC
do not comply with PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, the
Group could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to

relinquish the interests in those operations.
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Pursuant to the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements, at any
time after the date of such agreements, in the event of any
promulgation or change of any law, regulation or rule of
China or any interpretation or applicable change of such
laws, regulations or rules, the following agreements shall
be applicable: If the economic interests of any party under
the agreements suffer a significant adverse effect directly or
indirectly due to the above change of laws, regulations or
rules, the agreements should continue to operate pursuant
to the original terms. Each of the parties shall obtain a waiver
for complying with such change or rule via all legal channels.
If any adverse effect on the economic interests of any party
may not be eliminated according to the relevant agreement,
upon the receipt by the other parties of such notice from the
affected party, all the parties shall promptly discuss and make
all necessary modification to the agreements to preserve the
economic interests of the affected party under the agreement.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRZFERRR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TR Z PR EREBRITE

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
the PRC Operational Entities or their shareholders may
fail to perform their obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.

BT ERTELEG T AR TMERENAER - B
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The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets
held by the PRC Operational Entities that are important
to the operation of the business of the Group if the PRC
Operational Entities declare bankruptcy or become subject

to dissolution or liquidation proceedings.

B
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The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group owes additional taxes
could substantially reduce the consolidated net income
of the Group and the value of the investment of the

Shareholders.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 202| Annual Report

According to the relevant powers of attorney, share pledge
agreements and exclusive business cooperation agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements, the arbitration tribunal
may decide (i) compensation for the equity interests
or property ownership of the PRC Operational Entities
or their shareholders, or (ii) enforceable remedy or to
demand bankruptcy of the PRC Operational Entities or their
shareholders for relevant business or enforceable asset transfer.
Any party is entitled to request a competent court to execute
the arbitration award when it comes into effect.
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Pursuant to the relevant exclusive option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, in the event of a mandatory
liquidation required by the laws of the PRC, the relevant
Feidong PRC Operational Entities shall sell all of their assets
and any residual interest through a non-reciprocal transfer to
the extent permitted by the laws of the PRC to Feidong or
another qualifying entity designated by Feidong, at the lowest
selling price permitted by applicable laws of the PRC.
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As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, they took the
view that the Contractual Arrangements will not be challenged
by the PRC tax authorities unless the PRC tax authorities
determine that such transactions are not conducted on an
arm'’s length basis, provided that Feidong and the Feidong
PRC Operational Entities implement the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements in accordance with the terms of the structured

contracts.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TR Z R EREBRITE
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Shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may potentially
have a conflict of interest with the Group, and such
shareholders may breach their contracts with the Group, or
cause such contracts to be amended in a manner contrary

to the interests of the Group.
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The shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities have
undertaken to Feidong that during the period when the
Contractual Arrangements remain effective, (i) unless otherwise
agreed by Feidong in writing, the relevant shareholder would
not, directly or indirectly (either on his own account or
through any natural person or legal entity) participate, be
interested in, engage in, acquire or hold (in each case whether
as a shareholder, partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any
business which is or may potentially be in competition with
the businesses of the PRC Operational Entities or any of its
affiliates and (i) any of his actions or omissions would not lead
to any conflict of interest between him and Feidong (including
but not limited to its shareholders). Furthermore, in the event
of the occurrence of a conflict of interest where Feidong has
the sole absolute discretion to determine whether such conflict
arises, he agrees to take any appropriate actions as instructed
by Feidong.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRZFERRR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TR Z PR EREBRITE

Vi.

Vii.

The Group depends on the PRC Operational Entities to
provide certain services that are critical to its business. The
breach or termination of any of these service agreements
or any failure of or significant quality deterioration in these
services could have a material adverse effect on the business,

financial condition and results of operations of the Group.
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The Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through the PRC Operational Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
the PRC laws.
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To ensure sound and effective operation of the Group after
the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements, during the
period when the Contractual Arrangements remain effective,
the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, no less frequent than on a monthly
basis, to the senior management of the Company on the
compliance and performance conditions under the Contractual
Arrangements and other related matters. In addition, the
PRC Operational Entities are not permitted to terminate the
relevant exclusive business cooperation agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements unless Feidong commits gross
negligence or a fraudulent act against them.
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As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed “E. Deviation from the
guidance letter in respect of the Contractual Arrangements”
below, the Contractual Arrangements were narrowly tailored
to minimise the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TR Z P ERERITE

vii.

If Feidong (or its designee within the Group) exercises the
option to acquire equity ownership of the PRC Operational
Entities, the ownership transfer may subject the Group to

substantial costs.
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Assets (including equity interests) registered under
shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may be subject
to seizure, confiscation, freezing, auction or sale by the
People’s Court of the PRC due to litigation, arbitration or

other legal proceedings against such shareholders.
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According to the relevant exclusive option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, unless valuation is required
under the laws of China before exercising such option, the
purchase price of the equity interests shall be the nominal
price, and if the relevant governmental authorities specify a
particular price as the purchase price of equity interests, the
purchaser shall return the surplus or make up the difference
to the vendor, provided that the vendor and purchaser need
to assume such tax incurred by such party or levied on such
party, respectively.
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Regular review to check whether such conditions exist,
discover such conditions and obtain specific details in a timely
manner. Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operation Entities and
its shareholders have signed Share Pledge Agreements pursuant
to which Feidong shall claim that the outstanding amount of
money from the Feidong PRC Operational Entities under the
contractual arrangement shall be paid in priority from the
proceeds of auction and sale of shares if the shares of the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities are auctioned.
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For details of the risks associated with the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors
— Risks relating to our Feidong Contractual Arrangements” in the

Prospectus.

Deviation from the Guidance Letter in respect of the Contractual

Arrangements

Paragraph 16(a) (i) of the Guidance Letter GL77-14 published by the
Stock Exchange in May 2014 (as updated in August 2015 and April
2018) in relation to listed issuers using contractual arrangements for
their businesses (the "“Guidance Letter”) requires that structured
contracts shall be narrowly tailored to achieve the issuer’s business
purpose and minimise the potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws
and regulations. As advised by the PRC legal advisers, according to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more
than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce). Furthermore,
to the best knowledge of the Company and the PRC legal advisers,
if a Sino-Foreign equity joint-venture enterprise applies for an ICP
licence, it will be subject to more stringent requirements or additional
requirements imposed by the MIT or its local counterparts (the
“Relevant Authority”) as compared to domestic enterprises in the
PRC. As compared to domestic enterprises in the PRC, the Relevant
Authority will require more information, documents and other
proof from an applicant which is a Sino-Foreign equity enterprise in
various aspects, such as the identity and nationality of its ultimate
individual shareholders, the prior experience of the foreign investor(s)
in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and a
proven track record of its overseas business operations (collectively,
the "Additional Information”). No criteria, standard, guidance or
interpretation documents have been published by the Relevant
Authority on how the Additional Information will be assessed, whether
in qualitative or quantitative aspect, and on the extent or form of

requirements of the Additional Information.
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Chapter 14A implications

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

For the purposes of Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules, certain
transactions under the Feidong PRC Contractual Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company
from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Feidong
Contractual Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section

headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The Directors are of the opinion that the transactions under the
Feidong Contractual Arrangements were conducted in the ordinary

course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule [4A55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements and
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been

entered into:

0) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent

third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors have also confirmed
that (i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 3|
December 2021 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Feidong Contractual Arrangements, (i) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group,
and (iii) there were no new contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities during the year ended 3| December 2021. Pursuant to Rule
[4A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditors of the
Company to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transaction
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants on the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions. Based on the work performed, the auditors of the

Company have provided a letter to the Board confirming that:

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors
of the Company to believe that the disclosed continuing

connected transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditors of the Company to believe that the transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group;
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3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

governing such transactions; and

4. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned/transferred to the Group.

After the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, among
the Founders, (i) Mr. Huang retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and
resigned from all positions held within the Group with effect from |
April 2015, but remains as a 41.10% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 12.37% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (ii)
Mr. Liao retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and resigned from all
positions held within the Group with effect from | April 2015, but
remains as a 24.70% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong and
a 17.13% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (i) Mr. Zhuang resigned as
Director and from all positions held within the Group with effect from
I April 2015, but remains as a 9.50% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 48.61% registered shareholder of Jieyou, and (iv)
Mr. Wang resigned as Director with effect from 30 September 2019,
but remains as a 23.75% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong
and a 20.94% registered shareholder of Jieyou.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his connected entities had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, its parent company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year

ended 3| December 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 3| December 2021 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

As at 3| December 2021, the Group had 46 full-time employees. The
remuneration to the employees of the Group includes salaries, bonus and
allowances. The Group's remuneration policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. The Group
also provides intensive customised trainings to its staff to enhance their
technical and product knowledge as they will be designated to mentors who
are experienced employees in relevant teams or departments. The mentors
will provide regular on-the-job trainings to the staff. The Group offers
competitive remuneration packages to the Directors, and the Shareholders
have authorised the Board to fix the remuneration of the Directors (including
but not limited to Directors’ fees) at the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 20 May 2021. Other emoluments are determined by the Board by
reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the

results of the Group.

The Group has also adopted Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and Restricted Share Unit Scheme as long-term incentive

schemes of the Group.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration of five highest

paid employees during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in

note 14 to the Financial Statements.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme by a
resolution of its Shareholders on 31 October 2012, which was amended on
| September 2013. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is not subject to the
provisions of Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules as the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme does not involve the grant of options by the Company to subscribe

for Shares once the Company is a listed issuer. No further options will be

granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Company had granted

options to subscribe for 6,440,911 Shares to the Directors and employees of

the Group.

Set out below are details of the outstanding options granted to Directors

and employees of the Group under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme as at 3|
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MBRERBRES @ ARRERAEE
BEENEEREAIRE64409 1 | B (D HIBERLHE -

TRIINWAR - E-_—F+_A=+—BREEXIAH
BEFERENERTFAEEEZREENHKRITE

December 202 1: BIRERFS
Number and class of Shares Outstanding as at Qutstanding as at
Name of grantee under the options granted  Date of grant Vesting period Option year [ January 2021 Exercise price  Lapsed during the year 31 December 2021
EREBRERSRY R-R=-%-5-H R-RZ-E+ZA=1-R
ARARR RASERE RtAH | L EREES HATE TRE EREAN HATR
Four former Directors and 361 6440911 1 January 2013 1o 3 October 2013 to 10 years from the 452370 Par value of the 42370 =
former employees Ordinary Shares | September 2013 [ July 2017 date of grant Ordinary Shares~ ordinary shares ordinary shares
YENEER0IAHRR 6#09IIB —3-=F-A-BF -T-ZFTAZAE ARLEH ORI £13708 -
R CE-EAA-R CEEUA-R EEIOE Eak Bk
The Company has not issued any Shares to the grantees under the Pre-IPO (EZT - —FF+ZA=+—RIEFE  AAFLR
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021. BEERARABEERERER S MARAZEITERMRKR
{/\ o
For further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to the BRI B X AFREERIBRETSINE LS T2

section headed “Statutory and General Information” in Appendix IV to the

Prospectus and note 38(a) to the Financial Statements.
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SUMMARY OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEMES BRETTEME
Details Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
3 BRAMBEANBRETS
Purpose For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
growth and development of the Group and the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
B REE R R A B IR A THA KB RE L RN IR KA OB A PR L T PR B9 B BR

2. Participants

3. Maximum number of Shares

PRt g8 LR

4, Maximum entitlement of each

participant

BE2RENEN LR

5. Option year

B

(i) Any director of any member of the Group from time to time, (i) any employee or officer of
any member of the Group and (iii)) any advisers, consultants, distributors, contractors, contract
manufacturers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business partners, service
providers of any member of the Group, who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed and will contribute to the Group

W TEBIAREBRITMKERFTNIMNES @ (VANEBETAKXERFNTIMEESRSHZAE
EhWEFGE2RNBEAREEHIEEHAEEEL BN A SE MK B R REMER - &
AR - DR AER  AORER KRB BP  EBEH  aERREBEH  RB
g

As at 31 December 2021 and the Latest Practicable Date, there was no outstanding options to

subscribe for Shares.

No further option could be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
RIB-—F+-_A=T—HBRERERTTEH - WEERITEOATRBRODOBRE -

T BREERAREEABRET SR B EMBRE

The total number of Shares subject to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 6% of
the aggregate of the Shares in issue on 3| October 2012, the date of adoption of the Pre- IPO
Share Option Scheme
BRARBEMBERETZS NN BABTEEE _E——F+A=T—H(BERAREE
A FE AR R BIER AN B ) B 21T A 1D B 6%

Except as provided otherwise and subject to the terms and conditions upon which such option was
granted, any option granted will vest over a total vesting year of four years commencing from the
date of offer in equal proportions of 25% each on the expiry of the first, second, third and fourth
anniversary of the Offer Date, respectively; provided that the year within which an option must be
exercised shall not be more than ten years commencing on the date of grant
BRAREIREBRER DGR RGAORRT - RENEMBRESR 24 R REFTR
HAMFEHEE  DRRBHNARE—  F= F=RFENBAFIRTRSSNEHELOGE
MEMBEITEBRENF O TSHBBRE ALt T4
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Details Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
=3 BRAMBEABRES
6. Acceptance of offer Options granted must be accepted within 28 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1.0
per grant
BEMEND RHOERESNENR L BRZ8AAER - WHERKEZR.08T
7. Exercise price Exercise price shall be the par value of the Shares as amended as a result of any subdivision,
consolidation, reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company from time to
time. As at the date of the grant, the par value of the Shares was US$0.0001
1B TEERAETHEARDRRAETHEMFM &0 EFNHEXEBETEITORMOE
B - NRHBH - BROEE{ER0.0001E7T
8. Remaining life of the scheme It shall be valid and effective for ten years commencing on 31 October 2012

SHEIRFIERERR

R T ——F+A=+—HRFTFHRAERRER

THE RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME ZREIR P ENETE

The Company has approved and adopted the RSU Scheme by a resolution AR RFBBRRENR T —=FHLA-—BHRRERE
of its Shareholders on | September 2013 and a resolution of the Board FER_ZT—=FNA—HHRBERIERKNZR
on | September 2013. The Company has appointed Computershare Hong I BAi5HEl - KRAEEHEF REFEFETE
Kong Trustees Limited as professional trustee to assist the administration RABIREEZFEANGEIEREE RS KRMDE
and vesting of the RSUs. The RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions — fiZ o FFAS MR §Il iR (5 B8 G151 830 &% RAR QA E A
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as the RSU Scheme does not involve the — FREEFTIRIDEVEEARAE - MR IR ELLET 8~
grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. TRAEI7ZHHRR -
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The RSUs do not carry any right to vote at general meetings of the
Company. No RSU grantee shall enjoy any of the rights of a Shareholder
by virtue of the grant of an award of RSUs (the “Award”) pursuant to the
RSU Scheme. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if so specified by the Board in
its entire discretion, the RSU may include rights to cash or non-cash income,
scrip dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and

non-scrip distributions from any shares underlying the Award.

As at 3| December 2021, the Company has offered to grant RSUs to
subscribe for 4,260,000 Shares, 2,500,000 Shares and 2,500,000 Shares to
Directors and employees of the Group on |3 September 2016, 4 June 2018
and |2 April 2019 respectively.

Set out below are details of the outstanding RSUs granted to the Directors
and employees of the Group under the RSU Scheme as at 3|1 December
2021:

ZRBIR O B EMEEMATRARBRRAE £
FEREVER] o R G B AL AR AT EERE X R
il B 0 BE A7 S SRR IR B BALEER ([ B )M
FHEABRREN - BE LAl - MEFS2ER
BALRE - AIRRHIRD B BREBED F EE
MR ERAROMESHNRESIIFRSBA  ARK
BHEDENE,/ SHHEEHRERIFEYDIRKFTEREA -

BHEZT-_—F+=-_A=+—H ARG ER=_ZT—
NEARA+T=H ZE-NFAANBERZZT—NEF
MA+ZASRREAZEZTRAEEEERLEZREH
% 17 B8 iz LA 3R 84,260,000 A% A% 1 ~ 2,500,000 8% A% 15 B
2,500,000/% f& 7

TREIIN —_F_—F+_A=1T—RAREXRHIK
BB T AL EEE NEEB M RITEX R
et B BFES

Number and class Outstanding Outstanding as at
of Shares under asat | January Vested during the  Cancelled during Lapsed during the 31 December
Name of grantee the RSUs granted Date of offer Vesting period 2021 year the year year 2021
BREZRHR RZB=-% R-B--%
REMFHRE —-A-H tZA=+-H
RRARS ROBERER RHAH 5B HRTE EREBE ERDHE FRBXHN MATE
ZHANG Qiang 60,000 12 April 2019 [ July 2019 to 24,000 24,000 = = =
Ordinary Shares [ July 2021 Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares
R 600008 —T-NF “FhE 24,000 24,0008k
tEk mAt+ZA tA-HE TER Lk
—EC--&
tA—H
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Number and class Outstanding Outstanding as at
of Shares under asat | January Vested during the  Cancelled during Lapsed during the 31 December
Name of grantee the RSUs granted Date of offer Vesting period 2021 year the year year 2021
BREZRHR R=B=-% R-B--%
REMAYRH —-A-H tZA=+-H
RRALS ROBERER REAH 5B HARTE EREBRE ERDHE ERBAR HATE
One former Director and ,710,000 12 April 2019 [ July 2019 to 8,000 4,000 4,000 = =
16 former employees Ordinary Shares [ July 2021 Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares
IBAIESEI6RAER 1710000 —Z-NF “FhE 8,000 4000 4,000
TREk mAt+ZA tA-HE TR Lak EBR
—EC-F
tA—H
Total 1,770,000 - - 32,000 28,000 4,000 - -
Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares ~ Ordinary Shares
@t 1,770,000 32,0008 28,0001 4,000
EBR EER BER EER
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SUMMARY OF THE RSU SCHEME

2.

3.

4.

46

Purpose

Participants

Maximum
number of

Shares

Acceptance of
Award

To reward the participants of the RSU Scheme for
their contribution to the success of the Group, and
to provide incentives to them to further contribute to

the Group

(i) full-time employees or officers (including Executive,
Non-executive and Independent Non-executive
Directors), (ii) full-time employees of any of the
subsidiaries and the PRC Operational Entities, (iii)
any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents or
advisers that have contributed or will contribute to
the Company, any of its subsidiaries and/or the PRC
Operational Entities, and (iv) any other persons who,
in the sole opinion of the Board, have contributed or
will contribute to the Company, any of its subsidiaries

and/or the PRC Operational Entities

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs
which may be granted must not in aggregate exceed
11,290,494 Shares, representing 9% of the number of
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “RSU Scheme
Limit"). The RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed from
time to time subject to prior Shareholders’ approval,
but must not exceed 9% of the number of Shares in

issue as at the new approval date

A grant shall be deemed to have been accepted
when in respect of a board lot or an integral multiple
thereof and to have taken effect when notice is given
to the Company by the grantee in accordance with
the instructions from the Company pursuant to the
RSU management agreement, being an agreement
entered into between the Company and the relevant
service provider or any other service agreement to
facilitate the acceptance and vesting of RSUs to the

grantees from time to time
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5. Vesting Subject to the terms of the RSU Scheme and the
specific terms and conditions applicable to each
Award, the RSUs granted in an Award shall be subject
to a vesting period, to the satisfaction of performance
and/or other conditions to be determined by the
Board. If such conditions are not satisfied, the RSU
shall be cancelled automatically on the date on which
such conditions are not satisfied, as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion

6. Trustee The Board has appointed Computershare Hong Kong
Trustee Limited on 2 July 2014 as professional trustee
to assist with the administration and vesting of RSUs

pursuant to the RSU Scheme

7. Remaining

life of the

[t shall be valid and effective till 31 August 2023

scheme

For further details of the RSU Scheme, please refer to the section headed
“Statutory and General Information” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and

note 38(b) to the Financial Statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of the aggregate
revenue attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 20% and 52% of the Group's total

revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 18% and 61% of the Group's cost of

revenue, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had

any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Pursuant to the special resolution passed in an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 24 December 2020, the Company bought back
22,268,908 shares (the “Consideration Shares’) from KongZhong
Corporation (as designated by Shanghai Dacheng Network Technology
Co,, Ltd. to hold the Consideration Shares on its behalf), which were duly
cancelled on |9 February 2021.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 3| December 2021, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of

the Company's listed securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

For further details of the events after the year ended 31 December 2021,
please refer to the section headed "Post-Balance Sheets Events” on page 65

of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its business and
the communities in which it conducts business. It has adopted a proactive
approach to environmental, social and governance responsibility. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report is set out on pages 238 to

264 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact on the
Group, such as (i) the Copyright Law of the PRC (2010 Amendment), (ii)
Provisions on the Administration of Online Publishing Services, (iii) Guidelines
for the Supervision and Administration of Network Microcredit Companies
of Jiangxi Province (for Trial Implementation), and (iv) Guiding Opinions on
Promoting the Healthy Development of Internet Finance. The Audit and
Compliance Committee is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and such policies are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of the relevant employees

and the relevant operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2021,

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as set out
in the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report
under this annual report in relation to the deviations from code provisions
A.1.8 and A2.l of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the code
provisions in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all liability and loss suffered by him
as such Director in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal,
administrative or investigative, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in

which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought against the
directors of any company of the Group for the period from | January to 31

August 2021 before its expiry.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Unit
Scheme as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted at the
end of the year of 2021.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, certified

public accountants.

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 29 May 2020,
8 June 2020 and the Company’s circular dated || June 2020 in relation to
the proposed change of auditors, and the Company's announcement dated 3
July 2020 in relation to the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 3 July 2020.
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At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 July 2020,
ordinary resolutions were passed by the Shareholders to, among other
things: (i) remove PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Group with
immediate effect; and (ii) appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as
auditors of the Group in place of PricewaterhouseCoopers with immediate
effect and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there had been no change in the Company's

auditors in any of the preceding three years.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire and being eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be

proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
19 May 2022 to Tuesday, 24 May 2022, both days inclusive, in order to
determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Tuesday, 24 May 2022. All transfers of Shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 18 May 2022.

By order of the Board
CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BB R B AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, with the COVID-19 vaccines being promoted, the global economy
has been recovering. However, the negative economic impact brought by
the pandemic has far from ended, and the global economic outlook was
still not optimistic. In light of such circumstances, the Group has reviewed
its business development and operations and carried out a systematic
planning and layout in terms of business strategy. On the one hand, the
Group continued to maintain its operational foundation in respect of online
gaming business while ensuring the achievement of its established business
objectives. On the other hand, the Group strengthened the development
of its trading of electronic products and semiconductors business as well as
its supporting software and services, and actively promoted the integration
of the Group's new business with the existing business lines in terms of
customer base and information system, so as to utilise the advantages of
its resources and platforms, enabling us to achieve joint development and
enhanced efficiency for the Group’s businesses through accurate strategy
positioning and operation management for each business segment. As a
result, the Group recorded total revenue of approximately RMB142.1 million
in 2021, representing a significant increase of 165.4% from the same period

of last year.

In respect of the online game business, the Group’s game business is
mainly consisted of webgames and mobile games. The strategic focus on
game business was mainly to optimise the return on investment of these
businesses. By cooperation with professional teams to maintain continuous
business operations of existing online games, we will continue to maintain
the scale of game revenue as well as improve the cost-effectiveness of game

business.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

In respect of the trading of electronic device and semiconductor business,
while maintaining a continuous, long-term and stable cooperation with major
suppliers, the Group has continued to expand its overseas business scope
with a steady increase in the number of cooperating vendors and product
lines. The Group has also continued to provide relevant customers with a
full range of comprehensive supporting solutions such as supporting technical
services and supply chain financial services. Meanwhile, the Group attached
great importance to the operations management and efficiency management
of funds usage of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business,

thereby further improving its delicacy management capabilities.

In respect of the internet micro-credit business, Yunke had completed
the change of company name, business scope and registered capital in
2021. After completion of the change, Yunke exited the internet micro-
credit business and engages in internet information technology services and
consulting related business. At the same time, Yunke will continue to recover

the outstanding loan receivables.
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The following table sets forth the Group’s income statement for the year

ended 3| December 2021 as compared to that for the year ended 3l

December 2020.

TR AKERES
EEABE-—2_F

ol

Bk

Year Ended 31 December
BZE+t=-A=1+—HILEE

T-—F+-A=+—HItF
F+_A=+—HIEFEENK

2021 2020 Change
—B-—& T -TF FEE O
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AREFTT ARBTIT
(Restated)
(#£&%1)
Continuing operations BELSEER
Revenue WA 142,136 53,560 165.4%
Cost of revenue A A (128,535) (40,600) 216.6%
Gross profit EF 13,601 12,960 4.9%
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RmisHER X (5,496) (4782) 14.9%
Administrative expenses THAX (18,642) (43,702) -57.3%
Research and development expenses RS (7,985) (473) 1,588.2%
Other income HAb U 2,409 2,434 -1.0%
Other gains — net Hh RS FER 5,457 3,509 55.5%
Finance cost U AN (218) (15) 1,353.3%
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at &R AFAEFABZAIZRER
fair value through profit or loss Wz (E518) 20,787 (1,132) NM
Share of loss of associates FEIGEEE N P& (5,263) (6,043) -12.9%
Reversal/(impairment) of financial assets REARKATENSREE
measured at amortised cost - net | CRiE ) F58 26,967 (667) NM
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEBIATNER, (EE) 31,617 (37911) NM
Income tax expense FRiS X (36) (262) -86.3%
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  IX4E& & EHR,(&HE) 31,581 (38,173) NM
Discontinued operations IR ER
Loss from discontinued operations BRI A TSR (14,056) (16,967) -17.2%
Profit/(loss) for the year FERER(EE) 17,525 (55,140) NM

Note: NM-Not meaningful.
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EEER WD

Continuing Operations HEKEER

WA - WA ABHEBEZE-ZT_TF+_A=T—HILFE
MARMBSI6EEITENA 6546 EHE—T - —F +
“HA=tT-RIEFENAREI421BET - TR
BHE-ZE-—F+-A=+—BRZZE=ZF+=A
=+—BIEFERERR D HBE D HBA

Revenue. Revenue increased by approximately 165.4% to RMBI42.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 from RMB53.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The following table sets forth the revenue of
the Group by segment for the year ended 3| December 202! and 3|
December 2020 respectively:

Year Ended 3| December
BE+t-A=t—-HiLEE

2021 2020
—B--f —ECEE

RMB’000 % of Total RMB’000 % of Total

Revenue (Restated) Revenue

AREFTT HAERA  AREFIT A A

Bt (iz&E5) B

Revenue by Segment BEoBE DA

— Game business — R 18,244 12.8 29,781 55.6

— Electronic device & semiconductor business —BTRERLEEER 123,892 87.2 23,779 44.4

Total Revenue I ON 142,136 100.0 53,560 100.0
= Revenue generated from the Group's game business decreased  — NEBEEBEFREENHMNAREE -_ZE-_FF

by approximately 38.7% to RMBI18.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 from RMB29.8 million for the year ended 3|
December 2020. Revenue generated from the online games decreased
mainly due to the fact that some of the Group's key games such as
“Liberators” and “ZEHEIR{E" have entered into the mature stage of

their lifecycles and generated less revenue than the previous year.

Revenue generated from the Group's electronic device and
semiconductor business was RMB123.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The Group completed the acquisition of Shenzhen
Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd* ORYITITEEIERMER A

A]) (“Shenzhen Xingyun”) on 18 November 2020. The revenue of
Shenzhen Xingyun was mainly generated from sales of electronic
device, such as memories and hard disk drives to corporate and

industrial customers.

TZA=+T—BILEFENARB28BETRE
LB INEHE T -_—F+-_A=+—HB1t
FEMARKI82EE T - BEEEAELR
ATY  FZEHRAEEID EZHE(H 0N
[Liberators | & [ BEHERAE |) B AR A B A
PRAABKER - FTEEMAEREFRE -
- ﬁ§:§1—¢+:ﬂi+—5¢¢§'$%
FRERFEBEBEENRABARE
cAKEERZTZEF+—A+N
TEHERIAR 2 E (R

b —

123. 9@%7&
H mﬁkuﬁzﬁﬁéﬁﬂl\ﬁ
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FPHEETRE  NEFHRERERESEE
K oo
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Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased by approximately 216.6% to
RMBI128.5 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 from RMB40.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. Such increase was primarily
attributable to the consolidation of Shenzhen Xingyun into the Group's
business. Such increase was partially offset by a decrease in cost of the
Group's online games business in line with the revenue decrease of
the online games business. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
percentage of cost of revenue to total revenue increased to 90.4% (2020:

75.8%)

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased
by approximately 14.9% to RMB5.5 million for the year ended 3| December
2021 from RMB4.8 million for the year ended 3| December 2020. Such
increase was mainly due to the increased marketing efforts in order to

expand the Group's electronic device and semiconductor business.

Administrative expenses. Administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 57.3% to RMBI8.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from RMB43.7 million for year ended 31 December 2020. Such
decrease was primarily due the Group’s active cost control measures and

improved operating efficiency.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses
increased from RMBO.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB8.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2021. Such increase was
primarily due to the increased research and development investment for

game business.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Other gains — net. Other gains — net increased from RMB 3.5 million for
the year ended 3| December 2020 to RMB5.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase of gain
on dilution of investment in an associate and partially offset by the loss on
change in fair value of consideration shares payable in relation to acquisition

of Shenzhen Xingyun.

Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group recognised gain on disposal of investments at fair value through
profit or loss in the amount of RMB20.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, as compared to RMBI.| million loss for the year ended
31 December 2020. Such amount was primarily consisted of gain from

investments in equity securities listed in PRC and Hong Kong.

Share of loss of associates. Share of loss of associates was RMB5.3 million
for the year ended 3| December 2021, while share of loss of associates was

RMB6.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Reversal/(impairment) of financial assets measured at amortised cost - net.
The group recognized reversal of impairment of financial assets measured
at amortised cost - net for the year ended 3| December 2021 of RMB27.0
million, as compared to the impairment net amount of RMBO.7 million for
the year ended 3| December 2020. The net amount of reversal in 202
was primarily consisted of reversal of impairment previously made for other

receivables on disposal of investment in an associate.
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Profit/(loss) from continuing operations. The Group recognised profit
from continuing operations in the amount of RMB31.6 million for the year
ended 3| December 2021, as compared to loss of RMB38.2 million for the
year ended 3| December 2020. Due to the mixed effects from the above
mentioned factors, the Group recorded a turnaround from loss to profit for

the year ended 3| December 2021.

Discontinued Operations

Loss from discontinued operations. The Group recognized loss from
discontinued operations in the amount of RMBI4.] million for the year
ended 3| December 2021,

year ended 3| December 2020. The reduction of loss from discontinued

as compared to RMBI7.0 million for the

operations was primarily due to the disposal of Beijing Xigua Huyu
Technology Co., Ltd. (It RAMEREEEREER

and the financial results of Beijing Xigua recognised in the discontinued

7)) (“Beijing Xigua”)
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

NON-IFRSs MEASURES — EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group which are prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, certain non-IFRSs measures, including EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA, have been presented. These non-IFRSs financial measures
should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the
measures of the Group's financial performance which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs. The Group’s management believes that these
non-IFRSs financial measures provide investors with useful supplementary
information to assess the performance of its core operations by excluding
certain non-cash and non-recurring items. The EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA

are unaudited figures.

58  FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2021 Annual Report

BEEEELRN (FR) BHE-T=_—F+=F8
:+fE¢¢Fv$¢l%%#%%%%%ﬁﬂAE
B3l 6BBIT  MBE-ZE_ZTF+_A=T—HILF
EBBARE3825ET - AR LERNGREZE

AEBEE T - —F+ A=+t —HALFEHFEHE
EBAR -
IR

RIECEEEFE - B2-_2T-_—F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - AERBERRIELEXBERARKI4188
T mMBEZZ-TF+_A=+—BLEFEAAA
REI7T0BBT - RIEKEEBBERDEEZHREE
It RANERBFERETEAA(NRTAM]) A &I
RELANPBEERNASEERE S _SF+=-A=
T—HIEFERR L EBHER o

JEER R B 75 R &5 E A5t & — EBITDAR&ZLFEZEBITDA

ABHAAEEREERYBRELENRRNEE X
B B23E TIERBRIM K REER G = (R IEERITDA
Wmﬁﬁwmw U S5 FEBURR B T S R BT B 5 2
FEWRARBRRGHRELEARGUNAEEDTHE
BERHAMESARAE - AKEEEERE - BWEF
BRI RS BT E AR EFRTEANET
B BMRE TR RIELEWIEE - FHHAE
EZOEKHRI - EBITDARK AEEBITDAA KK E

ZEUE o



The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s non-IFRSs

financial measures for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, to the

nearest measures prepared in accordance with IFRSs:

Management Discussion And Analysis
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TERBINAEEHEZE T -_—FR-_ZFT_ZFF+_A
=+ —BIEFERIEER SRS ER M S 2 ER
BRI RS LN REIIT MR

Year Ended 31 December
BZE+t=-A=+—HILEE

2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AEHF T
(Restated)
(=5)
Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations for the year FRIFELL EKHER(FHE) 31,581 (38,173)
Add: e
Depreciation and amortization e R 1,902 6,758
Net interest income F B = FRE (1,410) (997)
Income tax expense FiS i 36 262
EBITDA (unaudited) EBITDA(RZEXK) 32,109 (32,150)
Add: o
Share-based compensation LARR (7 BETEN B < (n 54|
Changes in the value of investments at fair value
through profit or loss BATEFABRHNREBES - (383)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair value HERAFEF ABRNREK
through profit or loss @/ (B1R) (20,787) 1,132
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary FEIH— MM E A R A e 1,106 =
Fair value change of share consideration payable FERHI D RIB A FEZ S 2,792 (1,470)
Dividends received from investments at fair value
through profit or loss WEIE A THEET AR R AR E RS (1,139) =
Reversal of impairment of other receivables on disposal & — [H & 2 7] 2 4 Y E M FE IR
of investment in an associate THRE R (27,500) -
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) RTHEEBITDA(KREER) (13,420) (32,330)
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 3| December 2021, the total equity of the Group amounted to
RMB636.7 million as compared to that of RMB612.0 million as at 3|
December 2020. Such increase was primarily due to the profit recognized

for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group’s net current assets amounted to RMB487.0 million as at
31 December 2021 as compared to that of RMB497.2 million as at 31
December 2020. The decrease of net current assets was a mixed effect of
the slight increase of current assets and the increase of current liabilities. The

increase of current liabilities was resulted from normal business operations.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

BRI
RZZBZ—F+-A=+—8  AEERSEERA

R#e36768L  MR-_ZE-_TF+_-_A=+—HE|
BARKOEET - ZENMETERAAHREEZ—
e - —F+ - A=+—RHILFEHEH -

RZTEZ—F+=ZA=+—8  AEENRBHEEF
BERARK48708 8T MR_Z_TF+_RA=+
—HAEIAARMK497 288 T - RBEEFETEKIIA
RIRBNA EREMIG N R RB B EISNMNiRE EMN
B BB EAIEMIIEEEELENB -

RBEERHEER

As at 31 December

W+=B=+—8
2021 2020
—®=-%  -—T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFr ARBETT
Cash at bank and on hand /“&%ﬁﬁ% 208,579 309912
Cash at other financial institutions REMERMEENIRE 161,687 75,604
370,266 385516
Bank borrowings SRITIER (4,000) -
Net Cash Re&FE 366,266 385,516

The Group’s total cash and cash equivalent amounted to RMB370.3 million
as at 31 December 2021 as compared to that of RMB385.5 million as
at 31 December 2020. The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial
management policy. In order to achieve better cost control and minimise
the cost of funding, the Group’s treasury activities are centralised and cash is
generally deposited with banks and denominated mostly in RMB, followed by
UsD.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

As of 3| December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings were repayable
within | year and the interest rate is at one year Loan Prime Rate plus 0.95%.
As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as bank
borrowing divided by total assets) increased to a level of 0.55% (as at 31

December 2020: nil), which the Board believes is at an acceptable level.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As at 31 December 2021, RMBI122.7 million of the financial resources of the
Group (as at 31 December 2020: RMB50.0 million) were held as deposits
denominated in non-RMB currencies. Such increase was in line with the
expansion of electronic device and semiconductor business. The Group will
continue to actively manage its exposure to various foreign currencies and
monitor its foreign exchange risk exposure to better preserve the Group's

cash value.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES -e:N-:53
Year ended 31 December
BEt-RA=1t—-RALFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT
Capital expenditures BARE
— Purchase of property and equipment —BEMERREE 36,183 2,285
— Purchase of intangible asset -BEERFEE 723 583
Total Bt 36,906 2,868
Capital expenditures (excluding business combination) comprise the purchase B AR Y (MBEKAS0)BIEHESMELERE - Hlmn
of property and equipment, such as operation equipment and leasehold &SBHFERMAERE - LLRESELEE - flinEs
improvement, and the purchase of intangible assets, such as office software. Bt o
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 3| December 2021, the Group had a pledge of assets of RMBO.7
million (as at 3|1 December 2020: RMBO0.8 million) as restricted cash for

corporate credit card deposits.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 3| December 2021, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2020: nil).

Significant Investment

During 2021, the Group held a significant investment in an associate detailed

as follows:

AR

R-B-—FT-A=+—R  AKERAEREE
ARBOTERT(N=F=BF+=A=+—0 AR
MOSERTT) - (EARAREARESHERHR
HAREE

RIB-_—F+-A=1—RH  FEEABEMNEX
ACHENIARABR _E_EF+-_A=+—8":
®) -

EXRE

R-F_—F  AEEKA-REANR—HBER
AMIRENFBENT

Percentage of ownership
interest attributable to the

Group as at 3| December

R+ZA=+-8
FREERERERE
BEEIL
Carrying
amount as at 31 Investment Registered
Company name Date of incorporation ~ December 2021 Cost capital 2021 2020
RZB=-%
+ZH=+-8H
AREH A R RS RERAF aftEx —B--F ZRCEF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT
A ZHRAMBEBRNERA 23 February 201 | 50,460 4000 26052032 9.60% 1031%

—T—FZR=+Z=H

ERDERRABEBEEOBRQF

Technology Co., Limited, “Share Times”) is a company that develops

(transliterated as Beijing Share Times

and operates intellectual properties (“IPs”) of celebrities, including design,
promotion, and sales of IPs. Share Times was recognized as investments
in associates. In 2021, the Group recognised share of loss of associates
of approximately RMB2.9 million and gain on dilution of investment in an
associate of approximately RMB9.0 million from Share Times. The Group
will continue supporting the business development of Share Times, and
seek synergy between Share Times and other investments of the Group to

maximize their performances.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 46 full-time employees (as at 31
December 2020: 46), the vast majority of whom are based in the PRC.

For details of the Group’s remuneration policies and training schemes,
share option schemes and restricted share unit scheme, please refer to the
sections headed "Remuneration Policy and Directors’ Remuneration”, “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme” and “The Restricted Share Unit Scheme” contained

in the Report of Directors in this annual report, respectively.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Disposal of 69.84% equity interest in Beijing Xigua

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 24
April 2019, 24 May 2019, 26 June 2019, 21 November 2019, || December
2019, 10 March 2020, 19 March 2020, 8 May 2020, 22 October 2020, 23
October 2020, 12 November 2020, 24 December 2020 and 19 February
2021 (collectively, the “Disposal Announcements”) and the circular of
the Company dated 2 December 2020 (the "Circular”) in relation to the
acquisition of Beijing Xigua, the non-fulfilment of the Profit Guarantee and
the follow up actions taken by the Company. Unless otherwise stated herein,
capitalized terms used in this section shall have the same meanings as those

defined in the Disposal Announcements.

Upon completion of the Equity Disposal in December 2020, Beijing Xigua
has ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the Company no longer
held any issues shares of Beijing Xigua. Further, on |9 February 2021, the
Company announced the completion of off-market Share Buy-back in

relation to the disposal of the 69.84% equity interest in Beijing Xigua.
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Acquisition of Shenzhen Xingyun

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 22
October 2020, I3 November 2020, 18 November 2020 and 20 January
2021 in relation to the acquisition of the Target Company and Shenzhen
Xingyun (collectively, the "“Acquisition Announcements”). Unless otherwise
stated herein, capitalized terms used in this section shall have the same

meanings as those defined in the Acquisition Announcements.

On 18 November 2020, the Company announced the Completion of
the Acquisition as all conditions precedent under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement have been fulfilled. The Target Company and Shenzhen Xingyun
have thus become indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
Further, on 20 January 2021, the Company announced the completion of
the allotment and issuance of the consideration shares under the General
Mandate, as well as the payment of the cash consideration in the amount

of RMB6,000,000, in relation to the acquisition of the Target Company and
Shenzhen Xingyun.

Shenzhen Xingyun is engaged in the sales of digital storage devices to
corporate and individual users in the PRC. Upon Completion of the
Acquisition, the Company took the opportunity to tap into the digital
storage devices business in the PRC, which is expected to benefit the
Group in diversifying its business portfolio and contributing to the financial

performance of the Group on a long-term perspective.

Acquisition of Shenzhen Binghong

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 6 April
2021, 27 April 2021, 10 May 2021, 31 May 2021, 25 June 2021, 22 July 2021
and 30 August 2021 and 30 September 2021 in relation to the acquisition
of the Target Company and Shenzhen Binghong (collectively, the “Binghong
Acquisition Announcements”). Unless otherwise stated herein, capitalized
terms used in this paragraph shall have the same meanings as those defined
in the Binghong Acquisition Announcements. As certain conditions precedent
have not been fulfilled (or waived) and the Board has no intention to extend
the Long Stop Date upon expiry thereof, the SPA has lapsed and ceased
to have any effect and the Company, the Purchaser, the Vendor or the
Guarantors shall not have any obligations and liabilities towards each other

thereunder.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENT

There was no significant subsequent event for the year ended 31 December
2021 to the approval date of the audited consolidated annual results of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 by the Board.

AUDIT QUALIFICATIONS ON THE COMPANY’S RESULTS FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

The audit and compliance committee of the Company (the "AC
Committee”) has reviewed and agreed with the position of the Company's
management (the “Management”) and the Board's view concerning the
Audit Qualifications. The AC Committee had extensive discussions with
the Auditors in all key audit areas, such as the impairment testing, fair value

change of investments and investments in associates.

The independent auditors of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited (the “Auditors”) issued a qualified opinion on the Company’s results
for the year ended 31 December 2021 in relation to the limited accounting

books and disposal of Beijing Xigua (“Xigua Qualification”).

Audit and compliance committee’s view on the Audit Qualification

The AC Committee had detailed discussion with the Auditors
regarding the Xigua Qualification at the planning stage, during the
audit and in closing meeting, and has agreed with the judgment of the

Auditors in respect of the Xigua Qualification.

2. Board’s view on the Audit Qualification

Although the Company had completed the disposal of Beijing Xigua
in 2020, the financial results of Beijing Xigua for the year ended 3|
December 2020 are shown as corresponding figures in the 202
auditor's report. The Board expects the Xigua Qualification to be

removed in the next year's auditor’s report.
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RISK AND HURDLES

The Group is exposed to a number of risks, including macroeconomic and
external risks common to most industries, as well as risks specific to the
industries in which the Group operates. The Group has formulated policies
to ensure continuous identification, reporting, monitoring and management

of significant risks that may adversely affect its business development.

As to the traditional online game business operated by the Group, the

Group is mainly exposed to the following types of risks:

0] Industry policies and regulatory risks. Any changes and adjustments
in polices by governmental regulatory bodies could affect the market,
and the online game industry is subject to the supervision of various
relevant authorities. If relevant authorities fail to resume the issuance
of game publication numbers, this may have an adverse impact on its

business operations;

(i) The risk of declines in current game revenue and profitability. Due to
the life cycle of online games, changes in player preferences may cause

uncertainties around the Company's future business performance; and

(i)~ The rapid market changes from existing webgames to mobile games

may have an adverse impact on its business operations.

As to the electronic device and semiconductor business, the Group is mainly

exposed to the following types of risks:

0} Exchange risk. Since the Group's operations involve settlement in US
dollars, it is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in exchange rates of

the currency; and

(i) Inventory management risk. Due to the high value of semiconductor
memory products, their prices are volatile and vulnerable to
macroeconomic cyclicity. Improper inventory management may cause

capital occupancy, leading to financial risks.

All of the above may have an adverse effect on the Group’s performance.
In addition, the Group is exposed to risks such as impairment loss due
to invested companies’ under-performance or contract party becoming
insolvent, other unexpected one-off restructuring costs, and failures of
certain material litigations or arbitrations, all of which will have an adverse

effect on the Group's performance.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

FUTURE PLANS

Looking forward, the Group will still face many pressures caused by the
epidemic, such as economic downturn, industry competition, accelerated
product update iterations, and stricter policy supervision in the game industry.
However, the Group will actively respond to and ride on the changing
environment and market trends, continue to steadily develop existing
businesses. In line with China’s grand strategy of East Data Computing in
West, the Group will increase investment in research and development of
games and peripheral storage products and expand cooperation channels
for game operation, actively explore opportunities for business upgrading
and transformation, implement various business strategies formulated by the
Group. Through the development of business diversification, the Group will
diversify stable income sources, enhance operating efficiency, improve cost
control and strengthen cost management, so as to comprehensively improve
the return on its assets. At the same time, the Group will keep an eye on
the development of the market and the industry, and explore a development
model suitable for it with an open mind and innovative thinking based on

past experience and lessons.

The Group will actively seek to expand and transform its business, optimise
its business structure and improve management efficiencies based on a
perspective of sustainable development and a prudent and optimistic attitude,

in an effort to deliver value for our shareholders in the long run.
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Corporate Governance Report
ERERKRE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the

Company's annual report for the year ended 3| December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value of the Group and accountability of the Board. The
Company's corporate governance practices are based on the code provisions

as set out in the CG Code.

Save as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report in relation to
the deviations from code provisions A.1.8 and A2.l of the CG Code,
the Directors consider that the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2021,

A. The Board
l. Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is responsible for promoting the success of the
Group by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference which are published on the respective

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board, after considering the advice and recommendations
from the Board committees, monitors the Group's operating
and financial performance and ensures that effective governance
and sound internal control and risk management systems are
in place. Significant matters which may have an impact on
the performance of the Group are reserved for the Board's

consideration and approval, including:

= approval and monitoring of all major policies of the

Group;

= overall strategies and budgets;

= internal control and risk management systems;

- notifiable transactions and connected transactions (as

defined in the Listing Rules);

= nomination of directors and company secretary; and

- other significant financial and operational matters.

All the Directors, including the Non-executive Directors and
the Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
operation. Upon reasonable request, all the Directors can seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at

the Company's expense.

All the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company, with a view to ensuring that Board

procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and
in compliance with the standards of applicable laws, rules and
regulations, and have acted in the best interests of the Company

and the Shareholders at all times.
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Delegation of Management Function

The day-to-day management, administration and operations
of the Group are delegated to the senior management of the
Group. The responsibilities delegated by the Board to the

senior management include:

= execution of overall strategies adopted by the Board;

- monitoring of budgets approved by the Board;

= implementation of internal control and risk management

systems; and

- preparation of the annual and interim reports and the

results announcements for the Board’s approval.

Before entering into any significant transactions or commitments on
the Company's behalf, senior management of the Company should
obtain prior approval and authorization from the Board. The Board
periodically reviews the above delegation arrangements to ensure

the appropriateness of such arrangements.

Board Composition

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consisted of seven
Directors, three of whom were Executive Directors, and four of

whom were Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive
Directors

Non-executive
Directors

Independent
Non-executive
Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman) (re-designated to
a Non-executive Director and appointed as
Chairman with effect from 4 June 2021;
re-designated to an Executive Director with
effect from 25 August 2021)

Mr. HAN Jun (Vice President)

Mr. DIAO Guoxin (Acting Chief Executive
Officer)(resigned with effect from 25 August
2021)

Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (resigned with effect
from |7 December 2021)

Mr. WANG Dong

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. Jl Yong (appointed with effect from 6
September 2021)

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 103 to 10 of

this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all

corporate communications issued by the Company from time

to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Independent Non-

executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate

communications pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company

maintains on its website and on the Stock Exchange's website

an updated list of all Directors identifying their role and function

and whether they are Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report,
to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial,
business, family, or other material relationships among members
of the Board.

Upon their respective appointments, each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement
to the Stock Exchange confirming his independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable
if there is any subsequent change of circumstances which
may affect his independence. The Company has also received
a written confirmation from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors (namely Mr. WANG Dong, Mr. WONG
Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and Mr. JI Yong) in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence requirements

set out in the Listing Rules.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and

removal of Directors are set out in the Articles.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Any new Director appointed (i) to fill a
causal vacancy shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company or (i) as an addition to the Board
shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election by the

Shareholders.

For details of the service contracts of the Directors, please
refer to the section headed "“Report of Directors — Directors’

service contracts” in this annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors and succession planning for the
Directors. For further details on the functions of the Nomination
Committee, please refer to the section headed “Board
Committee — Nomination Committee” in this Corporate

Governance Report.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has the appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. Mr. JI Yong who was appointed as a Director
during 2021 has received induction and training upon

appointment.

Ongoing training and professional development are arranged by
the Group for the Directors to keep abreast of the latest trends
and issues facing the Group. The Directors receives information
related to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime
and the business and market environments regularly to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills required in performing of

their responsibilities.
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For the year ended 3| December 2021, all Directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of attending training sessions arranged by
the Group's Legal advisors and receiving reading materials
and updates related to corporate governance practices and
directors’ responsibilities. The Company encourages all Directors
to participate in training courses for continuous professional

development at the expense of the Company.

Director’s Liability Insurance

Code provision A.l.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal

action against its directors.

On 31 August 2021, the director’s liability insurance policy
expired. The Company is using its reasonable endeavours to
negotiate with the insurers for the contract terms in order
to procure appropriate insurance cover as soon as possible.
The Company has always been in strict compliance with
the principles and requirements of the Listing Rules. As at
31 December 2021, the Company was not involved in any
material litigation liabilities that were incurred by any Director.
Each Director has the necessary qualification and experience
required in performing his duty. The Company estimates that
in the reasonably foreseeable future, there is limited risk that
there would be any material event for which any Director shall
take significant responsibility. Other than the above period, the
Company has arranged for appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal action brought against the

Directors and officers.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision A.l.l of the CG Code prescribes that at
least four regular Board meetings should be held each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of a
majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic

means of communication.
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The Board held four regular Board meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2021 for the discussion of the Group's
affairs, reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies of the Group. In total, the Board held 8
Board meetings during the year ended 3| December 2021.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings
and the general meetings of the Company (whether in person
or by means of electronic communication) held during the year

ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

Name of Director

EEns
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Executive Directors

BITEE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)

EFHEEE(EE)

Mr. HAN Jun

BERL

Mr. DIAO Guoxin (resigned with effect from 25 August 2021)
ARBEE(E—F=—F\F =+ HHFHE)

Mr. ZHU Liang

RRESE

Non-executive Directors

FHITEF

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (resigned with effect from |7 December 2021)
REAE(E-F-_—F+-A+EHEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors

BUHNITEF

Mr. WANG Dong

ITREL

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

BEEBEE

Mr. LU Xiaoma

EHEEL

Mr. Jl Yong (appointed with effect from 6 September 202 1)
RBEFRE(BZE-—FAANHEEE)

8/8 I/1
8/8 I/1
4/5 0/1

8/8 I/1

6/7 I/1

8/8 I/1

8/8 I/1

8/8 I/1

2/2 0/0
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The annual meeting schedule and draft agendas of each meeting
are made available to Directors in advance. Arrangements are
also in place to ensure that Directors are given an opportunity

to include matters in the agenda.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and Board
committee meetings, notice is given to the Directors and Board
committee members in a timely manner pursuant to the Articles

and terms of reference of each Board committee respectively.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all Directors at least three days
before each Board meeting or Board committee meeting to
keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management of

the Company whenever necessary.

Senior management of the Company attend meetings of the
Board and Board committees as and when necessary to supply
information on the Group’s business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,
corporate governance practices and other major aspects of the

Group.

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for
taking and keeping minutes of meetings of the Board and Board
committees, which record sufficient details of the matters
considered by the Directors and decisions made, including any
proposal raised by the Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final

version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles contain provisions requiring the Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which any such Directors
or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have

a material interest.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A2.l of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.

During the period from 25 August 2021 to |7 December 2021,
Mr. CUI Yuzhi served as both the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company. The Board believed that the
appointment of Mr. CUl Yuzhi as both the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company was conductive to
strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently, given the extensive
experience in the relevant industries which Mr. CUI Yuzhi possesses.
Further, the Board considered that there was a strong independent
element on the Board which can effectively exercise independent
judgments in the course of decision-making. In addition, all major
decisions in relation to the Company’s matters were made in
consultation with members of the Board and Board committees, as

well as the senior management of the Company as appropriate.

On |7 December 2021, Mr. DENG Ge was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company, and Mr. CUI Yuzhi ceased to be
the chief executive officer of the Company. Upon the above change of
the chief executive officer of the Company, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company vest in Mr. CUI Yuzhi and Mr.
DENG Ge respectively, and the Company has re-complied with code
provision A.2.l of the CG Code.

The Board is, therefore, of the view that there are adequate balance
of power and safeguards in place. Nevertheless, the Board will
continue to monitor and review the Company’s current structure and
to make necessary changes at an appropriate time. The Board will
continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with the latest

statutory requirements and professional standards.
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Board Committees

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Board had five
Board committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
and Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Corporate Governance Committee and the Investment Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. All of these
five Board committees of the Company are established with defined

written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the
Investment Committee during the year ended 31 December 2021

were Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expense.

l. Remuneration Committee

We have established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under B.l of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprised three members, of whom
two were Independent Non-executive Directors and one was
Executive Director:
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Mr. WANG Dong (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. HAN Jun

The primary roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (i) reviewing and approving
the senior management’s remuneration proposals by reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives and ensuring that
it is consistent with contractual terms and are reasonable and
appropriate, and (i) determining the terms of the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management by reference
to their time commitment and responsibilities, employment

condition in the Group, and comparable companies.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the
year ended 3| December 2021 to, inter alia, (i) review the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, (ii) assess
performance of the Executive Directors and approve the terms of
their service contracts, (iii) make recommendations to the Board
on determining the annual remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management of the Company, (iv) consider the
remuneration and the terms of the service contracts of the newly
appointed Directors, (v) make recommendations to the Board
on the granting of RSUs pursuant to the Restricted Share Unit

Scheme, and (vi) deal with other matters related to the foregoing.
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The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee
meetings held during the year ended 3| December 202! are

set out below:

BE-_Z-_—H+-A=+—HILEESE
THFHEZEE g s HREeENT ¢

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEERE HEEs At
Mr. WANG Dong (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) 3/3
FREE(FHMEESER)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin 3/3
=EREE

Mr. HAN Jun 3/3
BEEAE

Please refer to note 42(b) to the Financial Statements for
details of the remuneration of the members of the senior
management. The remuneration of the members of the senior

management by band is set out below:

Remuneration band

g E

ERARREEABFMOFEE2HMT
WERMEEA20) - PRERABRBESD
EVETBHELS I T -

Number of persons

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 per annum
BEARBZTE AR1,000,0007T

Note: the above members of senior management include Directors and
other members of senior management of the Company (including
2 Directors and other members of senior management who
resigned in 2021).
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Audit and Compliance Committee

We have established the Audit and Compliance Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and the code provisions set out in paragraphs
C.3 and D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit and Compliance
Committee comprised three members, all of whom were
Independent Non-executive Directors (except for Mr. CUI
Yuzhi who was a Non-executive Director for the period from 4

June 2021 to 25 August 2021):

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance

Committee)

Mr. WANG Dong

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (ceased to be a member of the Audit and
Compliance Committe with effect from 25 August 202 1)

Mr. LU Xiaoma (appointed as a member of the Audit and
Compliance Committee with effect from 25 August 2021)
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The Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee is
Mr. WONG Chi Kin, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary roles and functions of the Audit and Compliance

Committee include, but are not limited to:

(i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the external
auditors and the Group, particularly the independence,
objectivity and effectiveness of the external auditor, (ii)
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, (i) overseeing the audit process
and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board from time to time, (iv) developing, reviewing
and monitoring the policies and practices on corporate
governance, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the Listing Rules, in particular, the corporate governance
functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
(v) reviewing the financial information of the Group and
ensuring compliance with accounting standards and reviewing
significant adjustments resulting from audit, and (vi) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the

employees of the Group and the Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit and
Compliance Committee has considered and reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed matters in relation to risk management and
internal control systems and financial reporting function with
the management of the Company. The Audit and Compliance
Committee considers that the annual financial results for
the year ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared in
compliance with the relevant accounting standards, rules and

regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly made.
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The Audit and Compliance Committee held 6 meetings during
the year ended 31 December 202! to, inter alia, (i) review
the Group's interim and annual financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures and consider the
report from the internal auditor on the Group's internal control,
(ii) review the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices (including but not limited to training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, compliance with the Model
Code by the Directors, and the Company’'s compliance with
the CG Code), (iii) review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, (iv) review the effectiveness of
the internal audit function of the Group, (v) consider the re-
appointment of the external auditors, and (vi) deal with other

matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Audit and Compliance
Committee meetings held during the year ended 31 December

2021 are set out below:

TERERKRE

REBEE=ZTE=_—F+-A=+—HILFE
WER  BRREREESHBITORNE
& N(EHeE) ((VBRASEFRARE
EUVBEBERRSE  HMBEARRAEHARE
Fr - ZRANEEANIBIES 2RSS %R
E (VBRI EEEARBRERER(E
BRTRRESRaBREERE 2 EZIIREF
BEERE  AQRBTARREEHT
ZHERRER  ERETERESFRARAA
BIETEEEARTRZER) « (i)FAX
SEEBRERERAIBIEERS - (V)RR
SERNMPEZBENFRL - (v)ERERE
SNEBAZ RN - K (vi)BE TR R AT it B AR R Y
HMEH -

BE-_T-_—F+t-A=tRALFES
THEZRARZEGTRZ LR IHN
™

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
EE5EME HEE® At
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee) 6/6
BEEBRAL(FERAHRZEELE)
Mr. WANG Dong 6/6
EREE
Mr. CUl Yuzhi (ceased to be a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee with effect from 25

August 2021) 4/4
EFERFE(EE - —FNAZTAATHELERREHESEKE)
Mr. LU Xiaoma (appointed as a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee with effect from 25

August 2021) 2/2

EHREE(E—F_—F )\ LAEZERERRERZEEHE)

The Group's annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021 and this Corporate Governance Report have been
reviewed and agreed by the Audit and Compliance Committee

in a meeting held on 24 March 2022.
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We have established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the code provisions
under A5 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
comprised three members, of whom two were Independent

Non-executive Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (appointed
as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 4
June 2021)

Mr. WANG Dong

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (ceased to be chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 4 June 2021)

Mr. LU Xiaoma (appointed as a member of the Nomination

Committee with effect from 4 June 2021)
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The primary roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include, but are not limited to (i) reviewing the composition
of the Board; (ii) identifying, selecting and recommending to
the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors and
the chief executive officer of the Company, (i) recommending
succession planning for the Directors, (iv) overseeing the
process for evaluating the performance of the Board and the
Directors, (v) developing, recommending to the Board and
monitoring a nomination policy for the Group, and (vi) assessing

the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 3 meetings during the
year ended 31 December 202| to, inter alia, (i) review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and identify
suitable candidates to become members of the Board, (ii)
review and assess procedures for the nomination of Directors
and composition of the Board by reference to the Company's
policy for the nomination of Directors (the "Nomination
Policy") and board diversity policy (the "Board Diversity Policy")
respectively, the summaries of which are set out in the following
paragraphs headed “Nomination Policy” and “Summary of the
Board Diversity Policy”, respectively in this section, (iii) assess
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
(iv) consider the appointment of new Directors, and (v) discuss

other matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee meetings
held during the year ended 3| December 2021 are set out

below:
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Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZREMA 3 £ Ve
Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)(appointed with effect from 4 June 2021) 3/3
EBFHEARL(WEEZRELE)(E-F-_—FNAAAEZE)

Mr. WANG Dong 3/3
FRREE

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (ceased to be chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 4 June 2021) I/1
RS E (B - FE - —F N NHANATHEFIESZE2T/E)

Mr. LU Xiaoma (appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 4 June 2021) 2/2
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The composition and diversity of the Board were considered
by taking into account the necessary balance of skills and
experience to provide effective leadership for the development
of the Group's business. The chairman of the Board and the
Executive Directors possess extensive experience in the fields
of IT, game business, fintech and virtual reality industry. The
Executive Directors, the Non-executive Director and the
Independent Non-executive Directors possess professional
knowledge in management, investment, finance and regulatory
areas respectively with broad and extensive experience in

business advisory services and management.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process in accordance
with the Nomination Policy and the board diversity policy of the
Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) by making reference to

a range of diversity perspectives.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Company
pursuant to the resolutions of the Board. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach to assess the diversity of
the Board. The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board but
not to diversity in relation to the employees of the Company,
nor the board of directors or the employees of any subsidiary
of the Company. In reviewing and assessing the composition of
the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, industry expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The
Board has not set any measurable objectives for implementing

the Board Diversity Policy.
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The Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company pursuant
to Board resolutions. The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Nomination Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set out as

below:

Objective

This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to be
adopted when considering candidates to be appointed or

re- elected as directors of the Company.

2. Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of

a proposed candidate:

. Reputation for integrity;

. Accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities,

commodities and futures markets;

. Commitment in respect of available time and

relevant interest;

0 Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

and
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. Requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent by reference to the independence guidelines

set out in the Listing Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive.

Nomination Process

3.1. Nomination by the Nomination Committee

3.1.1' The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the
Board:;

3.1.2 When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or
appoint an additional director, the Nomination
Committee identifies or selects candidates as
recommended to the Committee, with or without
assistance from external agencies or the Company,

pursuant to the criteria set out in section 2 above;

3.1.3 If the process yields two or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of each

candidate (where applicable);
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The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the

appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
of Directors based upon the recommendation of the

Nomination Committee; and

In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting, a circular will be sent
to Shareholders. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any
other information of the proposed candidates as
required pursuant to the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws, rules and regulations will be

included in the circular.

3.2.  Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

3.2.1

322

In accordance with the Articles, every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and shall be eligible for re-

election at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of
the retiring Director. The Nomination Committee
shall also review the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring Director who offered
himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting to determine whether such Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section

2 above; and
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3.23 Based on the review made by Nomination
Committee, the Board shall make recommendations
to shareholders on candidates standing for re-
election at the annual general meeting of the
Company, and provide the available biographical
information of the retiring director in accordance
with the Listing Rules to Enable Shareholders to
make the informed decision on the re-election of
such candidates at annual general meeting of the

Company.

3.3. Nomination by Shareholders

The Shareholders may propose a person for election as a
director in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules
and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
"Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director” of the Company (please refer to

the website of the Company).

Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established the Corporate Governance
Committee on 22 May 2020. During the year ended 3|
December 2021, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprised three members, of whom two were Independent

Non-executive Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee)(appointed as the Chairman of the Corporate

Governance Committee with effect from 4 June 2021)

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (ceased to be Chairman of the Corporate Govemance

Committee with effect from 4 June 2021)

Mr. WANG Dong

The primary roles and functions of the Corporate Governance
Committee include, but are not limited to: (i) formulate
and review the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, and make recommendations to the Board, (ii)
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, (i) review

and monitor the Company’s compliance with the law and
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regulatory requirements, policies and practices, (iv) formulate,
review and monitor codes of conduct and compliance manuals
(if any) applicable to employees and Directors, (v) make
recommendations to the Board on major projects of the
Company, and (iv) review the Company’s compliance with the
code provisions contained in the CG Code and disclosure of
corporate governance reports contained in the annual reports
of the Company. During the year ended 3| December 2021,

the Corporate Governance Committee held | meeting.

The attendance records of the Corporate Governance
Committee meetings held during the year ended 31 December

2021 are set out below.
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Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee) (appointed with effect from
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Investment Committee

The Company has established the Investment Committee on 30
September 2020. During the year ended 3| December 2021,
the Investment Committee comprised four members, of whom
three were Independent Non-executive Directors and one was
Executive Director:

Mr. LU Xiaoma (Chairman of the Investment Committee)

Mr. ZHU Liang

Mr. CUI Yuzhi

Mr. WANG Dong
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The primary roles and functions of the Investment Committee
include, but not limited to: (i) review and evaluate the
performance of the Company's past investment projects,
and make recommendations to the Board, (ii) research and
review the Company’s future development investment projects
(including mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures, equity
investments, secondary market investments, etc.), and make
recommendations to the Board, (iii) implement investment
decision-making procedures within the authorization scope of
the Board of directors, and supervise the implementation of
the above procedures, and (vi) understand and study and judge
policies related to the Company's development, and provide
opinions and suggestions to the Company on matters which

may significantly affect the Company.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Investment
Committee held | meeting. The attendance records of the
Investment Committee meetings held during the year ended 31

December 2021 are set out below:
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Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEEHE EEA-f V& h
Mr. LU Xiaoma (Chairman of the Investment Committee) I/1
EHDERLE(REZEETE)

Mr. ZHU Liang 171
RREE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi I/1
EFHEEE

Mr. WANG Dong 171
ERREE

With effect from 21 May 2021, the Investment Committee has
been dissolved and discharged by the Board. The functions and
duties of the Investment Committee has been taken over by

the Board.
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Independent Investigation Committee

The Company has established the Independent Investigation
Committee pursuant to a resolution of the Board on 20
December 2019, initially comprising Mr. ZHANG Qiang, a Non-
executive Director, and Mr. HOW Sze Ming, Mr. ZHAO Cong
Richard and Mr. WAN Joseph Jason, all the former Independent
Non-executive Directors. On 27 April 2020, Mr. WANG Dong
and Mr. WONG Chi Kin were appointed as Independent
Non-executive Directors and members of the Independent
Investigation Committee. At the Independent Investigation
Committee meeting held on | May 2020, it was unanimously
agreed that Mr. WONG Chi Kin would be appointed as the
chairman of the Independent Investigation Committee. On 29
April 2020, each of Mr. HOW Sze Ming, Mr. ZHAO Cong
Richard and Mr. WAN Joseph Jason resigned as Independent
Non-executive Directors and ceased to be members of the
Independent Investigation Committee with effect from 30
April 2020. The Independent Investigation Committee was
established for the purpose of, among other things, investigating
and reporting on various matters and events leading to and/
or otherwise relating to the overdue corporate loans of the
internet micro-credit business of the Company under “Yunke",

and recommending actions to be taken by the Board.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the code of conduct and procedures
governing Directors’ securities transactions in stringent compliance
with the Model Code. Specific enquiries have been made to all the
Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied

with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company has also established its management system on trading
securities of the Company by its employees, which is not less exacting
than the Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance of such system by the employees was noted by

the Company.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year

ended 31 December 2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information and

position of the Group.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Financial Statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor's Report” from pages |16 to |18 of this annual
report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the
Annual General Meeting to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and the

auditor’s independence.
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For the year ended 3| December 2021, the fees paid/payable to the
Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited for the

audit service was RMB2.3 million.

Fees paid/payable to the Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited for non-audit services provided to the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was RMBO.2 million. Such non-audit
services mainly included professional service in relation to the review of

the 2021 interim report of the Company.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to the individual
department which is accountable for its own conduct and performance
and is required to operate its own department’s business within the
scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere
to the strategies and policies set by the Board from time to time.
Each department is also required to keep the senior management
informed of material developments of the department’s business and
implementation of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a

regular basis.

The Group has systems and procedures in place to identify, control
and report on major types of risks the Group encounters. Each
department is responsible for the assessment of individual type of risks
arising under its areas of responsibilities. Relevant risks identified are
reported to the Board for overseeing and monitoring of the respective
types of risks. The Group's risk management and internal control
systems are monitored and reviewed regularly (at least three times a

year) by the Board, which covers the full financial year.
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During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The review has covered the financial, operational
and compliance and risk management aspects of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems implemented during the
year ended 3| December 2021. The review included discussions with
the management of the Company, its external and internal auditors.
During the year ended 3| December 2020, certain deficiencies in
the internal control system were identified in the Company's internet
micro-credit business under Yunke and VR game business under
Beijing Xigua. The Board has established an independent investigation
committee (the "Independent Investigation Committee") initially
comprising Mr. ZHANG Qiang, a Non-executive Director, and Mr.
HOW Sze Ming, Mr. ZHAO Cong Richard and Mr. WAN Joseph
Jason, being the former Independent Non-executive Directors. On
27 April 2020, Mr. WANG Dong and Mr. WONG Chi Kin were
appointed as Independent Non-executive Directors and members of
the Independent Investigation Committee. On 29 April 2020, each of
Mr. HOW Sze Ming, Mr. ZHAO Cong Richard and Mr. WAN Joseph
Jason resigned as Independent Non-executive Directors and ceased
to be member of the Independent Investigation Committee with
effect from 30 April 2020. The Company has also appointed one of
the big four international accounting firms to conduct an independent
investigation on the outstanding corporate loans especially the
Affected Loans (as defined in the announcement of the Company
dated || December 2019) and VR game business (results of the
independent investigation are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 May 2020 and 8 May 2020). The Company took
the issues as identified by the independent investigation seriously, and
has engaged an internal control consultant to conduct a complete
review on certain scopes of the internal control system in respect
of its internet micro-credit business and VR game business in order
to carry out internal control system rectification; please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated |7 December 2020 for
details. The Board is satisfied with the appropriate measures taken to
rectify the deficiencies and will continue to monitor and review the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group. In addition, the Board has also reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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Framework for Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a robust framework for the disclosure
of inside information in compliance with the SFO. The framework
sets out the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner so as to allow
all the stakeholders to apprehend the latest position of the Group.
Under the procedures, any Director or employee of the Company
(especially the senior management and unit heads, etc.) who is
aware of any potential inside information shall initiate the reporting
procedures as soon as practicable. The Board is responsible to assess
and determine the nature of such information and to make relevant
disclosure in accordance with the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
framework and its effectiveness are subject to review on a regular

basis according to established procedures.

Internal Audit

The Group has in place an internal audit function. The primary role
of the internal audit function is to help the Board and the senior
management of the Group to protect the assets, reputation and
sustainability of the Group. The internal audit function provides
independent and objective review on the design and operational
effectiveness of the Group's framework of internal control and risk
management systems, as well as the Group’s governance practices.
The internal audit function of the Group is independent of the internal
control systems of the Group. The internal audit function also reviews
the Company’s management’s action plans in relation to audit findings
and verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the mitigating controls

before formally closing the issues.

The internal audit function of the Group reports results and
findings in its audit work together with assessment of the overall
risk management and internal control framework to the Audit and

Compliance Committee as appropriate.
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Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential to enhancing investor relations and their
understanding to the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable

Shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
chairman of the Board, the chairman of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit and Compliance Committee and Nomination
Committee, or, in their absence, other members of the respective
Board committees shall attend and be available to answer questions at

the general meetings of the Company.

At the the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 May
2021, separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect
of each separate issue which was itemised on the notice convening
at annual general meeting. Procedures for conducting a poll were
explained by the chairman at the annual general meeting of the
Company. The chairman of the Board and the chairman of each of
the Board committees were present to answer questions from the
Shareholders. Representatives from external auditors of the Company
also attended the annual general meeting of the Company. All
resolutions were voted by way of poll. The Company appointed its
Hong Kong branch share registrar to act as scrutineers of the annual
general meeting of the Company and to ensure that votes cast at the
meetings were properly counted and recorded, and the Company
has announced the poll results of the annual general meeting of the
Company on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company in accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, no other general meeting of the Company was

held during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.forgame.com, where information and updates on the
Group's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for

public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
since 3 October 2013 and will review it on a regular basis to ensure

its effectiveness.

Dividends Policy

The Company’s policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend
Policy”) was adopted by the Company pursuant to the resolutions
of the Board. The Company will review the Dividend Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The

Dividend Policy is set out as below:

Subject to the Cayman Islands Company Law and the Articles, the
Company may declare dividends in any currency through a general
meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board. The Articles provide that dividends may
be declared and paid out of the profit, realized or unrealized, or from
any reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determine is no
longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends
may also be declared and paid out of a share premium account or any
other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in

accordance with the Cayman Islands Company Law.

Except as provided under the terms of a particular issue, or with
respect to the rights attached to any Shares, (i) all dividends will be
declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares
in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on
a Share in advance of calls may for this purpose be treated as paid
up on the Share; and (i) all dividends will be apportioned and paid
pro rata according to the amount paid up on the Shares during any
portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is
paid. The Directors may deduct from any dividend or other monies
payable to any of the Shareholders or in respect of any Shares all
sums of money (if any) presently payable by such Shareholder to the

Company on account of calls or otherwise.
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In addition, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of
the Board, and the amounts of dividends actually declared and paid

will also depend on:

. our general business conditions;

. our financial results;

. our capital requirements;

. interests of the Shareholders; and

. any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.

The future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend
upon the availability of dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries.
PRC laws require that dividends be paid out of the net profit
calculated according to PRC accounting principles. PRC laws also
require PRC enterprises to set aside part of their net profit as
statutory reserves before they distribute the net proceeds. These

statutory reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends.

The Board has the absolute discretion in whether to declare any
dividend for any year and, if it decides to declare a dividend, how

much dividend to declare.

The Company will continue to re-evaluate the Dividend Policy in
light of the financial condition and the prevailing economic climate.
However, the determination to pay dividends will be made at the
discretion of the Board and will be based upon the Company's
earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, statutory
fund reserve requirements and any other conditions that the Directors
deem relevant. The payment of dividends may also be limited by legal
restrictions and by financing agreements that the Company may enter
into in the future. There can be no assurance that dividends of any

amount will be declared or distributed in any year.
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Shareholder Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
is proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial separate
issue, including the election of individual Director. Meanwhile, the
procedures for Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general
meeting, (i) direct their enquiries to the Board and (iii) put forward

proposals at Shareholders’ meetings are set out below.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, namely Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 54th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Shareholders who wish to
put enquiries to the Board can send their enquiries to the company
secretary of the Company who will ensure these enquiries to be
properly directed to the Board. Shareholders may at any time make a
request for the Company’s information to the extent such information
is publicly available. Corporate communication of the Company will
be provided to Shareholders in plain language and in both English and
Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders
have the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese) or
means of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard copy or

through electronic means).

General meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, which carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may
also be convened on the written requisition of any one Shareholder
which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company, which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The
same procedures also apply to any proposal to be put forward at the
general meetings. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting

to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
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or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Directors provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date
of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

All resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. In addition, the poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
the Shareholders’ meeting in the manner as required by the Listing

Rules.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, there was no change in
the constitutional documents of the Company. The latest version of
the Company’s Articles is available on the respective websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

Company Secretary

The Company engases an external service provider to provide
secretarial services and appointed Sir KWOK Siu Man (“Sir Seaman
Kwok) as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 09
February 2022, while Ms. YAN Xin resigned as the company secretary
of the Company with effect from |7 January 2022.

Sir Seaman Kwok's main contact person at the Company is Mr. ZHU
Liang (Chief financial officer). All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company to ensure the
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are

followed.

Sir Seaman Kwok is a fellow member of each of the Chartered
Governance Institute in England, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute, The Institute of Financial Accountants in England,
the Institute of Public Accountants in Australia, The Association of
Hong Kong Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and
the Hong Kong Society of Registered Financial Planners, as well as a

member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, Ms. Yan had

complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than |5

hours of relevant professional training.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CUI Yuzhi, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 7 May 2020. With effect from 4 June 2021, Mr. Cui was re-
designated as a Non-executive Director, and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board and the authorised representative of the Company. He was
redesignated as an Executive Director and appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company with effect from 25 August 2021. Mr. Cui ceased to
act as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 17 December 2021 but

remains as the Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director.

Mr. Cui is a seasoned independent investment advisor. Mr. Cui has more
than 20 years' experience in finance with deep expertise in international
capital market and enterprise operations. Mr. Cui held senior positions at
various organizations, including the executive president of Tendcare Medical
Group, the Portfolio Manager at Atlantis Investment Hong Kong, the general
manager of investment and operations at China Dili Group (formerly known
as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company Limited), whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1387.HK), the chief financial officer
of Zhong An Group Limited (formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate
Limited), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 672.
HK), the chief financial officer of Excellence Group, the chief financial officer
of Treasury Holdings China Limited and the vice president of Shanghai
Forte Group. Since 2016, Mr. Cui has served as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee and member of the
nomination committee of Sino ICT Holdings Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 365.HK). Mr. Cui also serves as a

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cui holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied Physics from the
University of Notre Dame (graduated with highest honor), and MBA from
the University of Chicago Booth School of Business.
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ZHU Liang, aged 54, has been the joint Chief Financial Officer and Vice
President of the Company since 7 May 2020. Mr. Zhu was appointed as an
Executive Director with effect from |3 October 2020.

From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Zhu served as a statistician at Wuhan Iron and Steel
(Group) Corporation in the PRC. From 1994 to 2012, Mr. Zhu assumed
various positions, such as an accountant, financial officer, director and legal
general manager at Synnex Technology International Corporation, a company
principally engaged in the distribution of information, communication,
consumer product, and semiconductor products, and the shares of which
are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock code: 2347.TW). From
2012 to 2019, Mr. Zhu was the chief financial officer of Shanghai Evendata
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. in the PRC. From 2019 and prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Zhu served as the general legal advisor of Shenzhen Jiuli
Supply Chain Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhu currently also serves as a director of certain

subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhu graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in the

PRC in October 1990, where he obtained a bachelor's degree in Accounting.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HAN Jun, aged 50, was appointed as the chairman of the Board, an
Executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on ||
November 2019. Mr. Han resigned as the chairman of the Board and the
Authorised Representative on 27 April 2020 but remains as an Executive
Director. With effect from 13 October 2020, Mr. Han has been re-

designated from Chief Executive Officer to Vice President.

Mr. Han has over |8 years of experience in the internet industry. Before
2000, Mr. Han worked in China Potevio Co., Ltd, responsible for the
development of software for operation service of telecommunication main
network. He acted as the vice-president of TOM.COM LIMITED from
January 2000 to June 2004, where he was mainly responsible for the website
content of Tom.com and establishment of mobile value-added services
channel and financial performance target. He acted as the general manager
of Beijing Shanlian Hudong Network Technology Co., Ltd. from August 2004
to March 2018, where he was mainly responsible for the daily operation of
the business. He also held various positions in Prosten Technology Holdings
Limited (now known as China Brilliant Global Limited, stock code: 8026.
HK, a company principally engaged in the provision of solution integration
services and wireless mobile value-added services), including a non-executive
director from December 2013 to February 2015 and an executive director
from February 2015 to February 2018. He also acted as the chief operations
officer of KongZhong Corporation (a company listed on NASDAQ in the
United States in July 2004 and subsequently privatised in April 2017) from
September 2017 to October 2019, where he was responsible for the daily
operation of the business, data analysis and co-ordination and execution of

the financial indicator and business target.

Mr. Han graduated from the College of Computer Science of Beijing

University of Technology, majoring in computer software.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Dong, aged 43, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 27 April 2020. Mr. Wang is currently a member of executive
committee of Soochow Securities (International) Financial Holdings Ltd. He
has extensive banking and securities business experience and has worked in
various financial institutions in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During his
time in Hong Kong, Mr. Wang worked in BOCOM International Holdings
Limited from 2011 to 2019 with his last position as deputy general manager
of BOCOM International Securities Limited; and acted as the non-executive
director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited (stock code: |380.HK)
in 2013.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics and a bachelor’s
degree in Laws from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, a master's
degree in Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law and
an executive master of business administration degree from China Europe

International Business School.

WONG Chi Kin, aged 48, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 27 April 2020.

Mr. Wong has over 25 years of accounting, banking and finance experience
in international investment banks and commercial banks as well as various
listed companies in Hong Kong. Since March 2017, Mr. Wong has been a
non-executive director of Asiaray Media Group Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1993.HK). Besides, Mr. Wong was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings
Limited (“Tsui Wah"), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1314.HK), on 5 November 2012 and was re-designated as a non-

executive director of Tsui Wah on | November 2016 till now.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

From November 202! to February 2022, Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director and a member of the independent investigation
committee of Mayer Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: I'l16. HK). From July 2018 to July 2019, Mr. Wong
was an independent non-executive director of Shenzhou Space Park Group
Limited (“Shenzhou Space”), mainly responsible for providing independent
advice to Shenzhou Space on listing resumption. The shares of Shenzhen
Space were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 692.HK) The listing
of Shenzhou Space Shares has been cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 10 December 2019 under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong
was also the chief financial officer of various listed companies in Hong Kong.
From October 2014 to October 2018, Mr. Wong was the chief financial
officer of Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 265.HK). From September 201 |
to October 2014, Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of China Qinfa
Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
866.HK)

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in Finance
from City University of Hong Kong in 1996, a master’s degree in Practicing
Accounting from Monash University, Australia in 2001, an executive master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2010. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and an

associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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LU Xiaoma, aged 55, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on I3 October 2020. Mr. Lu has been a managing partner of East
Stone Capital Limited Partners, an investment management company focusing
on cross- border opportunities, since January 2018, where he is primarily
responsible for overall management and project sourcing. Further, Mr. Lu
has been the chief executive officer and director of East Stone Acquisition
Corporation since February 2020, where he is primarily responsible for
acquisition target sourcing and compliance. Mr. Lu has also been an
independent director of Yango Group Co., Ltd and BOC International
(China) Co., Ltd since April 2017 and October 2018, respectively, where
his job duties mainly include risk management and compliance monitoring.
He has rich experience in investment, financing and strategic mergers and
acquisitions.

Mr. Lu joined State Street Bank & Trust Corporation since 1999, and was
appointed as its vice president and the chief representative in China from
May 2005 to August 2007 and August 2007 to August 2010, respectively,
where he was mainly responsible for participating in merger and acquisition
projects and managing the development of a new business line with annual
revenue over US$100 million, as well as setting up a branch in Beijing and
leading all market development activities in China, respectively. Mr.Lu was
employed as a dedicated non-executive director of China Construction Bank
Corporation, representing Central Huijin Investment Corporation Limited,
the domestic branch of China Investment Corporation from August 2010
to November 2012, where he was primarily responsible for overseeing risk
management strategy and focusing on credit risk and operational risk and
leading management structure and strategy in managing domestic banking
investment. Mr. Lu also served as the deputy general manager of The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange from November 2012 to May 2015, where he
was primarily responsible for managing information disclosure, regulating
more than 1,000 listed companies and leading all fixed income product
operations and market establishment. From May 2015 to December 2016,
Mr. Lu was appointed as the group vice president of Wanda Financial Group
Limited and chief executive officer of Wanda Investment Company, where
he was mainly responsible for setting up overall business plan and strategy
for a new business and in charge of all corporate strategic acquisition and
financial investments. Subsequently from March 2017 to November 2017,
Mr. Lu served as the executive vice president of Kangde Investment Group
Limited, where he was primarily in charge of all investment and merger and
acquisition activities.

Mr. Lu graduated with a bachelor's degree and a master’s degree in Thermal
Engineering from Tsinghua University in 1988 and 1993, respectively, and a
master’s degree in business administration from Boston College in 1999.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

JI Yong, aged 41, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 6 September 2021.
business administration and a master's degree in international business
law from the University of Central Lancashire in UK in 2005 and 2006,
respectively. Mr. Ji worked in Kingfisher Group as an assistant in the

MrJi obtained a bachelor's degree in international

investment decision department and marketing specialist from 2006 to 2007.
From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Ji worked as an assistant to chief financial officer in
Excellence Group. From 2009 to 2014, Mr. Ji served as an executive director
and project vice president of LongTree Capital, where he was mainly
responsible for project investment and operations, and had successfully
facilitated the investment, execution, operation and exit of various projects.
Since 2014, Mr. Ji has been the vice president and general manager in China
of Impulse Dynamics, Motorika Ltd, where he held full responsibility for the
establishment and expansion of the company’s business in China.

GENERAL

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors:

0] held any other positions in the Company or other members of the
Group as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) had any other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company as
at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) held any directorship in any other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the three years prior to the Latest Practicable Date; and

(iv)  have any interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO or is a director or an employee of a company which has an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge, information and
belief of the Directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, there
were no other matters with respect to the appointment of the Directors
that needs to be brought to the attention of shareholders of the Company
and there was no information relating to the Directors that was required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEEBE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DENG Ge, aged 45, was appointed as the Vice President of the Company
on 9 December 2020. With effect from |7 December 2021, Mr. Deng
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Deng
graduated from Hunan Radio and TV University in 1999 majoring in
Computer Science. He has more than 20 years of business management
and marketing experience in the electronics industry. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Deng has served as sales director of Taiwan Zenitron
Company Limited, general manager of Shenzhen Extreme Life Network
Technology Limited, deputy general manager of Shenzhen Haihong
Microelectronics Technology Limited and general manager of Shenzhen
Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd.*.

The biographies of Mr. ZHU Liang and Mr. HAN Jun have been disclosed
under the paragraph headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forgame Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages |19 to 226, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 3| December 2021, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the

year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been properly prepared

in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3% BUET R

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Limited accounting books and disposal of Beijing Xigua

As disclosed in note 12, Ms. Li Luyi (“Ms. Li"), the former executive director and
chief executive officer of the Company, was responsible for the management
and operation of Beijing Xigua prior to her loss of contact from late October
to early November 2019 and her resignation on 7 November 2019. On 12
November 2020, the Company announced the disposal transaction on the
Group's 69.84% equity interest in Beijing Xigua. The disposal was completed
in December 2020. Due to the insufficient supporting documents and relevant
explanations on the accounting books and records in respect of Beijing Xigua
and its operations, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the disposal of Beijing Xigua and
the income and expenses for the year ended 3| December 2020, and the
segment information and other related disclosure notes in relation to the Group,
as included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been
accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial

statements:

(a)  Income and expenses:

REBREE

R AR R R E R

MM 2FRE - BATSERTEERERA
TEFE-—LL(FLLDR-F-NE+ATAE
—EF-NE+AREBRA-F AL+ ALH

HEMBEBTERKLZILERANL - SEQAARZE
“ZFE+—A+-_HEMEHE BEEBMFILRANL
69.84%IEMHEER S - HEERZZE_TF+_A
R c BN BRI RANRE2ENSERE Rtk
MERAXHRIEERENR  EEEZEFSRARE
ENEZERE  BETEEHN BESEEHMBHmEK
FrEtEtFAARBE—_S T4+ _-_A=+—8
LEFENBRARRAY oBERARE SEXEEH
MEMABBEENERTERN A M B R R ER L
REZBAE

(a) HWARBFX :

For the year ended
3| December 2020

BE-Z-ZF

TZA=t+—BLEE

RMB'000

ARETTT

Loss from discontinued operations IR TS R 3,862
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Independent Auditor’s Report

(b)  Related party transactions and disclosures in relation to Beijing Xigua and its

operations

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to the
existence, accuracy and completeness of the disclosures of the related
party transactions for the year ended 3| December 2020 in relation to
Beijing Xigua and its operations as required by International Accounting

Standard 24 (Revised)"Related Party Disclosures”.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's result and cashflows for the year ended 3|
December 2020 and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial

statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics (“IESBA
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.

B M % B

(b)) FHILRANREELENHHELXERKE

EERERHEHERE  BEBEFERRRE

Ra st RSB 2455 (AERT) [ R E&”JE’\J%E
E - BBIERANREZEEHE TEA
:H:‘T’_Eﬁigﬁ"]%ﬁﬂwﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ
£~ EHERTE
HEXEERTIEHEMNARAEY S5EE

—ECEF+ A+ HUEFEZEEHBEESR

RAHBEHRRANZERREERARTE
EEORECKEREFAER) ([BBRETERDETE

i BEEAEZEETAENEEEEAREZH
Bt At A T MB AN R T 1B P IEE— 8

oo RIFERE JrEﬂi?Eﬁ%‘;’iﬁ'J BgmaETI(A
Tﬁﬂﬁ@h_f%*r 1) EEBIR BE&EH - YER
TEE JEPE’J/HJ@?;%}EE%E BEERR  BF
PR E’J%ﬁ”ﬁf‘; DEENAETSNREERRE
HEZE o

RRgETER

MRBAFTAR/RBES 2EXHE - A/YLHS
49\4517?%4*&&2%5’9%%?7%@?%%15 c REFFHIER
B BRBAHYBRANVKEREETRE - &
#Iﬁiﬁiﬁélﬁhf BEBNER -BRTREEARE
ELAFHANER S BEECHEEATEEREE
EHREFEEENBREASEEHE ©

Ny

ERERERAT FEHRE202 113



Independent Auditor’s Report
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Inventories

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of inventories for impairment. This impairment
test is significant to our audit because the balance of inventories of
RMB80,927,000 as at 3| December 2021 is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test involves application
of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the Group’s procedures on ordering and holding of inventories;
- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

= Assessing the marketability of the inventories;

= Assessing the ageing of the inventories;

- Assessing the net realisable values of the inventories; and

= Checking subsequent sales and usage of the inventories.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for inventories is supported by

the available evidence.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of RMB58,517,000 as at 31 December 2021 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test

involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits and credit

periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the

customers;

= Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

= Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the

consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade receivables is supported

by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company's annual report, but does not

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the disposal of Beijing Xigua.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is

materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concemn basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic aftternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate treats of safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit and Compliance Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO7374

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
O EaEREtEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 202|
HE-Z--F+-A=1t-ALFE

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Kzt ARBTT ARETT
(Restated)
(#e=351)
Continuing operations FHERE XK
Revenue LON 7 142,136 53,560
Cost of revenue [D#N (128,535) (40,600)
Gross profit EF 13,601 12,960
Selling and marketing expenses SHE N T 5 HE R S (5,496) (4,782)
Administrative expenses TBRX (18,642) (43,702)
Research and development expenses e (7,985) (473)
Other income Hi e 8 2,409 2434
Other gains — net E A S5 9 5,457 3,509
Finance cost BT R AR 10 (218) (15)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair value HEIEAFEFT ABEAIZERIK
through profit or loss =/ (E518) 20,787 (1,132)
Share of loss of associates (L& N F)E1E (5,263) (6,043)
Reversal/(impairment) of financial assets measured 1ZEERRRX ANGT 2 RS BV E ERE, Ol
at amortised cost — net B)F8 26,967 (667)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BMRETEBANER(B58) 31,617 37911)
Income tax expense FRiGHiF > I (36) (262)
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations BEGSEERRA,(B8) 31,581 (38,173)
Discontinued operations BRI RE SR
Loss from discontinued operations RIMEEERBIER 12 (14,056) (16,967)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FERRF(EE) /3 17,525 (55,140)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Ht2mE(EE) s
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: NEEH B EmIER -

Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair 22 EFT A KM 2 E RSO

value through other comprehensive income RENRNTFEEE (12,142) 21,287
Deferred tax effect arising from changes in fair RATEG AR M EE R R ER

value of equity investments at fair value through 1% & 2 AFEZEFTEE 2 BT

other comprehensive income HIETE 3,206 (5,902)
Currency translation differences HNEE T R (4,225) (3,059)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, FEREMZE (EE) W - FOBRS
net of tax H (13,161) 12,326

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FRZEKZE /(EE)4%EE 4,364 (42,814)

ERERERAT FEHRE202 119



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
SOt EaRREMEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 202!
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz ARBTT ARETT
(Restated)
(r&=%1)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: R AR RER,(B58):
Owners of the Company RATER A
— Continuing operations —FHEIS S 5TE 31,608 (38,173)
— Discontinued operations — RIS TS (14,056) (11,099)
17,552 (49.272)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR R
— Continuing operations — B EETS 27) -
— Discontinued operations — IR PR K - (5,868)
27) (5,868)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERHER () 17,525 (55,140)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTATEEFERZERE (EHER)
for the year attributable to: AR
Owners of the Company PAN/NIEZZDN 4,391 (36,974)
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR (27) (5,840)
4364 “2814)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) SREXRR B ERER (FE)
(AR#T) 16
— Continuing and discontinued operations —FFE IR IS TS 0.12 0.32)
— Continuing operations — RSB T 022 (0.25)
— Discontinued operations — RIS TS (0.10) (0.07)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SO R R

As at 31 December 202|
W=Z=—F+t-A=+—-H

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz AR¥T T ARBFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment IEISE 7 36,951 2,195
Intangible assets mEE 18 19,019 18,791
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 4,687 3,544
Investments in associates NNl = 2| 55,075 51,343
Equity investments at fair value through other BRATHEF AR M EE A
comprehensive income WS E 23 34,873 41,614
Prepayments and other receivables TETRIE K B At R MR IE 27 405 897
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE 2 34 4,381 4,38
155,391 122,765
Current assets REEE
Inventories =8 24 80,927 8413
Trade receivables H 5 EWRIE 25 58,517 43878
Loan receivables FEME R 26 - 8,000
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA K B At FE I IR 27 44,625 33,112
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BATEF ABRRE 22 2,000 75,855
Equity investments at fair value through other BRATEF AR M2 E R A ERR
comprehensive income ‘g 23 - 38,868
Restricted cash R HIRE 28 1,669 765
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFED 28 370,266 385516
558,004 555,407
Total assets EEAHE 713,395 678,172
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity =
Share capital [N B 93 102
Reserves G 37 636,563 612,945
636,656 613047
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR A - (1,079)
Total equity HERAAEE 636,656 611,968
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
| PR IS AR R R

As at 31 December 202!
RZB-—-%+-A=t+—8

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
KiaE AR¥T T ARETIT
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIB A R 34 2,012 5218
Lease liabilities HEEE 33 3,740 2,783
5,752 8,001
Current liabilities HRBaE
Trade payables B SN FRIA 29 9,688 12,068
Other payables and accruals L fEATROE N FERTE A 30 22,698 37,224
Bank borrowings RITHEK 31 4,000 =
Contract liabilities EHEE 32 28,882 4527
Income tax liabilities FisfiaE 4,558 3614
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 1,161 770
70,987 58,203
Total liabilities BEHAE 76,739 66,204
Total equity and liabilities kA ERRH 713,395 678,172
Net current assets FREEE 487,017 497,204
Total assets less current liabilities EEABNKRABERE 642,408 619,969

The consolidated financial statements on pages |19 to 226 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and signed on

its behalf by:

Cui Yuzhi Zhu Liang
EFEH KR
Director Director
EE BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOEREER

For the year ended 31 December 202!

Attributable to Owners of the Company

BE-_Z-_—-5+-A=1+—-RItFEE

FRARRARE
Shares
Held For
Restricted Share-based Non-
Share Share ~ Share Units ~ Capital  Statutory  Compensation ~ Translation Other  Accumulated Controlling
Capital ~ Premium ~ Scheme  Reserve  Reserves Reserve  Differences  Reserves Losses Total  Interests Total
HZRH
BiEf HRf
iTHER AEEN A2R
B BHEE  BRE  EARE  ERBR  MeRR FEEE AbBE O ZMER 0 4w B A%
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBOOO RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOQO RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBUOOO
AEBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR
At 1 January 2020 R=Z235--H 02 206548  (28900) 30000  204% Pl SI066 (369444 (1389052) 68739 (B3%) 663963
Total comprefiensive ERRA(ER)/

(loss)fincome for the year assE = - - = = = (3087) 15385 @) (eI 0 (@84
Share-based payments IWRHAERMH - - - - - m - - - m - m
Disposal of equty interest in HENBARRE

subsidiaries - - - - - - - (380 S AL A (9954)
Profit appropriatons to sttutory  EAAZ AR EEIE

reserves = = = = 1 = = = (40) = = =
Changes n equity for tie year ~~ EMERED - - - - yI 00N () @S1) 43 W (1)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-351-A=1-R 102 le5486  (28%0) 30000 20730 08484 471919 (0LIT0) (1438664 613047 (1079) 611,98
At | Jenuary 2021 R-32-%-A-A 102 2les486 (28900 30000 20730 08484 41979 (B0LIT0) (1438664 613047 (1079)6l1,%8
Total comprehensive ERRA(ER) hatE

(loss)fincome for the year - - - - - - (4225) (893 17552 439 W) 4364
lsue of ordinary shares for TR EREARARARE

settlement of consideration (Hiskaoe))

payable (note 35()) 6 19213 - - - - - - - 19,219 - 19,219
Cancelton of consideration AL ENBATMRAKE

shares for disposal of (Hibs(a)

subsidiaries (note 35(2)) (15 (380%) - - - - - 38 - - - -
Transfer of equty investments BATE AL E SRS

at fair value through other REEAZZIEE

comprehensive income to

accumulated losses - - - - - - - W9 41,954 - - -
Deregstration of a subsidiary TH-FHEAT - - - - - - - - - - 1,106 1,106
Share-based payments PO - - - - - (1) - - - (1) - (1)
Changes in equiy for theyear ~~ FERZE 0 (18883 - - - () @ny (2m) 59506 23,609 1079 24688
At 31 December 201 RZEC-E+CA=1-H 9B 1046603 (28%0) 30000 20730 08483 4754 (404949 (I379.158) 636,656 - 83665
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERNER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
(Restated)
(#e=51)
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMESRERE
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETISBL AT A, (E518)
— Continuing operations — RBS S TS 31,617 37911)
— Discontinued operations — BRI TS (13,678) (41,105)
Adjustments for: AT IEELFZE
Depreciation of property and equipment MR ERETE 1,414 1991
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,087 4,167
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEE S 473 3,633
Allowance for inventories FERE 4319 75
Dividends received from investments at fair value through WEZE A ERT ABENIRE
profit or loss R B (1,139) -
Interest income M EWE (1,628) (6,704)
Finance cost P IDWIN 218 I, 146
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate R & A RIS E g s (8,995) (815)
Fair value gain on investments at fair value through BRATEGFABRNREZ
profit or loss NSRS - (383)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair value through & Z A AR ABZAIRER
profit or loss Wk (F548) (20,787) [,132
Loss on fair value change of derivative financial instrument — $TAE S T AM A EZE)EE - 6,200
Share of loss of associates FE(R B & A B & 18 5263 6,043
(Reversal)/impairment of assets in connection with ERAR | S TSAERI B E
discontinued operations (Bm),HE (8,831) 9,425
(Reversal)/impairment of financial assets measured at RS AT ENEREE
amortised cost — net (BE),R(EF5E (26,967) 667
Fair value loss/(gain) of share consideration payable FERR DR ERN A TE
B8 () 2,792 (1,470)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary L — M B A R A s tE 1,106 -
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HE W KR A H S TE 16 49
Share-based payments VAR 17 AR EE R B9 A< 3K Q)] 773
Exchange loss/(gain), net bE 5 e (Was ) AR 763 (922)
Operating loss before changes in working capital EEESEHANLEEE (32,958) (54,009)
Change in inventories FE# (76,833) (5439)
Change in trade receivables B 5 W Ia S E) (53,719) (618)
Change in prepayments and other receivables TR R IR e EL At 8 W R IE B (14,473) 5,807
Change in trade payables S ENFRIBE S (2,380) 4518
Change in other payables and accruals HMERRIBERE B AEE 7,127 (9,746)
Change in contract liabilities ERBEE 24,355 (11,243)
Change in loan receivables FEME T E) 16,831 137,804
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (A Frisie (132,050) 67,074
Interest received EUHE 1,628 6,704
Income tax refund/(paid) RE(BRDETEH 530 (2.390)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities KEEER(FTA) RS FE (129,892) 71,388
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

2021 2020
—E-—F TE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
(Restated)
(#e=351)
Cash flows from investing activities REZFEHFAERERE
Purchases of property and equipment BEWENEE (36,183) (2,285)
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment i E W KRBTSR 5 2,408
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (723) (583)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow arising from acquisition of REWEHBARNER S
subsidiaries CRHE)/ RAFEEE (6,000) 13,589
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of subsidiaries REHEMB AR RAFRE 6,519 425
Proceeds from disposal of investments, net 1% B TSR 1B F 58 136,611 =
Payments for equity investments at fair value through BRAFEF AR MR EAER
other comprehensive income BERNR (10,000) -
Payments for investments at fair value through profit or loss & A {EFT AB AR E TR (2,000) (75,807)
Dividends received from investments at fair value through WHGR A P EFT A BRI E R
profit or loss 2 1,139 =
Proceed from previously disposed associate SR S A B PTG FIE 27,500 =
Payments for short-term deposits 52 ETF AT R - (61,386)
Proceeds received upon maturity of short-term deposits T HR 21| HA %8 BRTF SR PRAS SR1E - 130,248
(Payments)/withdrawal for restricted cash RRHIRE (5R),$2E (904) 188
Net cash generated from investing activities RETBMERSEHE 115,964 6,797
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBMERSRE
Bank loans raised E5RITER 4,000 -
Bank interest paid EAERITHE (43) -
Payments for lease liabilities HEBBMNR (879) (6,423)
Payments for lease interest FAEF SR (175) (1,146)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities BEEBRE (TR RETRE 2,903 (7,569)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEYORD), EINFEE (11,025) 70,616
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FR e LRI EEY 385,516 317,959
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes TR L (4,225) (3,059)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRESRASEEY 370,266 385516
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEYIN
Cash and cash equivalents Re MREEEY 370,266 385,516
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

126

GENERAL INFORMATION

Forgame Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 26 July 201 | as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is at the offices of Osiris
International Cayman Limited, Suite #4-210, Governors Square, 23 Lime
Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 32311, Grand Cayman KY[-1209, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit
6, |/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The address of the headquarters is Room | 106, Block A
Phase |, Innovation Technology Plaza, Tianan Digital City, Chegongmiao,
Futian District, Shenzhen, China. The Company's shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in developing
and publishing domestic and overseas webgames and mobile games (the
"“Game Business”) and trading of electronic device and semiconductor (the
“Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business”) in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The details of principal activities of its subsidiaries

are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs™) that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on | January
2021. IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™);
International Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior

years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs but is not yet
in a position to state whether these new and revised IFRSs would have a

material impact on its results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by International Accounting Standards
Board, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules")
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by investments which

are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 3|
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant

activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise

that right.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date

the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation

FESErVE.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the

Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised

directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the

acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain

on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the

purpose of impairment testing.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and liabilities at the

acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder's intention and financial ability to

exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together
with the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in

consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Associates (Cont'd)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the

profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group'’s share
of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained

interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

ETEERBE(E)

BN w (&)
AEEEGEHERARNBBRENKERRE
PHEET R MERGNKERFEEZHA
REHRERBTER - R UBREFRERE
MEREEFLHE  EAKEEREBHE QRN
EREENIEBENBERARANER(BEER
H SRR ENFIE)E  AEE T SERE
FER  BFRAKRERRZBEQRAERE
HAT KBRS - il s DB EREFZEN - A
7N 5% B 0 L R A ) B R RE BB MY FE A B 1R A
Fi& - DEEFEREEEGDN o

ALEBLARMERKREEAZE N RS
SHERE () HEREN R FEMRZE LR FME
AR BB 1R B B X (B B (if) AR 52 B JE A5 52 B 2
REEFENEZBE AR EHENEMABKTRE
ERENERARINENERBZHNEZE -
fHREE RARNREK BN A ERAINKRE -
AIASREREERMAER L  BTEENTE
RE M o

AEEREENRETRZNARE T E MR
AEBERBERRIMES T UHE - REREB
BREHH  RIEZXXFIBEREBEBRTHMERE
ECHBRE - BEF - BERFNEEER

BEHEE - URERMAEBERANBE K

ERERERAT FEHRE202 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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~F+-A=t-ALLER

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollars (“US$"). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (*“RMB”),
which is the Company's presentation currency and the
functional currency of the principal operating subsidiaries
of the Group. The directors consider that choosing RMB
as the presentation currency best suits the needs of the

shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at

the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(©

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company's
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s

presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange

rates on the transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the

exchange RESERVES

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain

or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

TEEFEEE
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W) KRR RAHTE JOREB RS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

REKNNEERZEBBENRREENRE
ARERARNKEAZB R WA ETE
B ABRENREERERS BB
BE(IER) FMAEMBHEERRERETRE
EHHIRE RS PR -

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item i3
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit

or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

1) 2 T R AR DA B AROK 1R TR DA 8H L X S ORL R £
EBEMNLE  REATERFHAENE -

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates

sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the

134

estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful LRMEAFHRIOT

lives are as follows:

Fumiture and office equipment 5 years NS NS 54

Servers and other equipment 3 - 5 years P 75 28 K2 EL th 2% s 3ES5F

Motor vehicles 5 years B 54F

VR Game facilities 3 -5 years VR % 3ES5F

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of estimated HEYELEE b T Al AR S R
useful lives or remaining terms FleRA AP ERE &

of the lease

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.
The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount

of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Properties 20% — 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the

remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in

the period in which is it incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SO SRR M AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021

=

3.

ECE-#1ZA=t-HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Computer software licenses

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, and recorded in amortisation within operating expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Game intellectual properties and licenses
Game intellectual properties and licenses are initially recorded at
cost. These intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis

over their estimate useful lives (ranged from 2 to 5 years).

Technology and backlog acquired in business combinations

Technology and backlog acquired in business combinations are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost). These intangible assets are amortised on

a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, as follows:

Technology 8 years
Backlog 6-11 months
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to

the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

ETEERBE(E)

BRRKLEEIAEHMIA
TREELTBABBRAKBEKRATAGOK
XHETRITTR - RMEIRRRER -

BEREEWRRERENSOEMEER K
SEEREERBRNBAN SRR N @ HE
B dASEYBEEBMREEEREENEX
BB B K B 3R 18 2 R AR B 3 8 B WO FR )4
HEREESRLEER RNRLIEASHEE
B AERAEEEKRAELMAZENIES
R -

ERABAANTEEETEER  BUEHE
o BlERBERKLEER - RIEERNSE
BEREEEENREZFANEZEN IR E

e

TREE

HIREA NIRFREBR B AT HEMAE AR
NBASHLEEE @ MeREERRXSAHE
EERANKILER  YRAFEMNEREGER

ZRENFER - R AFEFABRENRE
AIERSN - BN FEF ABRNIRE B EARE
B2 5 B AR BB P 25 R RERR

ERERERAT FEHRE202 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. FEEHBERAE

Financial assets (Cont'd) SREEE)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the following REESREEDFAUTER

categories:

= Financial assets at amortised cost; = RERKATAENEREE

- Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive - BATFEFAEMEEA RGN ERRE
income; and P53

= Investments at fair value through profit or loss. = BRATEFABZNKRE -

(a)  Financial assets at amortised cost (a) HEBSALTEBHETHEE
Financial assets are classified under this category if they MERMEERE N NMEHE - AIHEALSD
satisfy both of the following conditions: £
—  the assets are held within a business model whose - NEOAFEEENBREGNE

objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual MENEBEAFENEE &

cash flows; and

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on = BES NIRRT B BE £
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments RAERKRERREFEMRAIR
of principal and interest on the principal amount EME °

outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ZEEAEHZERERF EEREARKARE
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected HEABENEERESS -

credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

(b)

(©

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for

trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the other
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative
gains or losses previously accumulated in the other reserve

are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part

of the cost of the investment.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value

through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of
any interest income and dividend income. Interest income

and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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3.

140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a

default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade and loan receivables, or if the
credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly

since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the
expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within |2 months after the

reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or

loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in

value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at

least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business

practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is

satisfied over time if:

= the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the

benefits provided by the Group's performance;

= the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;

or

= the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to

date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control

of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to

receive payment are established.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group, the
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary

acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs when the

operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, which comprises:

= The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;

and

= The gain or loss recognised on the disposal group constituting

the discontinued operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave is recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of

the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are

not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan and other defined contribution social security plans
organised by relevant government authorities in the PRC
on a monthly basis. Employees of the Group in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered and operated by the local municipal
government. The Group contributes funds which are calculated
on a fixed percentage of the employees’ salary (subject to
a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees. The government authorities undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations payable and other social
security payables to all existing and future retired employees
under these plans and the Group has no further obligation
beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these plans
are expensed as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and
managed by government authorities and are separate from

those of the Group.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring

costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payment

The Group operates the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) scheme (“RSU Scheme™) which
is an equity-settled share-based compensation plan under which
share awards are granted to certain employees as part of their

remuneration packages.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the share-based awards is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the share-based awards granted:

= including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions; and

= including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Share-based payment (Cont'd)

At the end of reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of share-based awards that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during

the period between service commencement period and grant date.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they

are intended to compensate.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax

assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purpose of allocating resources and

assessing the performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. FESTBEAE)
Related parties B
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. Bk REAEREEEAMNATHES o
(@) A person or a close member of that person's family is (@) fWEBLATAL @ BIZALSEZ AR
related to the Group if that person: iy SEIPS )
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; ()  PEEISEREIARER
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAEBAEBEATE 3
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) ARARAXAARFEAFTNEEE
Company or of a parent of the Company. BEAB -
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) fWfFEATEERY - NEBEANEES
conditions applies: BB
(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same () %EBEARIER-—SEHNKE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and ARI(BIEBATR - WEBARRMEB
fellow subsidiary is related to the others). NEE L E A ) o
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (ihy —HERBRS—EBNBEQAIK
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of BERNF(HE—BERBRBKERAN
a group of which the other entity is a member). SEETKERARNBE AT HE
—/NCIDIC
(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (i MEEBHRA-—F=Z=THEER
") o
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy " HERBRE=ZFEBNEGZED
other entity is an associate of the third entity. Al ME—ERARZE=HERN
kNI
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZEBANSBEEREEE HH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity WERMES &SR ZHEERET
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a FTE o MASEEARN S AZEE - Al
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the REEBRETFEAEEF A -

Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Related parties (Contd)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Cont'd)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to

the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
goodwill, deferred tax assets, investments, inventories and
receivables to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time

value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in

which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Impairment of assets (Cont'd)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless

the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors

have made the following judgements that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

()

Contractual Arrangements

The Group's Game Business is carried out through several
domestic operating companies, incorporated in the PRC,
namely Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd.
(BEM BB BB R AR, “Weidong”), Guangzhou Feiyin
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (BMIESEERIEER
A 7], “Feiyin"), and Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co., Ltd.
(BINEEFHEBR QA “lieyou”). Mr. Wang Dongfeng,
Mr. Huang Weibing, Mr. Liao Dong, Mr. Yang Tao and Mr.
Zhuang Jieguang (collectively as the “Founders”) are their
respective legal shareholders. And the Group’s Internet
Micro-credit Business is also carried out through several
domestic operating companies, incorporated in the PRC,
namely Jiujiang Yunke Information Technology Consulting
Co., Ltd. (NIMEREEEMBRBR A, "Yunke").
Those domestic operating companies are collectively defined

as the "PRC Operational Entities” thereafter.

Pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are restricted from conducting value-added
telecommunications services or holding equity interest in an
entity conducting such services in China. In order to enable
investments be made into the Group’'s Game Business and
Internet Micro-credit Business, the Company established a
subsidiary, Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology Co., Ltd.
(BEMIEBM AR B R DR, “Feidong”) which is wholly

foreign owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

(i

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

Feidong has entered into a series of contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with the PRC Operational
Entities and their respective equity holders, which enable

Feidong and the Company to:

exercise effective financial and operational control over

the PRC Operational Entities;

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the PRC
Operational Entities;

receive substantially all of the economic interest
returns generated by the PRC Operational Entities in
consideration for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by Feidong, at Feidong’s

discretion;

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
the entire equity interest in the PRC Operational
Entities from the respective equity holders. The right
automatically renews upon expiry until Feidong specify

a renewal term;

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of
the PRC Operational Entities from their respective
equity holders as collateral security for all of the PRC
Operational Entities’ payments due to Feidong, and to
secure performance of the PRC Operational Entities’

obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Ciritical judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

()

Contractual Arrangements (Cont'd)

The Company does not have any equity interest in the PRC
Operational Entities. However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Company has rights to variable returns
from its involvement with the PRC Operational Entities and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the PRC Operational Entities and is considered to control
the PRC Operational Entities. Consequently, the Company
regards the PRC Operational Entities as consolidated
structured entities under IFRSs. The Group has included the
financial position and results of the PRC Operational Entities
in the consolidated financial statements. The corresponding
net assets of Weidong, Feiyin and Jieyou included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company amounted
to RMB28,784,000, RMBI159,306,000 and RMB3,420,000

respectively, as at 31 December 2021.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over the PRC Operational Entities and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could
impede the Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of the PRC Operational Entities. However, The
directors of the Company, based on the advice of its legal
advisor, consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are

legally binding and enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are discussed below.

(@)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade, loan
and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification
of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the trade, loan and other receivables and doubtful
debt expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to

make payments, additional allowances may be required.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-T-_-F+-A=t-BLEE
4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Contd) 4. BRAKRETEMGE(E)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) HHTRERZENEERR(E)
(b)  Impairment assessment of non-financial assets (b) FZEEENBETFG
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered AEEBFARBEESRE - BESH
any impairment. Other non-financial assets, mainly including S 15 50 B R U AT B MDA I [0 B 3F € Rl
property and equipment, other intangible assets and right-of- BEFZEREMERRE  HMERSE
use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or EARGREEE)NREMER @&
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount ERETRERS - AAlEERETRER
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have BEEEIAFEBIEEXNLRETE © 7%
been determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair EHHETEREE R A R o
value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of
judgments and estimates.
Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted EERENGEELMAEZERIFEE
in the valuation models for impairment review purpose. e - EEREERTEREMERY
Changing the assumptions selected by management in BREUBEZERBEIANER  Bf
assessing impairment could materially affect the result of the FEAREENM BN REEEE -
impairment test and as a result affect the Group'’s financial
condition and results of operations.
(¢)  Allowance for slow-moving inventories (c) HHFERE
Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the TIHTEBREDRBETENRE REFTE
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The RFEEDL - T EBEE D KA R
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and e WA BN ERAERERRMES TR -
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different FHREZEG ARG ENEHRENE
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the ERmAERBHBSE BEBES
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back 2.
in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of
the Group entities. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, trade and other receivables, and loan receivables
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to the Group's financial assets.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash are limited because the counterparties are reputable
financial institutions in the PRC and reputable international
financial institutions outside of the PRC. There has been
no recent history of default in relation to these financial

institutions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_%——

58

158

ER=H=t—HLLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

For loan receivables, in order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has established policies and systems for monitoring
and control of credit risk. The management has delegated
different divisions responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring processes to
ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

amounts of loan and interest collectively at each reporting

In addition, management reviews the recoverable

date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade receivables, a significant portion of trade receivables
at the end of the year was due from game platforms. If
the strategic relationship with the platforms is terminated
or scaled-back; or if the platforms alter the co-operative
arrangements; or if they experience financial difficulties in
paying the Group, the Group’s receivables might be adversely
affected in terms of recoverability. To manage this risk, the
Group assesses the credit quality of the platforms, taking into
account their financial position, past trading and payment

experience and other factors.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement records
and past experience. The Directors believe that there is
no material credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding

balance of other receivables.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period by comparing the risk of
a default occurring as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking

information. Especially the following information is used:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

= internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (if available);

= actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the

borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

= actual or expected significant changes in the operating

results of the borrower;

= significant changes in the value of the collateral or in

the quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the

payment status of borrowers.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 365 days
past due. Where loans or receivables have been written
off, the Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the

receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loan
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and adjusts

for forward looking data.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-ZTZ

58

160

~F+-A=t-ALLER

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

B E B EE(F

(b)

FERRE)

Category Definition Loss provision

2 EE EERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay [2 month expected losses
Rif RE AR K58 X A BE ) 121 A YEHME &8
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses
TR ERREBRARE N BEFEMERERER

All of these loans are considered to have low risk and under
the ‘Performing’ category because they have a low risk of

default and have strong ability to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term. All of the Group's financial

liabilities are due within one year.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially

independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its
bank deposits and bank borrowings. These deposits and
borrowings bear interests at variable rates varied with
the then prevailing market condition. The directors of the
Company consider that the changes in interest rates of bank
balances have no significant impact to the Group due to the
low interest rates and short-term maturities and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented for bank balances and bank

borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 5. MERKREREE)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December (e) MT=-ZA=+—HWEMIASE
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTT
Financial assets: SREE:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss: & AFEFT ABmMLE :
Mandatorily measured SRHETE 2,000 75,855
Equity investments at fair value through other & A F(EFT AE AL 2 EKEAY
comprehensive income REFIRE 34,873 80,482
Financial assets at amortised cost RSN AT EN S REE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEAeKESEEY) 471,936 426,638
Financial liabilities: LRIBE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB ENSREE 36,103 49,292
(f)  Fair values ( RAFE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and EHVBERARIIRRAEBENESREE
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement RemaERABEEAZENATER
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. e
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

6.

162

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to

measure fair value:

Level | inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level | that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd) 6. ATEIFEE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December: @ RTZA=1+—HB®AFEERRNE
5%

Fair value measurements using: Total

AT 5 RIENATPERE Bt

Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2021

i FE—R FR F=H/K ZE-—-F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETRT AR¥®TR AR®TxT

Recurring fair value measurements:  EEMAFEE :
Equity investments at fair value through & A EFT AEM 2 HE

other comprehensive income Was R IE
Private equity investments FLEERIRE - 10,000 24,873 34,873
Investments at fair value through profit 1ZAF(EFF ABZRA
or loss wE
Wealth investment product IREIE M 2,000 - - 2,000
Total recurring fair value REMENTETE
measurements WaE 2,000 10,000 24,873 36,873
Fair value measurements using: Total
EATISEN R FERE #Et
Description Level | Level 2 Level 3 2021
it F—& FoM E=H —T-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARKETT ARBTRT ARETT AR®BTR
Recurring fair value measurements:  &RFE A FEE :
Equity investments at fair value through & A EFT AEMEHE
other comprehensive income Wi R &
Private equity investments FLEERIRE = 4,000 76,482 80,482
Investments at fair value through profit 1ZAFEFT AB=EA
or loss RE
Listed equity securities in PRC P s
BeBzs 57,065 = = 57,065
Listed equity securities in HK BB TR
BeEzs 8,490 = = 8,490
Listed national debt reverse B EmBEE
repurchase in PRC ek 10,300 = = 10,300
Total recurring fair value REMATEFELE
measurements 75,855 4,000 76,482 156,337
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Contd) 6. ATEFEE
(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value (b) BUFE=RREENRAFEFENEER
based on level 3: BEHEK
Equity investments
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income
ROFEFAHAM
2HKRENERRE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At | January 2021 R-E-_—F—H—H 76,482
Total gains or losses recognised B RIS SEEER
in profit or loss (note (i)) 8 s (FTEEG)) -
in other comprehensive income REMZEE (8,142)
Settlements ©E (43,467)
At 31 December 2021 R-FE_—+-H=+—H 24,873

Note (i Include gains or losses for assets held at end of MEE() RREHARABEEESH
g
reporting period Gt EE -
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)
(b)  Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value

based on level 3: (Cont'd)

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

6. ANFEIE(E)
(b) TUB=HR/ABEEHNR
BEHER (&)

FEHBRNEER

Equity
investments
Investments at fair value
Derivative at fair value  through other
financial through profit or  comprehensive
instrument loss income Total
BEATFERA
BEATEGA  Et2EE
TTHEEMIA AR E HERIRE 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TF T ARETFT ARETTT AR®ETTT
At | January 2020 N\—ZEZTF—HA—H 80,200 797 45,195 126,192
Total gains or losses recognised B HERFIS e EIEEEE
in profit or loss (note (i)) Wiga (FIEEG)) (6,200) (797) (6997)
in other comprehensive income  FELA 2 E & - - 31,287 31,287
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (74,000) = - (74,000)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z_ZFF+-_H=1—H - - 76482 76,482
Note (i) Include gains or MEE() EEREIMAMEEEN
losses for assets held FEEE
at end of reporting N/A N/A
period TEA i - -
The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive REM 2 EKRERERN A S EiEEER
income are presented in changes in fair value of equity NEEAEMEEAKREZNERIEENAD

investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting period
are presented in other gains-net and loss from discontinued
operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

FESH27) -

RESERNMNESHEEEAREEREH
RAAFEENFGHER - HTRaHER
KEA 2 E KR AR A RS FEME 1
REEXBBEEPZED -
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HE-ZTZ

6.

166

~F+-A=t-ALLER

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)

(©)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements
at 31 December 2021:

The Group's chief financial officer is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial officer reports directly to
the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the chief financial officer and the Board of Directors

at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a team
that manages the valuation exercise of level 3 financial
instruments for financial reporting purposes. The team
manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a case-
by-case basis. At least twice every year, the team would
use valuation techniques to determine the fair value of the
Group's level 3 financial instruments. External valuation

experts will be involved when necessary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

6. AVEFEGE)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)

(©)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements
at 3|1 December 2021: (Cont'd)

Level 2 fair value measurements

(0 RZEZ—F+ZA=+—BAKEFMHA
HERFARAFEFEMAEERN R

BABRA R © ()
E-RATEIE

Fair value
AVME
Description Valuation technique  Inputs 2021
Fiipus fhER M BARE —B-—F
RMB’000
AR®BT
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BRAFEF AR B2 KRS ERRE
Private equity investments cost approach investment cost 10,000
MEERRE A RERA
Fair value
AFME
Description Valuation technique  Inputs 2020
SEp fh{E R BABE —T-TF
RMB'000
AR¥TTT
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BAFE AR LA KENERRE
Private equity investments cost approach investment cost 4,000

NEEERE

PRAE

REKA

ERERERAT FEHRE202 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SO SRR M AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-E-_-—&+-A=+—HItEE

6.

168

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Cont'd)

()

6. AFEFE(E
R-E-_—F+-_A=+—BAEEAHH

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and (c)

valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements

at 3|1 December 2021: (Cont'd)

Level 3 fair value measurements

ER AR A T B A A E R R
WABE OB ()
E=RATENE

Effect on fair
value for increase

Fair value

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs
AP(E
P b ERM TURESABE HEYE HAFENYE —T--F
RMB’000
AR®TR
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BAFER AR L2EKER
SR E
Private equity investments Market comparable Lack of marketability 40%-50% Decrease 24,873
approach discount
MDA TELEE REmSRBMETR By
Effect on fair
value for increase Fair value
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs RYHE
LIPN 6 8-l 2020
fast e E R TAEEHAHE HEFE HATENTE _—T-TF
RMB'000
AR¥TTT
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BAHER ARL2E KR
ERRE
Private equity investments Market comparable Lack of marketability 40% Decrease 76,482
approach discount
MDA MHLLEOA Rz mSRE TR B
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's business activities, for which discrete financial statements are
available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company that make strategic

decisions.

In 2021, the Group ceased the operation of intemet micro-credit business
(“Internet Micro-credit Business”). Information about the discontinued
operations is set out in Note 2. During the year, the CODM reassessed
the performance and operation of the Group and concluded that the

Group has two operating segments as follows:

- Game Business; and

- Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
mainly based on segment revenue, and adjusted earnings before interest
expense, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“adjusted EBITDA"™)
excluding share of loss of associates and gain on dilution of investment in

an associate, of each operating segment.

Specifically, the revenues from external customers reported to CODM
are measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue derived from the
customers in each segment. In addition, adjusted EBITDA excludes the
effects of significant items of income and expenditure which may have an
impact on the assessment of operating segments’ results, primarily with
respect to equity-settled share-based payments, investment- related gains

or losses and non-recurring event.

Other information, together with the segment information, provided to
the CODM, is measured in a manner consistent with that applied in these
consolidated financial statements. There were no separate segment assets
and segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as CODM
does not use this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the

performance of the operating segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

=

7.

170

ECR At A=t ALEFRE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 7.
The segment information from continuing operations provided to the

Group’s CODM for the reportable segments for the years ended 3|

WARDEBER (&
MO 2RO BANEE T ERLERKERERN
HE-_ZT_-_—GFR-_ZT_TF+_-_A=+—H

December 202 | and 2020 is as follows: IEFERHEREEBNSHEHAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
(Restated)
(#&=71))
Revenue from continuing operations FERSEEBRHBA
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEAIMA
Game Business TEEL TS 18,244 29,781
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business & 24 L B fE 2 75 123,892 23,779
Total revenue FEI N 142,136 53,560
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations B8 & 23 F & FEEBITDA
Game Business i (11,315) (28,105)
Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business & F & M - B B2 27K (5,837) 1,003
Share of loss of associates FE(hEs & N F)E1E (5,263) (6,043)
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate S —fEIHE & A BRI EEEE A 8,995 815
Total adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations #3548 4% & 275 A 48 JH B EBITDA RSB (13,420) (32,330)
Adjusted EBITDA reconciles to profit/(loss) RAEEBITDAR IS E K& KM
before income tax from continuing operations BRETSBANEF, (&2 ) B iR
as follows: mE
Total adjusted EBITDA from continuing AR ER R EEBITDA
operations FEE L] (13,420) (32,330)
Net interest income B Was F R 1,410 997
Depreciation and amortisation e R (1,902) (6,758)
Share-based compensation LARR 1R BETERN BN E | (541)
Changes in the value of investments at fair value 1EZAF(EFT AB=AEREEE
through profit or loss =) - 383
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments at fair value (! &z A FEFT ABRAIEE
through profit or loss mlkas (E518) 20,787 (1,132)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary I — M B A R R Es e (1,106) -
Dividends received from investments at fair value WEUZAF(EFT AIBRAIRE
through profit or loss HIRR 1,139 =
Reversal of impairment of other receivables on %8 — & & A Bl E £ K E A
disposal of investment in an associate JRE W R TR R (B 4 [a] 27,500 =
Fair value change of share consideration payable FEfARA B AT (EE (2,792) 1,470
Profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing 4R & EIE KRR FTEHAT
operations F, (E1R) 31,617 37911
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Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) WARDEER(F)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWADH
Geographical information: WEER :
2021 2020
—B-—fF “TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETT
Continuing operations SFELEETS
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TBEEES) 108,996 46010
Other regions Efthith[= 33,140 7,550
142,136 53,560
Discontinued operations BRI TS
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(TEEES) - 3,827
142,136 57,387

The Group also conducts operations in Hong Kong and other region.
The geographical information on the non-current assets (other than
investments in associates, equity investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income and deferred tax assets) is as follows:

REBETREERHMEEITEE - IR
HEENBREM(RNBEERRNKRE  BAF
B ARMEERENEERERREREE
ERINEINWT :

2021 2020
B —E B4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT

Non-current assets EMEEE
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FE(NRIEES) 27,328 25,407
Hong Kong BB 33,734 20
61,062 25,427
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARSBER(E)
Timing of revenue recognition: WA R
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Continuing operations FHECE TS
At a point in time NSk 132,331 38227
Over time R—BRERER 9,805 15,333
Discontinued operations RIS TS 142,136 53,560
At a point in time NSk - 3,827
142,136 57,387
Revenue from major customers: REFEEZEFHWA :

Revenue from major customers individually accounting for 10% or more

ERIREEBEFNBAGRKRAZRLER

of total revenue is as follows: 10%EAT :
2021 2020
—EC—F T TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Customer A (sales of electronic device and BEAYES TR Ee)
semiconductor)(Note) (HIEE) 28.392 B
Customer B (sales of electronic device and BEFBUHES TFRERFERE)
semiconductor) 23,593 7,827
Note: Customer A in 2020 does not meet the threshold of revenue over 10%. Mzt RCE_TEEFARETNRAER 0% TR

& -
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For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARSIER(E)
Revenue recognition LON
HERBEERFEK

Webgame and Mobile Game Business

Game Product

The Group provides game product development services
through game platforms, which are either selfowned or

operated by third parties.

The Group’s games are free-to-play and players can pay for
virtual items for better in-game experience. Players purchase
game credits (“Paying Players”) through the platform’s
charging system and use the game credits to exchange in-
game virtual items. Paying Players usually exchange their
game credits for the virtual items shortly after purchases. The
monetary value of the virtual items sold is shared between
the Group and the platforms, which is pre-determined
in revenue sharing arrangements (“Revenue Sharing
Arrangements”) enacted between the Group and each of
the platforms. The platforms collect the payments made by
Paying Players and remit the cash to the Group according to

the Revenue Sharing Arrangements.

Upon the sales of virtual items, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the service which enables the
virtual items to be displayed and consumed in the respective
games. As a result, the proceeds from the sales of virtual
items are initially recorded in deferred revenue and are then
recognised as revenue subsequently only when the services
have been rendered either upon consumption or ratably
over the average playing period of Paying Players (“Player

Relationship Period”).

2 B4 S A

AEEEBERTA(AARE=HTA)
1R U RLE R BB IRTS -

AEBNERHAREED  IRATRB
BEEREAENREHHERER - TR
TRBTANKERGBEERRE (N
BHIR]) o N R LA R B B B
BR  -NEGRBEEEEERAKED
ABMAMBENRESRIUERER - 1
EERBEEANBERTEBEFTERE -
HEMAKBEESET 6 MHENRAR
ERB(TRARZREDRLEE - F&
Yo £ F 5 B B 3R S AN O IR QAR SR 2K
FREHERRESERTAKE -

REEERBARR NGB —REFEAE
REA < ERE RN ER P BRILF A
FRENRBOMEEE - Bt - HEEHB
BEEENMEFRAKIFARLTERA @ X
B H B A B IR M F 19 15 B B
(MR BAR AT AR |) 4R L 52 (48 B AR
B2 &I A HERREA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-ZT--F+-A=t-BIt5E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARSBER(E)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd) WATRR (&)
Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd) HWERBEFERER (&)
—  Game Product (Cont'd) PERE m ()

174

For the purposes of determining when services have been
rendered to the respective Paying Players, the Group has

determined the following:

(i)  Consumable virtual items represent items that will be
extinguished shortly after consumption by a specific
game player action. The Paying Players will not
continue to benefit from the virtual items thereafter.
Revenue is recognised (as a release from deferred

revenue) when items are consumed.

(i)  Durable virtual items represent items that are
accessible and beneficial to Paying Players over an
extended period of time. Revenue is recognised ratably
over the average Player Relationship Period, which
represents the best estimates of the average life of

durable virtual items for the applicable game.

The Group determines the Player Relationship Period on a
game-by-game and platform-by-platform basis by tracking the
player data, such as log-in data and purchase/consumption
records. If there is insufficient player data to determine the
Player Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly
launched game, it estimates the Player Relationship Period
based on other similar types of games of the Group or
third-party developers, taking into account the game profile,
target audience and its appeal to Paying Players of different
demographic groups, until the new game establishes its own
history, which is normally up to |2 months after launch. The

Group re-assesses such periods semi-annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. WARDSBER(E)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd) WATRR (&)

Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd) HWERBEFERER (&)
Game Product (Cont'd) PERLE m ()

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities in
the delivery of game experience to the Paying Players and
concluded that the Group takes the primary responsibilities
in the game product service. The Group is determined to
be the primary obligor and reports gross revenue. Due to
the fact that the third party platforms may offer various
marketing discounts from time to time to Paying Players,
the actual prices paid by any individual paying player may be
lower than the standard prices of virtual items purchased,
with the balance being subsidised by the platforms,
accordingly, the Group has to attempt to make a reasonable
estimation for the gross revenue amount through tracking

third party platforms’ marketing activities.

Nevertheless, for the Group’s webgames which are published
through a large number of domestic third party platforms,
since those platforms would offer various market discounts
to Paying Players, it is difficult for the Group to make a
reasonable estimation for the gross revenue, as such, the
Group reports revenue to the extent of the amounts
received and receivable from those domestic third party

platforms under the Revenue Sharing Arrangements.

However, if the Group is able to make a reasonable estimate
of the gross revenue for some of webgames published on
certain reputable international platforms, such as Facebook,
and for the Group’s mobile games published through various
mobile platforms, the related revenue is recognised on a

gross basis.

The Group also derives revenue from licensing and technical
support services on a game-by-game basis. Licensing revenue
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the respective
licensing periods. Technical support revenue is recognised

when the services are rendered.

AEECHEAERANBEIFIERERER
BREPEENAE RAENETETT
i - YRHARBEAEBEERREBIET
AEEFERIMNGR -  ARERBE/SE
RETAREELE2RABA - F=7F5&
TRANETRREZELHTN  F
it - T BN B DT R PSS R B R B AR
HERBEEFERNREER - MAH
BEEHTEmEE o AW AEBERAEE!
BEME=TTFENLHEBHMFTEK
AZRETRIRME -

Brib 2o - IRARE 2 BABEREBR
ZERNE=FE%EM MERZEFE
FRNETREHRSBEHETN - A&H
B RN ETRIBMEE - B AEE
EBZWACHERRBRARZLHE
ZEEANE =TV W EWFHIE -

Am - REXERETANZBERERY &1
Facebook) M) M A EE: » ARBBE
BESTABRMNAEEBREDER @ WE
RE BB R A ML SR AE - BIAE
WA RBRRREERER -

AR ER (B IR A 5 SR B M BB D S % R 7S
REVEA » BIEWARE B HRERRIR
BEARRHER o Bl TR U AR 148 B AR
BRRER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. BWARSBER(E
Revenue recognition (Cont'd) WATRR (&)
Webgame and Mobile Game Business (Cont'd) HWERBEFERER (&)
—  Game Platform EEF &

176

The Group provides game platform service through
cooperation with game developers to Paying Players. The
Group publishes its self-developed and third party games on
its platform. As described in above, the games are free-to-
play and players can pay for in-game virtual items for better

in-game experience.

The Group's Game Platform revenue mainly derives from
Revenue Sharing Arrangements (details described in above)
from game developers. The games published on self-owned
platform are hosted, maintained and updated by the game
developers, and the Group mainly provides access to the
platform and certain basic and limited after-sale technical
support to the Paying Players. The Group has evaluated
and determined it is not the primary obligor in the services
rendered to the Paying Players as a platform. Accordingly,
the Group records its revenue, net of the portion of sharing

of revenues with the game developers.

The Group believes that it has an implied obligation to
the game developers; which corresponds to the implied
obligation of the game developers’ to provide the services
to game players to enable the virtual items to be displayed
and consumed/used in the games. Given that games are
hosted, managed and administered by the game developers,
the Group does not have access to the data relating to the
consumption details; as well as the types of virtual items
being purchased by the Paying Players. However, the Group
maintains individual Paying Player's purchase history of game
credits which are used for exchange for virtual items. As
such, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenues
for both consumable and durable items exchanged by game
credits over the Player Relationship Period (details described

in above) on a game-by-game basis.

Paying Players make payments through various online and
mobile payment channels, which in turn charge handling fees
at a certain percentage on the gross purchase amounts. The

Group recorded the charges in “cost of revenue”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business

The Group sells electronic device and semiconductor to the
customers. Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to a customer,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained legal

titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of |5 to
90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be

required. Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

KARDEBER(F)
W AR (&)
BEFRERFEREE

AEERNEFHEEFTRERFER - #HED
EnZfEREERER  NERERXNE
F  THEEAEZETFEREMNRETE
% BREFPERRSEREEMERZE

=

HEFPHHE —REH-ISEIORNEEH  #
EFARFEEAMTXERGTH - EWET £
ERRAHAE -

EUEFERERINEFLEER @ WEEKE
RAEGENERR  ARENRIHER

REFERBRA

OTHER INCOME H e 55
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECTE
RMB’000 RMRB'000
ARBTT ARETT
(Restated)
(fe&51))
Govemment grants AT HEED 751 |,764
Interest revenue F B e 1,628 446
Others HAotb 30 224
2,409 24
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

ek

178

OTHER GAINS — NET 9. HMREBFE
2021 2020
—F-—fF —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT
(Restated)
(r8&71))
Loss on disposals of property and equipment i E W R REEE (16) (50)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BE X (E518),Was F5E (763) 891
Fair value (loss)/gain of share consideration FERBRORERNAFE(ER) K
payable = (2,792) 1,470
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary T —HENB A RN EE (1,106) =
Fair value gain on investments at fair value BRATEFTABRNRENATE
through profit or loss Was - 383
Dividends received from investments at fair value WEUZ A F(ERT ABmARE AR
through profit or loss B 1,139 =
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate  H—fEIE & A B AR B #E WS 8,995 815
5,457 3509
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Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

10. FINANCE COST B3 B A
2021 2020
—F-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated)
(#s=51)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAEFNSMAX 175 15
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEFF B 43 =
218 15
Il.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE FreBBx
2021 2020
—E-—F —EC-TE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARETT
(Restated)
(#s=351)
Current tax — PRC and oversea BVEAT 18 — A B J2 /B I ZEFT 1S A
enterprise income tax 36 262

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman

Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Hong
Kong is provided at 8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2,000,000, and
the applicable tax rate is 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over
HK$2,000,000 based on the assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

ARFRREASFESARERRAEHSEMMK
YRERRERAR - WRLLERRHMNFES
BEMEH -

REBEZE—TE-_—FF-_FT_ZTF+-_A=+—
HIEFE  AEBBEBRBEAEBNMESHEE
ThE R ERTLE FETHE - & 2,000,000 7T 49 FE
SR M IR 8.25% K B AT - MR 82,000,000
VST HY R FERR TR FIEB 2 AR B AT X 16.5%
AR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

180

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in

Taiwan is provided at 20% on assessable profits (2020: 19%).

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the
PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the assessable profits for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, based on the existing

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd. (RIITH T EHE X
fiT PR A F]) (“Shenzhen Xingyun”) was qualified as High and New
Technology Enterprises” (“HNTEs") under PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Law (“EIT Law") in 2020. Thus, the applicable tax rate was 15% for the
year ended 3| December 2021.

Besides HNTEs, Shenzhen Xingyun was qualified as a small low-
profit enterprise (“SLPE”) in 2020. According to the relevant laws and
regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC that became
effective from 2019 onwards, the applicable tax rate was 20% for the
SLPE. For the SLPE of annual taxable income that is less than or equal to
RMB,000,000, the effective taxable income is calculated based on 25% of
the annual taxable income. For the SLPE of annual taxable income that is
over RMB,000,000 and less than or equal to RMB3,000,000, the effective
taxable income is calculated based on 50% of the annual taxable income.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, Shenzhen Xingyun calculated its

income tax as SLPE due to the preferential tax treatment.

According to the relevant EIT Laws jointly promulgated by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC, State Tax Bureau of the PRC, and Ministry of
Science of the PRC that became effective from 2018 onwards, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
175% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that

year (“‘Super Deduction”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed
by a company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect
to profits derived after | January 2008 are generally subject to a 10%
PRC withholding tax. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant

withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

No deferred income tax liability has been recognised in respect of WHT
on the undistributed earnings of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC as those PRC subsidiaries with foreign immediate parent are all
with accumulated losses (i.e. without any distributable earnings) as of 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The tax on the Group's profit/(loss) before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable

to profit/(loss) of the consolidated entities as follows:

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

FreBimxk (&

BEEANFREBBEER  RABEKZHRF
HZTTN\F— A — B 2% BEAFE @ E S
TEE DRI BB BN 0% BTN -
MR B BEMEILAEINEEEFEFRHES
BRI RS ST ISENTHEB TORGREE -
A1 A8 B FE B B 2= A8 | 0% P& 5% ©

1 4 72 7R B AR A SZ BV B B 8 B oK 2 Tk & R
WEINHERTAECEHAEHAE  ERAZ
SHEMEAREREGIEBIAREE S
T FR-ZFZTEFET_A=+—HHER
ZEER (AN EE M D IRAF) °

HEAERARAMHERNERN (BER)OEE
BMEFESHNEREBE TR NKBE R
SHaaEs (BR)BRNHENAT

2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT
(Restated)
(#8=&35)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATSBIAIE R, (E518) 31,617 (37911)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rates REANE R ERENEHERR
applicable to profit/(loss) of the consolidated wm Al (B518) B ATE FTS B R 5t
entities in their respective jurisdictions HrFiA 6,625 (8/423)
Tax effects of: THRENRBEE
Preferential income tax rates applicable to
subsidiaries HRARHE R AR EBAERE (814) (312)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &) F 5C B AR TERR < T IEE5 18 (2,986) (984)
Tax losses and timing differences for which no  RIERELEFTIS A ER TR IBEE
deferred income tax asset was recognised =R 12,343 10,008
Tax effect of (income not taxable)/ expense not (T FEFHA), /T AIFFF X &
deductible, net Bibvs 7 Jest| (14,523) Q7)
Super Deduction hNEtIBR (609) =
Income tax expense PSR 2 36 262
EEERERAR FEHEs0 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

12.  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 12, ALK&
The Group's profit/(loss) for the year is stated after (charging)/crediting REEHR) AN TEERZIRE AN &
the following: A, ()
2021 2020
— —ToFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated)
(#s=351)
Loss of discontinued operation — Intemet Micro- 4% |EAT & 3275 E518 — 4848/ NEEEL X
credit Business ¥ (14,056) (13,105)
Loss of discontinued operation — Beijing Xigua — #%1E4C & R EE — b AN - (28,096)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation - SR EA R I — bR
Beijing Xigua Jiis - 24,234
- (3.862)
(14,056) (16967)
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Cont'd)

@

In December 2016, the Group obtained a license to carry out
Internet Micro-credit Business from the government and thereafter
commenced the operation of the Group's internet micro-credit
service in the PRC. The license expired in August 2021 and
has not been renewed. As a result, the financial performance of
Intemet Micro-credit Business was then classified as discontinued
operation of the Group for the year ended 3| December 202
and 2020. The comparative figures of the financial performance for
the year ended 31 December 2020 have been restated on such

basis.

The results of the Internet Micro-credit Business's discontinued
operation for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
which have been included in consolidated profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, are as follows:

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

12. RIEEEHE(E)

(@)

RZZT—RFE+=A ' AEEERFES
NEMEENEEREBOER - WREE
ERERBEEEBENEERRE -
ZEBER S F N\AEmESES
Bo-HYt BE-Z-—FER=-ZT=F
FTZA=T—HILFE @& IEEX
EBNPBRABESFERARNEBNKILE
BEE BHE_T-_TF+-_A=+—8H
FFEVBRANEBREFTERZERES
3 e

HEZZ - —FR-T-TFF A=+
—BIEFEEFAGHIEZREMEEK
IR N REE R EB R I EE R
S

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ECEEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TF T ARET T

Revenue oN - 6,880
Expenses sk (22,587) (16,449)

Other income Hupkzs 6 6,236

Other gain — net HA RS FE 72 32
Finance cost U DN - (78)

Reversal/(impairment) of financial assets RSB AT ENSRIE ER

measured at amortised cost — net B/ CrifE)F58 8,831 (9.631)
Loss before income tax M ErE i Al E 18 (13,678) (13,010)
Income tax expense FriSHi 2 (378) (95)
Loss from discontinued operation IR | s FR e (14,056) (13,105)
Net cash outflow from operating activities &S EBhIE o R R (93,842) (142,429)
Net cash used in the subsidiary KB AT AR E5E (93,842) (142,429)
EBEERERAT sE@s0 183
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SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ER=H=t—HLLEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Cont'd)

BE-2—
2.

(b)
184

On 12 November 2020, the Company announced the disposal
transaction on the Group's entire 69.84% equity interest in Beijing
Xigua Huyu Technology Co., Ltd. Qb RAMEREHEBRA
A]) (“Beijing Xigua”), at a cash consideration of RMB20,000,000
and share consideration of 22268908 shares. The disposal
was completed in December 2020. As a result, the financial
performance of Beijing Xigua was then classified as discontinued

operation of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2020.

The results of the Beijing Xigua's discontinued operation for
the period from | January 2020 to 24 December 2020, which

12. %M@%%ﬁ(ﬁ)

(b)

N—ZE-_TF+—HA+=H AREIEM
AR & R E AR %20,000,0007T & & 71K
822,268,908 Iz ik 7 tH & R &= B A L = 7
MERBFER AR (ML R=FEMN )& 25
69.84% M - HEFHER _ZE_TF+
ZATEK - Bt - ERANNTHRRE
BREBEE-T_TF+-_A=+—HIF
ENHRRAEBEKIELEET -

RZB-_ZFE-—A—BE_Z_TF+_=
AZ+HBHRE St AGHERREM

have been included in consolidated profit or loss and other 2 HE UL R IR A& E A
comprehensive income, are as follows: N

2020

RMB'000

ARBTT

Revenue WA 3,827
Cost of revenue PR AR (12,026)
Expenses X (13,387)

Other income E b e 258

Other gains — net H 15558 280
Finance cost BATE AR (1,053)
Loss on fair value change of derivative financial instrument PTESBMIANATEZSEE (6,200)

Reversal of impairment of assets, net BEREREFE 206
Loss before income tax BRPTS BRI &R (28,095)
Income tax expense FriSBi )
Loss from discontinued operation BRI E TG EE (28,096)
Net cash outflow from operating activities LETEBIR R R R (8,857)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEHHRRLFRE (825)

Net cash inflow from financing activities BERHIRESRAFE 385
Net cash used in the subsidiaries M AR AR EF5E (9297)

No tax charge or credit arose on gain on disposal of the

discontinued operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

13. ERHRF(EE)

The Group's profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations is stated REBEFAFELEEB =T (B8) &M

after charging/(crediting) the following:

B/ (GEA) THIRIREIIE -

2021 2020
—E-—F ZTTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
(Restated)
(g =351)
Amortisation of intangible assets R B B 189 2974
Allowance for inventories FERE 4319 75
Cost of inventories sold EEFEZHAR 114,378 22,144
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 586 2,384
Depreciation of property and equipment MERZEITE 1,127 1,400
Auditor's remuneration ZEEE &
— Audit services —E 2R 2313 3,800
— Non-audit services —EERIR 200 230
(Reversal)/impairment of financial assets R ANGT B B RS 2 (1
measured at amortised cost — net [|l),/RE S5
— Provision of impairment for trade — B S EWF BB E F A
receivables, net 80 725
— (Reversal)/provision of impairment — H b FEUGRIBRE (B [E])
for other receivables, net fHFE (27,047) (58)
(26,967) 667
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BREZMEMHE THRA
— Fees, wages, salaries and bonus —8e I8  FeRIEA 8,847 16,100
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans —RRENA - REH-KGTE 405 101
— Social security costs, housing benefits and —HERERER - EFEFR
other employee benefits HAb g Sta A 389 1,205
— Share-based compensation expenses — LARR 1D RETE R BN & 7 52 (1 542
9,640 17,948
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

14. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS AND 14, EERTETHAEMEUREEE S S

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES MEIA L
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBRIETHAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, FRNEERFETHRAEMESBREBER
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, is as MR ABELAT
follows:
2021
—§--%
Estimated
Employer’s monetary
contribution to  value of other
Discretionary  a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme (note i) Total
AftENME
RIVERGE  HHEREE
EEpA e & MERL  MEIMEX (&) @t

RMBO0O  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0O RMB1000
ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR

Executive directors: HTEE

Han Jun (i) #5(j) - 600 75 5 8 813
Diao Guoxin (i) 7B i) - 400 - - 5 405
Zhu Liang () KR (W) - 600 75 - 9 684
Cui Yuzhi (v) EFE©) - 211 75 - - 286
Nor-executive directors: FHITEE

Cui Yuzhi (v) ETH() 13 - - - - 3
Zhang Qiang (vi) 53 (V) 498 - - - 15 513
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE

Cui Yuzhi (v) EFE() 0 - - - - py]
Wang Dong (vil AR (vi) 516 - - - - 516
Wong Chi Kin (vii) EHE(vi) 581 - - - - 581
Lu Xiaoma (vii) Fee B 55 (v 278 - - - - 278
Ji Yong (ix) RE(x) 89 - - - - 89

22% 1811 225 5 15 4499
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

14 EEREFETHRAEMEUAREBRRESH

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

ME AL (&)
() EBERIEBTHRAEME(E)
2020
=
Estimated
Employer's monetary

contribution o value of other

Discretionary ~ a retirement benefits
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme (note i) Total
EfefErlefh
BIMEMEE  GHE%EE
BEHA e He  BEEL  HEXEX (FizE) &t
RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARETL  ARETT ARETT AREMTT ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HITEE !
Han Jun (i) 85 j) - 1247 - 8 79 1,334
Diao Guosin (ii) 7B i) = 446 50 = 7 503
Zhu Liang () KR () - 420 50 - [l 481
Non-executive directors: FHITEE .
Zhang Qiang (vi) SR (v) 552 - - - 130 682
Liang Na (x) 24 8l 64 - 5 659 1,387
Independent non-executive directors: BUHATEE .
Cui Yuzhi (v) £#FE() 359 - - - - 359
Wang Dong (vl TR (vi) 377 - - - - 377
Wong Chi Kin (vil EHE (i) 563 - - - - 563
Lu Xiaoma (vii) FeE B 55 (v 65 = = = - 65
How Sze Ming (x) FRHX) 92 - - - = 9
Zhao Cong Richard (xi) B () 9 = - - = 9
Wan Joseph Jason (xi) FREX) 9 = = = - N
2273 2755 100 13 886 6,027
EBEERERAT sE@s00 187
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_%——

14.

188

ER=H=t—HLLEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

Notes:

0]

(i

(iv)

()

(vil)

(viii)

(x)

(xii)

Other benefits mainly include share-based awards compensation.

Mr. Han Jun was re-designated from chief executive officer (“CEQ")
to vice president on |3 October 2020.

Mr. Diao Guoxin was appointed as an executive director and acting
CEO of the Company with effect from |3 October 2020. He was
resigned as an executive director and acting CEO of the Company
with effect from 25 August 2021.

Mr. Zhu Liang was appointed as joint chief financial officer and vice
president with effect from 7 May 2020. He was appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 13 October
2020.

Mr. Cui Yuzhi was appointed as an independent non-executive
directors with effect from 7 May 2020. He has re-designated as a
non-executive director with effect from 4 June 2021. He has been
re-designated as an executive director, and has been appointed as
the CEO of the Company with effect from 25 August 2021. He has
ceased to act as the CEO with effect from |7 December 2021.

Mr. Zhang Qiang has resigned from the position of non-executive
directors with effect from |7 December 2021.

Mr. Wang Dong and Mr. Wong Chi Kin were appointed as
independent non-executive directors with effect from 27 April 2020.

Mr. Lu Xiaoma was appointed as an independent non-executive
director with effect from |3 October 2020.

Mr. Ji Yong was appointed as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 6 September 2021.

Ms. Liang Na has resigned from the position of joint chief financial
officer with effect from 30 June 2020. She was re-designated from
executive director to non-executive director with effect from | July
2020 and resigned with effect from 30 September 2020.

Mr. How Sze Ming, Mr. Zhao Cong Richard and Mr. Wan Joseph
Jason resigned as the independent non-executive director with effect
from 30 April 2020.

During the year, no directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the

chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.
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(iii)
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS AND  14.
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont'd)

(b)

(9)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or (b)

contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: nil).

Five highest paid employees (c)
The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year included 2 directors (2020: 2 directors) whose
remuneration are set out in note |4(a) above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining 3 (2020: 3)

highest paid employees are as follows:

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

EERFIETHRAEMEURTIERSH
B AL (&)

EERNRS - RESEHNERER

MEARBEFTNEREBHAFIZEARE
ExXBEEAREE—_ZT_—F+_H=
T RLEFEARBIEDEMRRERFE
NBARS  ZHRANTERXEZRE
BEEMEAEDZ(ZT_FF : E) -

EEBEFHHOAL
AEELEAERTHALIEREMBES
(ZZ -2 WMEES)  HM28 L

XHiE14() c B F=R(ZFZF : =
BIERBFHATRERGTMAOFEBLOT

2021 2020

—EB_—F —ZE-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Fees, wages and salaries we TERFS 2,575 1,200
Pension costs — defined contribution plans #RIRE A — FEHREE 76 16

Social security costs, housing benefits and L& {RIERLAS ~ (FEEF| K EAMA

other employee benefits EERH 88 166
Termination compensation BHRME - 390
2,739 1,772

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors and whose remuneration falls within the following
bands:

JE AT 513 B &6 (B 1 3 FF B == A0 % = A
AT AEIT

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —ETF
Nil to HK$ I,000,000 T ITZE 1,000,000/ 7T 2 3
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000/ 7T | -
EPEERERAT Fz@s02 189
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_%——

15.

190

ER=H=t—HLLEE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed at the end
of the reporting period (2020: nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The basic earnings/(loss) per share for the year ended 3| December
2021 is calculated based on the profit/(loss) attributable to the owners
of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue during the year, calculated as follows:

15.

Hﬁzu\

RoT=—%  BEAALREBRIEN %
REEABRE - R EE R L R RS
(cz-%s ) -

BRER(EE)

EREREF(FHIE)

BE TS+ A=+-HIFENEK
EARAFN(BE)DEREARREE AEGS
A (BB) RFRE BT LB INGEF 52
HNE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
(Restated)
(&5
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the
Company: ARAEER AR T ()
From continuing operations REFHELE T 31,608 (38,173)
From discontinued operations RE R | ST (14,056) (11,099)
17,552 (49,272)
2021 2020
—E-—& —E-FF
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for E{Z+=A=+—HILFER LR
the year ended 31 December R AE S 8L 142,823,254 155,517,486
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share EREBERF(BR)

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary sharing during the year ended 3l
December 2021. The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-

dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 17. MERRKE
Furniture Servers
and office and other Motor VR Game Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles facilities  improvements Total
BRRBL  RESRHE
ERE feR RE  VREBERE HENFEE act
RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARMTE ARETT ARETR
Cost B
At | January 2020 RZZ_ZF-H—H 1,869 7492 1,937 5,649 21,264 48211
Additions AE 452 - - - 1,833 2,285
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi - AR 3 - - - - 3
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBLR (257) = - G114) (89) (5460)
Disposals & (1411) (2,009) (285) (10535) (17461) (31,701
At 31 December 2020 and | January 2021 ~ RZZE=F&+-A=+—H
k=ZF=—%-A—H 656 5483 1,652 - 5,547 13,338
Additions e 562 34579 - - 1,042 36,183
Disposals HE (14) (385) (812) - (3714 (4,925)
At 31 December 202 R-Z_—45+-A=t+—H 1,204 39,677 840 - 2875 4459
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  REHTERFE
At | January 2020 RZZE-TF-H—H 1,468 7192 1,907 14814 19,648 45029
Charge for the year ERHk 13 2 15 - 1824 191
Disposal of a subsidiaries HE—MHBEAR (257) = = G5.114) (89) (5460)
Disposals HE (1226) (2,009) (270) (9,700) (17:455) (30,660)
Impainment loss REER 243 = = = - 243
At 31 December 2020 and | January 202 RZZE-ZF+-A=+-H
k=Z2=—%—-A-H 359 5,204 1,652 - 3928 11,143
Charge for the year ERHR 19 886 - - 409 1,414
Disposals HE (1 (375) @812 - (3714) 4912)
At 31 December 202 RZF_—4#+-fA=t—H 467 5715 840 - 623 7,645
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%+-A=+-A 737 33,962 - - 2052 36,95
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_ZF+-A=1—H 297 279 - - 1619 2,195
EHEERERAT sE@s0 191
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SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

17.

192

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

Depreciation for the year included in following categories in the profit or

17. MERREE
Bt e sU ToENFEATE !

loss:
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETT
(Restated)
(&E:75)
Continuing operations SRR TS 1,127 1,400
Discontinued operations R E TS 287 591
1,414 1,991
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

18. EREE

Game
intellectual ~ Computer
properties software
and licenses licenses Goodwill  Technology Backlog Total
BRARE SRS
ERFTE Gk [k it REHAER a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT ARKTT ARBTT ARKT:T
Cost B
At | January 2020 R-ZT-ZF—-H—H 26,680 11,579 52,644 34,600 29900 155,403
Additions NE 583 = — — = 583
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—ERE R - = 17,301 = - 17,301
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (1,788) - (52,644) (34,600) (29,900) (118932)
Expired El) i (25475) 2,201 = = = (27676)
At 31 December 2020 and W=F-ZF+-H=1—H
| January 202 k=Z=—%—F—H - 9,378 17,301 - - 26,679
Additions NE - 723 - - - 723
Expired 25 - (22) - - - (22)
At 31 December 2021 R=F_—F+-A=t—H - 10,079 17,301 - - 27,380
Accumulated amortisation and R BHRAE
impairment
At | January 2020 R-Z_ZF-F—H 26,680 6,456 52,644 34,600 29900 150,280
Charge for the year FRMEG - 3633 - - - 3633
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (1,788) - (52,644) (34,600) (29.900) (118932)
Expired El) i (25475) 2,201 = = - (27676)
Impairment loss REERE 583 = = = - 583
At 31 December 2020 and RZZEZZF+-A=+—-HAK
| January 2021 —E-—5-f—H - 7,888 - - - 7,888
Charge for the year FRMk - 473 - - - 473
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—%+-A=+—H - 8,36 - - - 8,36
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 202| W-B--F+=-A=+-H - 1,718 17,301 - - 19,019
At 31 December 2020 R-B_ZF+—H=+—H - 1490 17,301 - - 18791
EEERARAR @02 193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

18.

194

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Amortisation for the year included in following categories in the profit or

loss:

18.

BLEE (&
BEPEE U T OB F RS

2021 2020

—E-—F —TTF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARBETT

(Restated)

(&E:75)

Continuing operations FHERE X 189 2974
Discontinued operations R E TS 284 659
473 3,633

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition,
to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been

allocated as follows:

EXBAHTESHBERKRBER DA
BZEBEHIENRASELEU([REE
HEEM]) - BENREEES RN T

2021 2020
—E- ZETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Electronic Device and Semiconductor BT RERFEREE
Business:
Shenzhen Xingyun RYATE 17,301 17,301

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis
of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding
the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and revenue
during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are

based on past practices and expectations on market development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five years with
the residual period using the growth rate of 2.6%. This rate does not

exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s

Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business is |5%.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

BELEE(E)
ARERRAENRERERARARESHAE
AREFNFOMYBEE - FrHREOER
R26% - ZEEBRETBBEATHNTH
RHEER -

AR REASENEFREBERFERER
MIERRSREMLL TR 5% °

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. HERERAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEEBEENEESE
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
At 31 December R+t=B=+—H
— Properties o ZJE 3 4,687 3,544
Lease commitments of short-term leases RS R EAYE 2,392 124
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ZANEEKHE B GERBEARITIRIR SN
cash flows, of the Group's lease liabilities is SR EASFTT -
as follows:
— Less than | year ——&FUT 1,368 848
— Between | and 2 years ——RkZF 1,392 848
— Between 2-5 years ——ERF 2,632 2,172
5,392 3,868
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19.

196

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Disclosures of lease-related items: (Cont'd)

19. HERFRREEE(E

HEMEBEENWRESE (&)

Year ended 3| December 2021 2020
BE+-HA=+—HLEFE —B-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
(Restated)
(re&51))
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE
— Properties from continuing operations —RHERE T 586 2,384
— Properties from discontinued operations — R E TR 501 1,783
1,087 4,167
Impairment for right-of-use assets from RIMREEBHEREEERE
discontinued operations - 31
Lease interests from continuing operations FELEHEBNHEET S 175 15
Lease interests from discontinued operations RIPREEBREEN S - [131
Expense relating to short-term leases (included — E352 HATAE B BRI FSZ (FF AT
in administrative expense and research and S MR S)
development expenses)
— from continuing operations —REFEEEES 2,780 34
— from discontinued operations —RERIEEEER 274 135
3,054 169
Expense relating to variable lease payments not 4% |48 E A B IEET ATRE S
included in lease liabilities from discontinued BEE R ENRE BRRX
operations (included in cost of revenue) (FHABZR) - 94
Total cash outflow for leases HERR G425 1,054 7,569
Additions to right-of-use assets NELAEEE 2,302 7979

The Group leases properties. Lease agreements are typically made for

fixed periods of 2 — 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual

AEEEEYE - HEHESMEE - BFEN
F_ERF - BERFERE @ISR 5HE M

basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The E o EFEESEIRMER RGNS - HER
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may BUWETARE  MEEEETSRERER

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

HAZE -
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SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES 20. MiBAGIR SiE4lAiEEE

Particulars of the Group's principal subsidiaries and controlled structured AEER T —F+-_A=+T—HHNEENR
entities as at 31 December 2021 are as follows: BARIRXIEGIEEERFBOT ¢

Percentage of ownership interest/voting

power/profit sharing
Place of incorporation/ fiakRs/ RER/
registration and BHARAAL
Name operation Issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
e/
4 BRREELY BRARARRAE E# B TEER
Guangzhou Feidong Software The PRC US$15,000,000 = 100% Software development and provision of information technology
Technology Co, Ltd. (Note i) services
BAFSEHRRARLT  HE 15000000%7C SIFHTR R R BRI
(RfeEi)
Guangzhou Feiyin Information The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Development of webgames and mobile games
Technology Co, Ltd* (Note i)
RMGFEEEMBARLR  +E ARH100000007C @B ER LB
(Kt
Guangzhou Weidong Intemet The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
Technology Co, Ltd* (Note i)
BNESEERNARLT  HE AER100000007 HERELEAER RS TR
(Kt
Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co,  The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
Ltd* (Note i)
BNEEEHERAR R AER100000007 HERELEARRRB TR
(Kt
Shenzhen Xingyun (Note i) The PRC RMBS5,000,000 = 100% Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
D R ARH50000007C TTRERTERRS
Netcloud (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKS! = 100%  Trading of electronic device and semiconductor
Technology Limited
BAZEMRERAT & iy TTRERTERRS
* These companies are the Group's consolidated structured entities. & ZERRRANEENEHEBIEERE -
Notes: MisE

0] These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-domestic-owned enterprises (i) ZEMBATBEPEE2AMANEBERE -
under the laws of the PRC.

(ii) This subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the (i) ZMBARRBEREEETMAIEBEERE -
laws of the PRC.
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21.

198

R

ER=H=t—HLLEE

SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES 20. MiBARRZEGILERE(Z)
(Cont'd)
The English names of certain companies referred herein represent A ARFMEMREXEE  AXAREESETA
management's best effort at translating the Chinese names of these AIZENEBREEEEBERZAS NIBEZ
companies as no English name has been registered. ZRAINHR G -
The Company has set up a structured entity (“Restricted Share Units ARAFERY —HEEER(ZRHIRMDEN
Scheme Trust”) solely for the purpose of purchasing, administering and SEIEFED) - E— BB A X R HI R B A5
holding the Company’s shares for the Restricted Share Units Scheme (Note SI(FIzE38(b)) HEE - BERFAAR ARG
38(b)), the Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of AR R B REE TR SR B AT EEFEHAE
the Restricted Share Units Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use UGS - WREFI A HEEZREIRMD BT EIE
its power over the Restricted Share Units Scheme Trust to affect its SERENZEARBR o Bt - RS EA
exposure to retumns. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of the Restricted STEERENEENE G AR ES GBI ISR
Share Units Scheme Trust are included in the Group’s consolidated R MEFEE R RG R X RS AR M5 B A
statement of financial position and the shares it held are presented as a B AR ERIARIRIEE o
deduction in equity as Shares held for Restricted Share Units Scheme.
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REEEQTNRE
2021 2020
—E-—F —=2-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Unlisted investments in PRC: RPBEEZE EMRE -
Associates Banal 55,075 51343
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21.  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

Particulars of the Group's major associates as at 3| December 2021 are

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

21. AEEQARNKRE(E)

RZEBE-_—F+_A=+—H ' AEEHEE
AN RFBOT ¢

as follows:
Percentage of ownership interest/voting power/
profit sharing
Place of 2021 and 2020
incorporation/ TBEC-FR-ZCZEMARE
registration %/ RER/ BANIREDL
Name and operation  Issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
B A
L TREEhE ERTRABRRA B# B TEEK
Beijing Sharetimes Techonlogy Co, Ltd. The PRC RMB26,052,032 9.60% — Develops and
(“Beijing Sharetimes") (2020: RMB24,240,864) (2020: 10.31%) operates
(Note i) intellectual
properties of celebrities
IR FRRBERNERAF e AR#260520327C 9.60% - RELEERANE
(MERHZHR D) (Z2-%%: (Z222F 1 1031%) B
(M) AE#242408647C)
Fuzhou Reyou Network The PRC RMB,000,000 18.00% - Information
Technology Co, Ltd. /RMB250,000 transmission,
(“Fuzhou Reyou”) software and
(Note i) information
technology service
BN RERENEERAT] FE AR%10000007T,/ 1800% - BEER  BHRER
(MEMzE ) AR#250,0007 et s
(PefE)
Note: BEE -
(i)  Although the Group holds less than 20% of the voting power of Beijing (i) EREERIERZRRAREMBBEFFER

Sharetimes and Fuzhou Reyou, the Group exercises significant influence
over Beijing Sharetimes and Fuzhou Reyou because the Group is entitled to

appoint director into the board.

dﬂm&&m% AEBHIRSZRHAKRE
Mﬂﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%%ﬁ FERAASERES
FESNAEZESS
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21.  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd) 21. REFEATNRE(E)
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the amounts TREBBRASERGEUAESEARNTE
of all associates that are accounted for using the equity method. BE ARRERE ©
2021 2020
—E-—5F T =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
At 3| December: R+=A=t+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests T IRE(E 55,075 51,343
Year ended 31 December: BE+t-A=1+—HLFE:
Loss for the year FEER (5,263) (6,043)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2w - -
Total comprehensive loss TEEEAE (5,263) (6,043)

22. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 22. BRAFEFTABZENERE

LOSS
2021 2020
—E-—F —EC-TE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Wealth investment product, at fair value BHER  RATE 2,000 =
Equity securities, at fair value ERES - BATE
Listed in PRC R B L - 57,065
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT - 8,490
- 65,555
National debt reverse repurchase listed in RAE EHEBREYEE
PRC, at fair value BAFE - 10,300
Total investments at fair value through profit IZAFEFT AB=AIZE BEE
or loss, analysed as current assets ST RRENEE 2,000 75,855
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For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER  23. RAFEFAHMEZEKBENERIRE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2021 2020
—E=-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Equity securities, at fair value BmES  BATE
Unlisted securities FLEmES 34,873 80,482
At beginning of year REA] 80,482 59,195
Additions N 10,000 =
Change in fair value NEEEE (12,142) 21,287
Settlement ©=E (43,467) -
At end of year RER 34,873 80,482
Analysed as: DA -
Non-current assets JEMBNEEE 34,873 41614
Current assets BB E - 38,868
34,873 80,482
Notes: s
0) The unlisted securities investments in 2020 mainly represented the Group's (i) i = Z_TF  FITIFREFTEERAE
equity investments in FXENEHREREESEBCE(BRER), HERBNEAEREREESABRCE(ARSE
which invested in private companies operating in the PRC. The fair value of this %) (AR ERPBEEENTLA AR K RIER
investment as at 3| December 2020 was RMB38,868,000. It was settled and B ZBEREN-_Z_ZTF+_A=1+—HH
disposed during 2021. No single investment has a carrying amount that accounts NFERARHE38,868000TT AR =T = —4F
for more than 5% of the Group'’s total assets as at 31 December 2021. HETHE - BEE - REANEAEGEAS
KRB —F+-A=+—BEMEELEN%
LAk -
(i)  Designation of these investments as equity investments at fair value through (i) WZREREETARATFEFAEMEEKE

other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value
changes of these investments to the profit or loss.

ESRA  ARERFRANAFERD
HRKORDTE -

EWERERAR sxss0 201



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SO SRR M AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

24. INVENTORIES

24. BFE
2021 2020
—E—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Finished goods X Gh 80,927 8,413
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. ESEWRIE

Credit sales are mainly derived from the Electronic Device and
Semiconductor Business and the normal credit term was from |5 to 90

days from respective transaction dates.

ERABREEEREETRERLERER - E
BERHAEIRSHHEISEIR

2021 2020

—E-—F —EFF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREBFT

Trade receivables B S EE 73,595 19,890
Provision for loss allowance FHREERE (15,078) (15012)
Carrying amount BREE 58,517 4,878

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on recognition date of the

trade receivables and net of allowance, is as follows:

ENESRYEFERREHARANKRBEENE S

FEWRIRRBRER DATIAT

2021 2020
—B-—fF —TBF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBETTT

0-30 days 0-30H 29,475 2,034
31-60 days 31-60H 28,680 1,125
61-90 days 61-908 289 1,210
91-180 days 91-1808 12 177
181-365 days 181-365H 61 332
58,517 4,878
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

25.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

B2 RWREE)
B o RE R IEE BB EYR

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —ECEE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBETT

At | January R—A—H 15,012 14,335
Increase in loss allowance for the year FAEEREEM 93 740
Reversal [l (13) (15)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENEAR] - ®)
Exchange differences ME N = HR (14) (3)
At 3| December R+=—A=+—8 15,078 15,012

The provision and reversal of allowance for impaired receivables have
been included in “Reversal/(impairment) of financial assets measured at
amortised cost — net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and comprehensive loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account
are generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering

additional cash.

The Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS 9 to provide
for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate

forward looking information.

ERERUGRENBETREEER DG AR G
BaEk2EBRRNIZERKANAENSRE
EEm, ORE)FE]T - ETRBSERKEEN
Bl  stABRBROFIEETE TUAME

AEERBBERYEHRESENFIREA T B
% ERTEDRRSBEREERTAEEZRK
REFERBHERER - RFAERYEAE
B BZRUFREREARGERBREH R
BHAHSE - c BHERBEBETMAMNELE
e
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Contd) 25. BERERREE
Less than
| year
(include More than
| year) | year
Current past due past due Total
B
PR—F(B B
BNEA E—%) iR —F et
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+_-_A=1+—H
Expected loss rate TEERE IR R 0.00% 76.67% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REAE(ARETT) 58,454 270 14,871 73,595
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) EEEIEEE(ARETIT) - 207 14,871 15,078
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZF+—_A=+—H
Expected loss rate TEEAET R 478% 6.54% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREI/AEE(ARETIT) 2,195 2,983 14712 19,890
Loss allowance provision (RMB000) EEfEHEE(ARETIT) 105 195 14,712 15012
26. LOAN RECEIVABLES 26. BWERR
2021 2020
—E-—F —EC-TE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Guaranteed loans ERER 82,869 99,700
Collateralised loans EHER 23,590 23,590
106,459 123,290
Provision for loss allowance FHREERE (106,459) (1157290)
Carrying amount FREE - 8,000
The loan terms granted to customers are within one year, and the loan ETEPHNEFPR—FRN  BREFHAA
receivables are all dominated in RMB. R#EtE o
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26. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Contd)

Analysis of loan receivables by overdue and impaired status are as follows:

26. BWER(E

ZaHLREBRESWEEKERDTAT

2021 2020
—B-—fF T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥ETTT
Individually impaired EERRIE 106,459 123,290
Less: Allowance for impairment losses B R EE R (106,459) (115,290)
Net balance SR - 8,000
Reconciliation of loss allowance for loan receivables: IS SR B IR B A I -
2021 2020
- —ECTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
At | January n—H—H 115,290 105,700
Charge for the year: FRFHE
— Individually assessed, net — @RS F5E (8,831) 9,590
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 106,459 115,290

EWERERAT FEHs0 205



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-E—_—F+t-A=+-RLHE

27. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. ANREREAMERRE
2021 2020
—F-—fF —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREBFTT
Included in non-current assets STAEREBEE
Prepayments TERTREIE - 652
Rental and other deposits e RHEMES 205 144
Others Hitp 200 101
405 897
Included in current assets SARBEE
Receivable from disposal of investments (Note) 2K & & 1% & /) FE U /I8 (B 5E) 21,498 24519
Deductible value-added tax FIEAEER 16,705 =
Prepayments SEANE/E 3,546 5878
Rental and other deposits HekHEMiEe 70 1,832
Others Hity 2,806 883
44,625 33,112
Note: s -
As at 31 December 2020, the proceeds receivable from the buyers of subsidiaries R-B_TF+-_A=+—R  EU_F_FTFLHE
disposed in 2020 was RMB25,519,000 by installments. As at 31 December 2021, ME QTR E 7 2 A %?ﬂIE%AEMZS 519,0007T °
the remaining amount is RMB 18,000,000 RZZE-_—F+ZA=+—H  FHREBERARE

18,000,0007T °
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 28. RERBLEEYRIRHEEAS
(@) Cash and cash equivalents () BHERREZEY
2021 2020
- —ECTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERE 208,579 309,912
Cash at other financial institutions REAM S BEERIR S 161,687 75,604
370,266 385516
(b)  Restricted cash (b) ZTR#HRS
As at 31 December 2021, RMB743,000 (2020: RMB765,000) were R-ZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—8 AR%
restricted deposits held at bank as collateral for credit card and 743,000 (=T =FF : AR¥765000
RMB926,000 (2020: nil) were frozen for legal dispute. TT)XREIRSFHRNRT  EREAR
ERRARK26000TT(ZE=TF : &)
EVE A G R4S ©
TRADE PAYABLES 29. BERENRE

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on recognition date of trade

payables, is as follows:

RIBZE 5 &N FRIRRER B HI5 & 5 e s IR (R
HE R DT -

2021 2020

—B-—fF ZETF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

0-30 days 0-30H 2,465 3,930
31-60 days 31-60H 1,284 847
61-90 days 61-90H 861 1,582
91-180 days 91-180H 451 790
[81-365 days 181-365H 4 360
Over | year —FE 4,623 4559
9,688 12,068
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HttfENRERESEM
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Professional service fees payable ERNEEREER 6,928 4,380
Services fee received B AR E A 5,994 5979
Staff costs and welfare accruals FEET B TR RAB T 4211 1,815
Advertising expenses accruals et E SR 905 [ 131
Consideration payable JERHRAE - 22,427
Others Hit 4,660 1,492
22,698 37,224
31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITER
2021 2020
—E--F b 225
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
Bank loans RITER 4,000 -
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EREZNT :

On demand or within one year RERIR—FA 4,000 =

Less: Amount due for repayment on demand & ¢ IR EKEIEAEE FIA (BRI
(shown under current liabilities) BEEET) (4,000) -

Amount due for settlement after 12 months

1218 A& 2 R E R FR0R

The effective interest rates at 3|1 December 2021 was 4.8%. RZBZ—F+_A=+T—HZ2EBMEE

4.8%

BITEFUN—USREEERERBIIRMN
MAERARAEBREZGREKRAEAARE
1,305,0007C EHE I ©

The bank loans are secured by personal guarantees given by a senior
management and his spouse and the Group’s trade receivable amounting
RMB,305,000.
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. ANAEE
As at As at As at
3| December 3| December | January
2021 2020 2020
R-B-—F R-F_FF R-T_FF
+t=A=+—-B +Z-A=+—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT ARETFT
Contract liabilities AHAE 28,882 4527 9275
Contract receivables (included in & ZIEWFIA(GTAE ZEYK
trade receivables) FIE) 58517 4,878 4,945
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Transaction prices allocated to performance DEERFRRBITHBHEED
obligations unsatisfied at end of year and RS EBIWTEEER A T FE R
expected to be recognised as revenue in: R
— 2021 ——FT—F N/A 4,527
THER
- 2022 —ZTF 28,882 =
28,882 4,527
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd) 32. BREEE)
Year ended 3| December 2021 2020
BET-A=t+-ALEE o i —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Revenue recognised in the year that was FTAFEVIE N B ENFAREREA
included in contract liabilities at beginning
of year 4,527 9,275
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FRAESHNEBENEKREE) :
the year:
Increase due to operations in the year EF AL ER N 34,970 2,972
Increase due to business combinations HEEA HHE N - |'1,627
Decrease due to disposal of subsidiaries H S E A ERD - (5132)
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue HaNEBEERERA (10,615) (14,215)
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products SHNEABEASBEEEARNTPEREE IR
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration B mASEEKRZEPAREB(HIBAZNER
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. &) -
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEAE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEAR HEAHEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F i 33 —B--F —Z2°%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AREFTL AR¥ETR ARETTL
Within one year —ER 1,368 917 16l 770
Over one year but within five years R —FERRER 4,024 3020 3,740 2783
5392 3937 4901 3553
Less: Future finance charge B RREES (491) (384)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 4901 3553
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months & : 731218 B MBI & E R
(shown under current liabilties) E(RREAREE MR (I,161) (770)
Amount due for settlement after |2 months RI{EARIEBEE
TR 3,740 2783

At 31 December 2021, the average effective borrowing rate was 4.65%

(2020: 4.65%) p.a.. Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus

expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H BEFHEXK
EFRB465%( BT : 465%) ° KRR
AHWBHET  HEAEBAEQFEFNRE

G o
N

%
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34. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised

by the Group.

34. EIERIE

Fair value change of
equity investments
at fair value through

other comprehensive

AEEBEIANEIDEEHBREMEENT -

Tax losses income Total

BATEA

Hiv2mElka

HREREN
HEEE ATERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
At | January 2020 RZZ-TF—A—H 438 (116) 4265
Charge to other comprehensive income PAEL A 2 T W e AR - (5102 (5,102)

At 31 December 2020 and | January 202 RZZZZF+-A=1t—HER

—Z-—%—-H—H 4,38l (5,218) (837)
Credit to other comprehensive income FAZEMZE KR - 3,206 3,206
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+-A=+-H 4381 (2,012) 2,369
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34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for

consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

34. EEBE(E)

VAT 23 5 & OF BA 765 A 00 5% A 17 /OB JE 3 T8 45 5
DT (AEHREH) -

2021 2020
:g: - Eﬁ = 7

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF 7T AREF T

Deferred tax assets IRIEFIBEE 4,381 4381
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE (2,012) (5218)
2,369 (837)
As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax assets are recognised for RZFE-_—F+=-—A=+—H0 ' BEMBHE

tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Based on management's
assessment, the Group’s losses amounting to RMB295,804,000 (2020:
RMB284,879,000) is not considered probable to be utilised, therefore the
Group did not recognise relevant deferred income tax assets amounting
to RMB73,951,000 (2020: RMB71,220,000) for these losses. These tax
losses will expire from year 2022 to 2026.

ERRIEEEAERR - AT ERE R A8
FRARERN EFERERR - BRIEETEE
T AEEREERARE295804,0007T (=
T-FF . ARKE284,879,00070) IR AT K

BRI MAKBUERZEEERER
HEAEEMEHEEARY73,951,000(=F
—EF: AR®71,2200007T) ° WEHIEERE
BT - —FEZ T RXFHH -
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SO SRR M AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-ZT--F+-A=t-BIt5E

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. R
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERHE &8
usD000
S
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of USD0.000] each Hﬁ@fﬁo 0001 T8 L3RR
At | January 2020, 3| December 2020, | January 2021 —T-TF-H-R-
and 3| December 2021 :2_2¢ﬂ‘ A=+-8"
—Eo—F-f-Hk
“E-—%+-A=t-H 500,000,000 50
Number of
Notes ordinary shares Amount
i EERBE 8
RMBI000
AREFL
Issued and fully paid: BETRER :
Ordinary shares of USD0.000I each lﬂx@ {B0000 1 E TR L &R
At | January 2020 —“Z£-%%-A-H 156,004,238 102
Consideration shares received Euﬂzﬁxﬁﬁﬁg @ (22,268908) =
At 31 December 2020 and | January 2021 R-B-F£+-B=+-HK
“F-—%-A-H 133,735,330 102
Consideration shares issued BITRHRE (b) 9,614,760 6
Consideration shares cancelled SERAAE @ - (15)
At 31 December 2021 W-E-—#4+-A=+-H 143,350,090 93
Notes: izt -
(2)  During the year 2020, Shanghai Dacheng Network Technology Co., Ltd. (@ RZT_TFFAN AHELRAELN - LEX

(EBREMBARFEIMTBRRAF]) shall through the Valuable Capital Limited
(EEBREARNEFBRAT]) deliver 22268908 consideration shares to the
Company due to disposal of Beijing Xigua. These consideration shares were

cancel in February 2021.

(b) During the year ended 3| December 2021, an aggregate of 9,614,760 (b)
new shares were allotted and issued as part of consideration for business
combinations which completed on 18 November 2020. The aggregate

consideration was RMB19,219,000.

(b) At 31 December 2021, under the Restricted Share Units Scheme, the (c)
Company bought back but not vest 3,375,000 shares (2020: 3,375,000).
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7¥<%%i%&fﬁ‘ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ AEERAERBEABTHFAER
NRIAARRAIRF22,268 908 R B - ZE
WﬁmeEA,?:fﬁfﬂﬁﬁ

RBE-_T-_—F+-_A=+— EJJ:EE'E
Ao 2s R 21T A 9,614,760 F R D IE BN =
—EF+—A+\BERNESLE AL ﬁ
B - BREAAREI9,219,0007T °

R-ZTE-_—F+-A=+—8 AR RER
PR 1) A% 17 B8 iz 51 21 F 2118 3 K B ?3,375,oooﬂx
(ZZT=F4 : 3,3750000%) B 1%



36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY AN T B R AR R R
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries FERH B AR 201,027 201,043
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHTE A B8 435,232 209,206
636,259 410,249
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHTE A F) I8 - 13,308
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K B At R IR 236 845
Cash and cash equivalents Re KB EEY 2,791 91,352
3,027 205,505
Total assets EEHAE 639,286 615754
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EnkaE
Equity Ex
Share capital [N 93 102
Reserves G 636,563 611,866
Total equity fESEE 636,656 611,968
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals Hab e RROE LR & A 2,630 3,786
Total liabilities BEAHE 2,630 3786
Total equity and liabilities EakaEHAE 639,286 615754
Net current assets FREEE 397 201,719
Total assets less current liabilities EEAENRASEE 636,656 611,968
EPEERERAT Fz@s0 215



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-ZTZ

3778

216

~F+-A=t-ALLER

RESERVES

@

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in the
PRC now comprising the Group, it is required to appropriate 10%
of the annual net profits, after offsetting any prior years' losses as
determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve fund before distributing any net profit. When the
balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the
registered capital of the companies incorporated in the PRC, any
further appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to offset prior years'
losses, if any, and may be capitalised as capital, provided that the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund after such

issue is no less than 25% of registered capital.

In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the stipulated provisions of the
articles of association of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries in the
PRC, appropriation from net profits (after offsetting accumulated
losses brought forward from prior years) should be made by these
companies to their respective reserve funds. The percentage of net
profit to be appropriated to the reserve fund is not less than 0%
of the net profit. When the balance of the reserve fund reaches

50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 202| Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S P S SRR B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

37. RESERVES (Cont'd) 37. REE(E)
(b) Company (b) Z&AH
Shares held
for Restricted
Share Share Units Accumulated
premium Scheme Reserves losses Total
FE R
RPEL
STEIRE
RAVERE )3 ikt RiER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At | January 2020 RZZ-ZE£—-A—H 2,165,486 (28,900) (92,286) (1380439) 66386!
Loss for the year FAERE - = = (3851) (3851)
Share-based payments PARR {7 AERE R 3R - - 773 - 773
Disposal of equity interest in B A Rl
subsidiaries = = (38,111) = (38,111)
Current translation differences INEREEE = = (10,806) = (10,806)
At 31 December 2020 and | i e S
January 2021 +ZA=+—HAk
—Z—F-H—H 2,165,486 (28,900) (140,430) (1,384,290) 611,866
Profit for the year FRREH - - - 35,960 35,960
Share-based payments ARG BER R - - (n - h
Issue of ordinary shares for BT BRIEAS S
settlement of consideration ERRE
payable 19,213 - - - 19213
Cancellation of consideration shares ¥ 35 EMB A FH
for disposal of subsidiaries RIA(E (38,096) - 38,111 - 5
Current translation differences NI 2R - - (30,490) - (30,490)
At 31 December 2021 N-ZE——%F
+ZRA=+—H 2,146,603 (28,900) (132,810) (1,348,330) 636,563
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ER=H=t—HLLEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

HE-F=-
38.

@
218

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 3| October 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the establishment of a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
with the objective to recognise and reward the contribution of

eligible directors, employees and other persons to the growth and

development of the Group.

The exercise price of the granted options shall be the par value
of the ordinary shares as amended as a result of any sub-division,

consolidation, reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital

of the Company from time to time.

The options are conditionally vested on the employee completing
a certain period of service, which is mutually agreed by the
employees and the Company. In addition, the options are only
exercisable after the listing of the Company’s shares on any
internationally recognised stock exchange of the Company

(“performance condition”) and the grantees remain employed by

the Group.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to repurchase

or settle the options in cash.

On | January, | July, and | September 2013, 5385611, 898,800

and 156,500 share options were granted under the scheme,

respectively.

All share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme have

been either vested, exercised or forfeited for the year ended 3|
December 2021.
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38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

@

(b)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Contd)
Movements of the number of share options outstanding and their

related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

38.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

LR REROME ()

(@)

0 N B B AT A AR S 81 (40)
5K 17 (5 MO R AR B B R S AR A 4
FEERHNT -

Exercise Price 2021 2020
TEE —T-——§F —Z=-F
At beginning of year ER4) 452,370 452,370
Lapsed B US$0.000| (452,370) -
0.0001257T
At end of year HAZR - 452,370
Restricted Share Units Scheme (b) ZREIBRMENFE

On |3 September 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved to adopt a Restricted Share Units Scheme. During the
years ended 3| December 2016, 2018 and 2019, the Company
granted 4,260,000, 2,500,000 and 2,500,000 restricted share units
to certain directors and employees of the Group (collectively,
the “Grantees”) pursuant to the Restricted Share Unit Scheme
at the grant date fair value of HK$8.88 (equivalent to RMB7.64),
HK$10.10 (equivalent to RMB8.27) and HK$6.30 (equivalent to
RMB5.43) respectively for each restricted share unit. The fair
value of restricted share units granted to employees is measured
with reference to the closing price of the ordinary share of the
Company at the grant date and recognised as staff costs with a

corresponding increase in the capital reserve within equity.

As at 31 December 2021, all restricted share units have either
been granted or cancelled. The vesting schedule of the restricted

share units granted in 2019 is as follows:

RZZE—=FhA+=H  KRREEE
BOERM—IBXRHIRMECLETE - BE
ZE—RF - ZE-NEFERZE—NFT
ZA=+—HIFE  BEIBHIRMDE
(58 - RARSRIEELBHATES
E=ZPRH D EMSSBIL(FHERAR
#7.6470) ~ 10.108 T (FHERARES27
TT) R 630BT(HER ARKES437T) K H
4260,0001# + 2,500,000 & % 2,500,000 &
XRERODECTACREETEERES
(R ABEALD - T EEBHZRHIRG
BURATFEZ2EARRTREL A AL ER
MTHENE  WHERAEINA - HE
RFEERREIE MR AR -

R-TE-_—F+-F=+—8  FAXR
FIRMDEMHER FHEUE - R=_F—
NERHOZREZDEMNFZBLHER
™
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-T -

38.

220

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(b)

ER=H=t—HLLEE

Restricted Share Units Scheme (Cont'd)
Percentage of the restricted share units

scheme

ZRHERGENL BT DL

38.

LR REROME ()
ZREROEMB(E)

Date of vesting of the relevant percentage
of the restricted share units

HEBD ENZREROENVRE RS

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Company
recorded reversal of share based compensation of RMBI,000

(2020: provision of RMB773,000) related to Restricted Share Units

Scheme.

Upon vesting and transfer to the Grantees, the related costs of
the shares are credited to Shares held for Restricted Share Units
Scheme, and the related fair value of the shares are debited to
share-based compensation reserve. The difference between the
cost and the fair value of the shares is credited to share premium if

the fair value is higher than the cost or debited against accumulated

losses if the fair value is less than the cost.
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39.

40.

41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities during the year:

39.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

METDHELENEELE

TRINFRALAEEREEHELNREE

Bank borrowings Lease liabilities Total
RITER HEEE #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFTT ARBTT ARBETT
At | January 2020 RZZE_ZEF—H—H = 50,654 50,654
Changes in cash flows Rened = (7,569) (7,569)
Non-cash changes FHEEH
— Additions —hE - 7,969 7969
— Termination — Rk = (39,305) (39,305)
— Transfer — — (9,342) (9,342)
— Interest charged —BHERF S = l,146 146
At 31 December 2020 and R-B-2F+-A=1T—-AK
| January 2021 —E-—-%—A—H - 3,553 3,553
Changes in cash flows ReRESE 3,957 (1,054) 2,903
Non-cash changes RS EH)
— Additions —hNE - 2,302 2,302
— Termination o Jls - (75) (75)
— Interest charged — B2 HRFE 43 175 218
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-_—F+=-A=+—H 4,000 4,901 8,901
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. HREE
As at 31 December 2021, the Group and the Company did not have any RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—H  XxEEREXR
significant contingent liabilities (2020: nil). AUEEAEAIABE( T _TF : &) o
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. BXEE

As at 3| December 2021, the amount of capital expenditures contracted
but not provided is RMB7,638,000 (2020: RMBI,250,000) which was

related to investment arrangements).

RZZE-_—F+_A=+—H ' Bl ERE
BERNEAAY 2B A ARKT7638000L(=ZF =
T ARME,2500007T) © EIRELHAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. BBAERS
(@) Significant transactions with related parties () EHEREBINEARS
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Content cost to related parties who NS B B AR Ty M A Rt
provided publishing services to e B R TARS T S AT
the Group for game operation B A BB AR
Associates kNG 28 792
(b)  Key management personnel compensations (b) EEEEAEHHMH
The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel HEERBENKENEZEEAEB(R
(including directors and other senior executives) for employee REZRAEMSRITEHAE) B H B R
services are shown below: U
2021 2020
—B-—f —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFIT
Fees, wages and salaries e IENF® 5,163 5,505
Bonuses TEAT 389 100
Pension costs — defined contribution plans ~ RIKE A — R E HFETE 130 18
Social security costs, housing benefits and HERERAE - FEEH R
other employee benefits H g &7 196 208
Share-based compensation LARR (R BERER NS 15 727
Termination compensation BERMIE - 359
5,893 6917
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL EVENTS

@

An alleged lawsuit relating to right of publicity

On 22 April 2020, the Company announced that there were
certain recent media reports reporting that Ms. Selena Gomez, an
American singer, songwriter, actress, and television producer (“Ms.
Gomez"), had filed a lawsuit against Mutant Box Interactive Limited
(“Mutant Box") and Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology
Co,, Ltd. ("GZ Feidong”), both being subsidiaries of the Company,
alleging that Mutant Box and GZ Feidong have portrayed Ms.
Gomez's character on, and profited off her likeness for, a mobile
fashion game, "“Clothes Forever” without the consent of Ms.

Gomez.

On 12 October 2020, Mutant Box received a formal summons
and complaint filed by Ms. Gomez as plaintiff against, among others,
Mutuant Box, GZ Feidong and the Company as defendants (the
"Defendants”) in the Supreme Court of California in the United
States in respect of an action for violation of and conspiracy to

violate statutory and common law right of publicity.

Accordingly, Ms. Gomez seeks damages and other relief against the
Defendants, including general damages for harm to reputation and
loss of standing in the community in the amount of US$I million
and special damages for commercial value of the unauthorised use
of Ms. Gomez's right of publicity in the amount of US$9 million.
Ms. Gomez as the plaintiff also reserved her right to seek punitive

damages in the amount of US$25 million.

43.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!

BE-_Z_—F+-A=t+-HILEE
BEAREE
() EERAMEHIEERD

RZZEZZFWA=+=H ' ARAAA
o THIEE THEBREN  —%xH
RF > AHER  KBEEFREHBE

ASelena GomezZ + ([ GomezZ =+ |) [
Mutant Box Interactive Limited ([Mutant
Box)) R EMIEBNEHRIBEER A B[ E
MNIEE ) (BAEARGTHKB AR )RS
FFER ¢ FEIEMutant Box M E M IEB1E K
K GComez TRIE T  MEFE F A
[ Clothes Forever|H Z|&|GomezZ T &) A
EREAEE®R - WHFER -

RZZTZZTF+A+=H ' Mutant Box$z
EGomezZ = (fERRE A) R EB INFIAE
ERmMaeEEREZNEF(ETBIE)
Mutant Box * BEMIEE R AR RIF(ER
wEAN) [HEADRILBMERRILEE
LRENFRENENEZERFAM o

BRIt GomezZ T EASTKEBERE
REMKE  ERBEREEEREBAMT
SN —RETHRE I BEERT UK

RERGCEEEAGomezZ T AR %
BENFHNEZEEEIAEXET ° Gomez
ZH(ERREN)TMRESRK2SBEET
AT B EREEER -
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SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

~F+-A=t-ALLER

MATERIAL EVENTS (Cont'd)

HE-ZTZ
43,

(i
224

Frozen Shares of Certain PRC Operational Entities

Pursuant to the requirements of a civil paper (Document 2019 Yue
0106 Caibao 43) issued by a court in the PRC (the “Court”), legal
shares of 23.75% (representing paid up capital of RMB2,375,000),
23.75% (representing paid up capital of RMB2,375,000) and 20.94%
(representing paid up capital of RMB2,094,000) of Guangzhou
Feiyin Information Technology Co. Ltd (BMIEEEERHEABRR
‘A|]), Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd (/N
#ERELE BB R AR]) and Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co.,
Ltd (BMEEREE B R A 7)), respectively, which are held by Mr.
Wang Dongfeng (the “Mr. Wang")(collective defined as the “Frozen
Shares”) have been frozen by the Court due to lawsuits made
against Mr. Wang as a defendant. The frozen period is from 26
February 2019 to 25 February 2021. During the frozen period, the
Frozen Shares could not be transferred to other parties without
the consent of the Court, and the Frozen Shares might also be
demanded by the Court to be disposed in order to settle any
damages, as determined by the Court, arising from the lawsuits. Up
to the approval date of this financial statements, the frozen status
of the Frozen Shares in the official website of Intellectual Property

Bureau of Guangzhou Municipality (&N AZEEE#E /D) has expired.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) , based on the
advice of its PRC legal advisor, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally binding and enforceable. There is no

significant change for the Contractual Arrangements.
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43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL EVENTS (Cont'd)

(iii)

Contractual dispute

On 14 May 2021, the Company announced that the Company has
been recently informed of a civil complaint (the “Civil Complaint”)
dated 6 May 2021 filed by Pingxiang Huisheng Industrial Investment
Management Co., Ltd. CEAFERY TR EBEE AR AT (the
“Plaintiff”) as plaintiff with Jiangxi Pingxiang Intermediate People’s
Court (LPAE 4T ARAERIERT) against Mr. Ruan Qian (Bt
#k) (the "Defendant 1"), the Company, Mr. Wang and Pingxiang
Caizhi Data Technology Co,, Ltd. (48 B &5 SR RHR B R A7)
(the “Defendant 2", together with the Defendant |, the Company
and Mr. Wang, collectively the “Defendants”) in relation to a

contractual dispute.

The Plaintiff alleged that the Defendant | failed to complete
the purchase after the relevant investment period and claimed,
among others, the following: |) the Defendant | to purchase the
20% equity interest in the Defendant 2 held by the Plaintiff and
pay the Plaintiff the outstanding sum of the consideration of the
Purchase and the relevant overdue interests, totaling approximately
RMB621.5 million calculated as at 6 May 2021; 2) the Defendants
to pay the Plaintiff the reasonable costs and expenses in relation
to the Civil Complaint and pay the litigation costs; and 3) the
Defendant 2, Mr. Wang and the Company to be jointly responsible

for the abovementioned payment obligations.

The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief based on the information
currently available, the Company is not connected to the Plaintiff,
the Defendant | and the Defendant 2, and neither does the
Company agree to any of the claims stated in the Civil Complaint.
The Company has been collecting information and seeking legal

advice.

43.

Cxidps e B

For the year ended 31 December 202!
HE-Z--§+-A=1t-ALFE

BEXRBEH(E

(iii)

BERMS

R-ZF-_—FAA+MAE ' ARFREM -
ARAAHMERTHMERTRREETE
BRAA(IREIMEARER_"F—_—
HANBRIIEE SR TP RARERE
FREFDIREFR]  amMH
A E(THRSE 1) A27F] E%E
ERERTHERBEHNZERAR(KE
— | ERRE—  ARBERIEE B
sl -

RESH - S R EBIRE & RaET
FRUEE - R (AR BRE) TR 1)
WE—WERERE RS Z20%R 1
] JR & 2 A5 W B B 3 2 R AN 3T A
R BEATHNARBQISEEL(GIER
ZE—FRANRBE): DEERRESHA
HREFNEENSEER U XNFA
B M3I)WEZ T SEAERKRQRIE il
NREHFREETEME -

EERBEVREERERR  ERRE
ERERBEMFMEIERE - AARHER
g WE-REE_RERE - KQFN
TRAREFBPAEOEMAER - AR
A—EREERMSRERER °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO SRR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F-_—F1t-A=t—-RL%FE

43. MATERIAL EVENTS (Contd) 43. EXEHE(E)
(i)  Contractual dispute (Cont'd) (i) ERM#H(E)

In October 2021, the case was first heard in the Jiangxi Pingxiang RZEBEZ—F+A  ZERNIAEEFHM
Intermediate People’s Court (¥ #8 T A& A RJEPT) and no FRARZERBRXAESE « (BAR I &
verdict was given in the court. The case was subsequently EH R - ZRBEER_ZT_—F+_A
suspended in a civil ruling in December 2021. INREZFORPIE o

The Company will continue to take proactive actions to safeguard RAB BT DB R G EAR SR
the Group's interest. The Company is of the view that the above Mes o RRAlRA - EHUEEFA B RIK
legal proceedings currently do not affect the normal business and HAKENESEBRELEXNTE -

operations of the Group.

44.  APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44. HUEBRIB|ER
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for EHVBRERERE__F=A=-+HHEE
issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022. EEgERIXENE -
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“Annual General Meeting”

[FBEFERE

“Articles”
UM

“Audit and Compliance Committee’

(B keREZES]
“Beijing Xigua”
[dbmEm ]

“Investment Agreement”

[ & ek |

“Beijing Yidong”

(LR 58 ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[Exg

“BVI"
[EBERES]

“Cayman lIslands”

[HEHs]

“China" or “PRC"”

(B

DEFINITIONS
Bx

the annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on Tuesday,
24 May 2022
ARFER —E - FAA-+HB(EH )BT 2RREFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

RARAEBERAR (BAEHERT)

the audit and compliance committee of the Board

EXeERLAMZES

Beijing Xigua Huyu Technology Co., Ltd* (JbRFAMEREFBREEAR), a
company established with limited liability in the PRC
ERAMERMEEREERR - RPBERZNEFREEAT

means an investment agreement relating to the acquisition of 69.84% of the equity
interest in Beijing Xigua, dated 24 April 2019. For details, please refer to the
Group’s announcement dated 24 April 2019.
EATARWBIL A N6 s4%B RS ERILAM/-—FT-NFHNA=
THENKRERZ @ FE2REARR _E-NAFEA-THANRE

Beijing Yidong Wuxian Network Technology Co., Ltd* (Jt R ZBVERBLEEHEHE
FR/A 7)), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and controlled by
KongZhong Corporation pursuant to contractual arrangements and is a member of
the KongZhong Group

ERSBHERPEBZBERLIF - ROBERINAREEAR - AEPRES
HWLEHES > REPEENKE AT

the board of Directors of the Company
ARBERE

the British Virgin Islands
REELES

the Cayman Islands

HERS

the People’'s Republic of China and, except where the context otherwise requires

and only for the purpose of this annual report, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and

Taiwan
i A\REANE - BXESEFEIRRAERHS - TREES RFRE
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DEFINITIONS
B

“Company” or “Forgame”

[ART Ik B

“Connected Person(s)

(B AL

“Connected Transaction(s)”

[ER5 ]

“Contractual Arrangements”
[BHIZHE]

“Corporate Governance Code” or

“CG Code”
[ERER TR

"“Corporate Governance Committee”

[EEERZER

“Director(s)"”

[E%]

“COVID-19"
[ fib 4 |

“Executive Director(s)”

[HITES]

“Family Trusts”
[ K R{E5E]

Forgame Holdings Limited (E # # X A R 2 A]), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 July 201 | with limited liability, whose
Shares became listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
EEERERAR R ——F A -+ NBERSHESTMK I AERR
BIRAR - Ekf 8 LA HRAER A ER W

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

A _ETRRIATE T H R

has the same meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

EA_EMARRIATE T HRE

the Feidong Contractual Arrangements
FBA T

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix |4 to the Listing Rules (as still in force as at 3| December 2021)
ETRAIMESE T IMENEEE R TARECEEARE(BE_T-_—F+=
A=+—RIMER)

the corporate governance committee formed by the Board on 22 May 2020, details
of which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 May 2020
BN 2 ZFRIATHRUNGEERZES @ FBHNAEARRAR
H-ZE-EFERA-TN\BHRE

director(s) of the Company
ZAVNSTE =5

the novel coronavirus disease
FAE ARSI A

executive Director(s)

HITES

Wang Trust, Keith Huang Trust, Hao Dong Trust and Zhuangjg Trust, collectively
Wang Trust * Keith Huang Trust * Hao Dong Trust & Zhuangjg Trustf) 4578
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“Feidong”

E

“Feidong Contractual Arrangements”

[FEBE K%k ]

“Feidong PRC Operational Entities”

“Feiyin”

“Financial Statements”

[T 3R

“FITE Regulations”

[SNEEEREMRE]

“Foga Development”

[Foga Development |

"“Foga Group”
[Foga Group]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Guangzhou Feidong Software Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feidong Software Technology Company Limited)* (BN IEBNEHRHZBR AR,
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of
the PRC on 13 June 2012
BMIEB TR AER AR - ARANEEZEL2EWMBAR - RZE—ZFKA
T=BREPEEEKL

a series of contractual arrangements entered into between Feidong, the Feidong

PRC Operational Entities and their respective shareholders

Y  FPTRLEEBERESBNRRARILN—RINEHOREE

Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, whose financial results have been consolidated and
accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company by virtue of the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, collectively

JEE P REHNSE  AMBEECREBEFDSNLTUNARFNB AR
A RAR B EEANEE AR

Guangzhou Feiyin Information Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Feiyin Information Technology Company Limited)*(E/MNIESF 5 ERHTBRAF), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 12 April 2004
BMESEEMBEERAR  R-ZTWFMA+ - BREPBEIERZRINE
REERA

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3l
December 2021
FERHE-_Z-—F+-A=+-RIFENSEZSHUBRE

Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-invested Telecommunications
Enterprises promulgated by the State Council on || December 2001 and
subsequently amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively
BERER _—ET—F+ A+ —BEMAERDIIR T N\FAATER=
T-RE_ANBEBIINOINEREEFELEEERE)

Foga Development Co. Ltd.,, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Development Co. ltd. * RZE——F LA+ AHEABELZFSTM
BB R R)

Foga Group Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |
Foga Group Ltd. * RZZE——F A+ A AERBREZHSTIMAZAAF]
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DEFINITIONS
B

“Foga Holdings”

[Foga Holdings ]

“Foga Internet Development”
[Foga Internet Development |

“Foga Networks”

[ Foga Networks ]

“Foga Tech”

[Foga Tech]

“Former Independent Non-executive
Director(s)"”

[RIEB FEITE S

"“Founder(s)”
[BIA

“Group” or “we" or "us”

[ SR ekl M)

Foga Holdings Ltd.,, a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July 201 |, which was
established by Mr. Liao and is one of the Holding Companies. The entire issued
share capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee of the Hao Dong
Trust

Foga Holdings Ltd. * RZZE——F AT hAAGRBREXHESEMK L
AR - ZARIABEERY  WAERARZ— - E2HMEETRAH
Managecorp Limited$§4 * MManagecorp Limited &Hao Dong Trust@) X 5EA

Foga Internet Development Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July
2011, which was established and wholly-owned by Mr. Yang and is one of the
Holding Companies

Foga Internet Development Ltd. * RZE——F A -+ HAHEABRELHEHF
M AR - ZRRBBEERINEZEER - YRERARZ—

Foga Networks Development Ltd., a company incorporated in the BVI on 25 July
2011, which was established by Mr. Huang and is one of the Holding Companies.
The entire issued share capital is held by Managecorp Limited acting as the trustee
of the Keith Huang Trust

Foga Networks Development Ltd. ' R=ZZE——Ft A+ AHERBEXAHS
AMKZRF - ZFRABEEREKY - WAERARZ— - E2EEBITR
7N FiManagecorp Limited# A - iMManagecorp Limited&Keith Huang TrustB) 35t
A

Foga Tech Limited, a limited company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
on 9 August 201 | and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Foga Tech Limited * RZZE——FNANBREBEEHEZEZETMAIHBERA
A AERRRNEZEMB LR

Mr. HOW Sze Ming, Mr. ZHAO Cong Richard and Mr. WAN Joseph Jason, each
of whom tendered their respective resignation as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 29 April 2020 which took effect on 30 April 2020

ERRLEL BREEARFRELALE  FER-_Z_ZFHA-_+TNLHABER
BUFRTES  R-T-_TFMOA=THER

Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang, who are the founder(s)

of the Company, collectively

ARREIWMAERE  BERE  BRE  BEEREEENGE

the Company and its subsidiaries, collectively

ARRRENB AR GE
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“Hao Dong Trust”

[ Hao Dong Trust]

“Holding Companies”

R AR

“Hong Kong" or “HK"
[&%]

SHKS"
&)

“ICP Licence”

[ICPEFAIFE |

“IFRSs”

[ BB B A5 4 5 2 Al

“Independent Non-executive Director(s)”

(B FFMITESE]

“pr
[ RN EE T |

“PO”
[BRAFREE]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Liao of which Managecorp Limited acts as the
trustee and the discretionary beneficiary of which is Mr. Liao
RESEEKIL K ZEET © X5 ABManagecorp Limited * MEEZTABE
pirtas

W

Foga Group, Foga Networks, Foga Holdings, Foga Internet Development and
Foga Development, which are the immediate holding companies of the Company
established by Mr. Wang, Mr. Huang, Mr. Liao, Mr. Yang and Mr. Zhuang
respectively, collectively

Foga Group * Foga Networks * Foga Holdings * Foga Internet Development 2 Foga
Development®I#ttE + ZERRARRABDRHIEE BEAE - BE4E - 5
5o A R R A AR BT A A

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEEFRITERR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BRNEEEH

internet content provision licence, a value-added telecommunications business
operation licence issued by the relevant PRC government authorities with a service
scope of information services

RUGHMEATHFAE  AEEPEBARE SRR ILEEEEBESA
& o B AR B RS S E

financial reporting standards and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board, and includes all International Accounting Standards
and interpretations issued under the former International Accounting Standards
Committee from time to time

B & 51 28| Z& 8 2 (International Accounting Standards Board) @& —E 8
BERER RIEE - BIEER] Hinternational Accounting Standards Committee ™
BT (BB S EAD R EER

independent non-executive Director(s)

BIYJFMITESR

intellectual property

I EHE

initial public offering of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
BRINEB I ERAFEE
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DEFINITIONS
B

e
M2 BB

“Jieyou"
[
“Keith Huang Trust”

[ Keith Huang Trust ]

“KongZhong Corporation”
[Z=rh |

"“KongZhong Group”
[ZEh&E ]

“KongZhong Youyi"

"KongZhong Xintong”

information technology

EERHX

Guangzhou Jieyou Software Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou Jieyou
Software Company Limited)* (B&JNFEBEIFHRAF]), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 7 June 2012

BMEBERHARAR R_E——FANALARBHEERERINBEREME

X A]

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Huang of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Huang and certain of his family
members

RELEKNIL ST © X5 ABManagecorp Limited ' MEmABELE
REETREKE

KongZhong Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability and is a substantial Shareholder

Kong Zhong Corporation * I E B & T MK T BR QA

collectively, KongZhong Corporation, its subsidiaries and companies controlled by

KongZhong Corporation
- ENB AR RZERAEHAR(BRIERZBREFER)NHHE

Beijing KongZhong Youyi Information Technology Co., Ltd* (Jt RZEFEEE B
it MR A R)), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and controlled
by KongZhong Corporation pursuant to contractual arrangements and is a member
of the KongZhong Group

ERZEHBEEERMBRLIR ROBRINEREEAR - AEPRES
LS REPEENKE AT

KongZhong Xintong Information Technology (Beijing) Co. Ltd* (ZEH{ZBEER
7 (AL ) BPRAE]), a company incorporated with limited liability under the laws of
the PRC. KongZhong Xintong is owned as to 100% by KongZhong Corporation and
a member of KongZhong Group

EREREREMULFBRAA - RETEAEEMAZOHEREEAT -

ZRERAZETE2ERR  AETEENKE AR
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“Latest Practicable Date”

[E & BFR AT A

“Ledong”

“Listing Date”
[ B

“Listing Rules”

[ ErmRAl

“Loan Agreement”

[ &Kt ]

“Main Board”

E

“Managecorp Limited”

[Managecorp Limited ]

“MIT
[ TERAME 2 EE]

“Model Code”

[igsra

DEFINITIONS
Bx

I3 April 2022 being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk printing and
publication of this annual report

—ToFNATZ=R - RAFEREAEHRLTEAMNRRERATESR

Hongkong Ledong Tech Limited (BB LB EIEAR A A]), a limited company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on 22 March 2012 and an indirect
wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company

BEREPHURARARF - —RARBEFBEIN_ZT——F=A -+ _BFEMX
MZABBRRARF  BARBZEEEEMBAR

3 October 2013
—T—=%+A=H

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
BEEMARSMAERARES LTHA

the loan agreement dated |9 September 2019 entered into between Yunke, Beijing
Xigua, Tianjin Wanke, Beijing Yidong and KongZhong Youyi

ER  RAMN - XEDE - ERFBREFEEMIZABA-_Z-NFN
A+ BNEN G

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM of the Stock
Exchange

BRAEENEARZM(TREHETS)  BYNBZACEMR BEWTTE
1E

Managecorp Limited, the trustee of each of the Family Trusts
Managecorp Limited * B RIEFEFEZZFEA

the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
P AR KM TEMESE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EARAIM SR P LB IT AEITE SR HHRET R
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DEFINITIONS
B

“MPUs"
[MPUs |

“Mr. Huang”
(&L

“Mr. Liao”
[ A |

“Mr. Wang"”

EEAE]

“Mr. Yang”
(155 E ]

“Mr. Zhuang”
[t ]

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZEE]

“Non-executive Director(s)”

[IEiTEE]
“Offer Date”

IEF 0=kl

"“Post-IPO Share Options”
[BRAFREERBIRKE]

monthly paying users

RENERP

Mr. Huang Weibing (&) (alias: Huang Kai (8))), one of the Founders and
the settlor of Keith Huang Trust
BEREE(RBREY)  ABIFAZ—  BKeith Huang Trust® R T A

Mr. Liao Dong (BZ%), one of the Founders and the settlor of Hao Dong Trust
BRELE - Bl AZ— + AHao Dong TrustM BT ER T A

Mr. Wang Dongfeng (&), one of the Founders and the settlor of Wang
Trust, who resigned as the chairman of the Board, an Executive Director, the chief
executive officer of the Company, the Company’s authorised representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on
30 September 2019

ERESLE - BIAZ— » BWang TrusttIETERTA - REZE-AFHA=
THBHMEARRZEZGIE HITEF  BRENTE - LWRAE30SHEMA
ERERERKRLRERZESEIR

Mr. Yang Tao (#5&5), one of the Founders

BERE  BIAZ —

Mr. Zhuang Jieguang (#t#E/&), one of the Founders and the settlor of Zhuangjg
Trust
HEELE @ BIAZ— » BZhuangig TrustlEBIER T A

the nomination committee of the Board

E=ZeR%LEE

non-executive Director(s)

FRITES

the date on which the Pre-IPO Share Option(s) are offered to an eligible participant
as defined in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
AERAAEENBEREABIREZAERZEERZERAFEEABIRE
B 5

options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
RIBERARBERBIRE SIS TRE 2 BAE
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“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BERAREERERETS ]

“PRC Operational Entities”

[FEEZERE

"“Pre-IPO Share Options”
[BRAFEERREAE ]

"“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRAFABEERBEETE ]

“Prospectus”

(Bl EE

“Remuneration Committee”

[FMEZEE ]

“Renminbi” or “"RMB”
[AR¥]

“Restricted Share Unit Scheme” or
“RSU Scheme”
[ ZBRHIR D BRI S]]

“RSU(s)"

[ PRSI B AL

“R&D"
[ |

DEFINITIONS
Bx

the post-IPO share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on |
September 2013, for the benefit of the Directors, members of senior management,
employees and other eligible participants defined in such scheme
ARBAR-_F—=FNLA-BRUMNESE  SREEEBKE - BE NFZtE
RENEME ER2REF R RN ERAREERBIRETS

the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
FPTFEEEEE

options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
RIBERAREERIBIER 8K Z B2

the pre-IPO share option scheme approved and adopted by the Shareholders on
31 October 2012, which was amended and restated on | September 2013, for the
benefit of the Directors, members of senior management, employees and other
eligible participants defined in such scheme
BRR-ZB-——F+A=+—HREMNEE  SAETEEKE - EE K%
EAETNEMAERSEELENRANBERAHEEMBREAZ(R_F
—=FNA-BEETRE)

the prospectus of the Company dated |9 September 2013 in relation to the IPO
ARBERARA—T—=FALATIhENERAHEEHRRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExevMZES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR® - PEUEEEHR

the scheme conditionally approved and adopted by the Company on | September
2013 for the grant of RSUs to RSU participants following the completion of IPO
ARBR-_F—=FNLA-BEREMERRANGTE - URERARBEET
B RS R IR ) B AL 2 B E X T X IR I I ) B iz

restricted share unit(s) granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme
IRIE SR BRI BALET B3R K ) R I IR ) B iz

research and development

o R pa 3
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DEFINITIONS

B

“SFO”
[ 57 R 5B

“Shareholders”

[ A% R
“Share Times”
[DERHR ]

“Shares”

[Bdn

“Shenzhen Xingyun”
(R

“State Council”
[ B7%5Pr |

"“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 Ffr |

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”

[ZZ2RR]

“United States”
e

"US$" or "USD”
Sl

“Wang Trust”

[Wang Trust]

the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (chapter 571 of the laws of

Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEEDES7 I ECEF B EDD) (ETRIERT - RaIARMT B

shareholders of the Company

RARIMER

Beijing Share Times Technology Co., Limited* (ItR7D ZRFREHRMNBIRAR),
a limited company established in the PRC
ERDERKRBEBROBRAF - RPBRZORNERAF

shares of USD0.0001| each in the share capital of the Company
A BB 20,0001 ETTE D

Shenzhen Xingyun Data Technology Co. Ltd* (RIITHITZEEIEFIMTBERAR)),
an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, established under the laws of
the PRC on | December 2014
RYTITEBBERMARLIR - AARRZEEZEMBELRR R - —MF
T A—BREBPEIEENKL

State Council of the PRC ({2 A R AN BB 5P
I AR HFE B

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRMAXHAERRT]

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BA LA R T eRE

the United States of America
EFEEREH

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBDEEEBET

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Wang of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Wang and certain of his family
members

BT REKIMNEEET - X5 A BManagecorp Limited * X A BT LA
REETHREKE
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“Weidong"

[#3)

“Xigua Acquisition”
[ 78 4 5

“Xigua Group”
IEitpIENCIN

“Yunke”

“Zhuangjg Trust”

[ Zhuangjg Trust ]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Guangzhou Weidong Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (also referred to as Guangzhou
Weidong Internet Technology Company Limited)* (FE/NAEBHRLEETERAF)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 22 January
2007

BMEBDREBEBERLIA - RZBELF A+ ARBPBUEEKILD
BREMERA

the acquisition of 69.84% equity interest in Beijing Xigua
o BB AL P 69 . 84% R4

Beijing Xigua and its subsidiaries

ERAEMNRENE AT

Jivjiang Yunke Information Technology Consulting Co., Ltd* (JUII T Z&(5 Bl
AR AR, formerly known as Jiujiang Yunke Internet Microfinance Co., Ltd.* (J1
I =B/ NEEFKBR AR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Feiyin established
under the laws of the PRC in 2016

JUITMESERRMHEAERAR - AIBNVITaEHEG NEERERAR
—ER2016FRIBFBUEETMKIHAF - BIEZH2EMB LR

a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Zhuang of which Managecorp Limited acts as
the trustee and the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Zhuang and certain of his family
members

RELEENTHERERT - X5 ABManagecorp Limited * M¥m A B E
REETRIEKE

e The English name is translated for reference purpose only in this annual report

& REFHETNRIAHERS
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ESG Report

RE - #HEBRERARS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report summarizes several subjects of Forgame Holdings Limited
(“Forgame”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group” or “we")
of business practices for the Environmental, Social and Governance (referred
to as the "ESG”) report (referred to as the "Report”) and its relevant
implemented policies and strategies in relation to the Group's operational
practices and environmental protection. For information regarding corporate
governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” in the

annual report 2021.

The Report covers the period from | January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2021").

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board understands its overall responsibility for overseeing and
implementing the Group’s ESG strategy, and will integrate sustainable
development into the Group's specific business in accordance with the
company'’s business development. The Group has formed a top-down
environmental, social and governance (“ESG") structure in adhering to
its sustainable development philosophy. The Board is responsible for
overseeing the ESG issues of the Group, formulating ESG strategies and
assessing and determining the risks associated with ESG, in order to ensure
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control of the Group.
The senior management is responsible for the job allocation based on the
ESG strategies and reporting to the Board about the progress of ESG tasks
and the Group's annual ESG Report. The administration, human resources,
legal, internal control and board secretarial departments are responsible
for performing ESG tasks, including collection of stakeholders’ opinions,
performing internal and external materiality assessment, preparing the ESG
Report, and reporting to the senior management about the progress of
ESG tasks and the preparation of the ESG Report. The Board of Directors
will also regularly check the implementation and changes of various ESG
indicators, and optimize ESG targets when appropriate and feasible, so as to
ensure that the Group's corporate development will minimize the negative
impact on the environment and society. The diagram below shows the

Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) structure:
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BARAREHE

A EB EREERER AR ([ EE] - [Forgame] -
HERAMBARSGH AEE K BHMDEBKEEFE
HRE  HegkEA(ERER  #Hg8kErDHRE(R
HEDHETEERARREBEGKEERRERENR
AR BERLER - BEACEELHNER - F2H
—EC—FERPOEERRE] -

ABRERE-_T-_—F—A—HE_ZE_—F+_A
=t+—H(REFE IS ZZE=—HF]) -
EEeEf -

5 g RERNAERERE

EZoRHEAEEE EEASEESGRE I HAERE

EE - BERBEARNMNEBERGEUHELERA
NEBMARESY - RERAEBENAIFELE
B2 AKEEIYTHEMTIHRE HEEER
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RE - EBRERRSE

The B?ird Formulates ESG strategies, action plans and goals
5 HIESGHRS - {TEIRH BT HIZ
J/
Seni ) Allocates works based on the ESG strategies,
M enior " action plans and goals formulated by the Board
| oneeemen RIBFEE G EMESGHRRS - THFEIMBEREL
mAREERE HET ¢
J/
|
| | | | |
N\
Administration Human Legal Internal Control Board
Department D'??#;::; " Department Department DS:C;e_?:éa!m
IS KD E R et P EFENER

J/

Implement specified ESG tasks and report to the senior management abut ESG
management and the progress of tasks contained in the ESG Report

FREAEMNESGTIE  MehE R EERSGEEMESGREN TIEERE

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting
guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”). To ensure the accuracy
of environment key performance indicators, the Company engaged a
professional consultancy firm to conduct the calculation and preparation of

the Report.

In preparation of this Report, The Group has complied with all “comply or
explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and followed the
four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,

in the preparation of the Report.

Materiality

The Group reports on issues that are considered as posing significant impacts
on environment and society and are important to stakeholders. The issues
are presented together with the Group’s management measures in the ESG

Report.
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Quantitative

Information regarding the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or
calculation references, and sources of key conversion factors used for these

key performance indicators (“KPIs") is stated wherever appropriate.

Balance

Information is disclosed as objectively as possible to provide stakeholders

with an unbiased picture of the Group'’s overall ESG performance.

Consistency

Consistent methodologies are adopted when calculating the quantitative
KPIs, unless otherwise specified. Reasons will be provided for any restating of

information published in the ESG Report.

REPORTING SCOPE

The scope of the ESG Report covers the environmental, social and
governance performances of the Group's principal operating activities
spanning over the period from | January 2021 to 31 December 2021. The
Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games, and trading of electronic device and
semiconductor in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). With regard
to workforce-related KPIs (Key Performance Indicators), the reporting scope
includes data from China and Hong Kong to maintain consistency with the

annual report.

While promoting the stable growth of business, the Group is also
committed to the establishment of environmentally friendly enterprise and
the maintenance of our high-quality services and operating standards. The
Group regards social and environmental responsibility as one of the core
values of business operations and is committed to improving sustainability
and transparency and providing services that can create a sustainable

environment for the next generation.
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PHILOSOPHY

. Sharing — Gather excellent team

. Learning — Lifelong learning and grow together

. Passion — Promote high working efficiency

o Implementation — Promote organizational success

APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable development sets the pivot of our visionary strategic move in our
long-term development plan of further expanding our operations in fintech
industry. By embodying environmental, social and governance principles in
our strategy planning and business management, the Group leverages its own
professional industry knowledge and technology to continue bringing positive
impact on the community by creating a healthy and sustainable cyberspace
and minimizing our impact on the environment while consolidating our

presence on the internet, media and technology territories.

Embracing the value of sustainability to evaluate the operations environment
and identify room for improvement in operations, we have formulated a set
of ESG-oriented policies to promote and manage material environmental,
social and governance issues, which include product responsibility, labor
practices, anti-corruption and environmental protection. In the long run,
we are committed to promoting the value of sustainability and integrate
sustainable development principles in the Group's and our business partners
as a responsible corporate citizen. We identify and evaluate the materiality
of the diverse range of ESG topics that are interrelated with our business
operations (See corresponding section: Materiality Assessment) to form our

future corporate direction.

COMMENTS AND FEEDBACK

We make every effort to ensure consistency between the Chinese and
English versions of this Report. However, in the event of any inconsistency,

the English version shall prevail.

The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable comments from
stakeholders. For any clarifications or advice regarding the content of this ESG

Report, please forward your comments and suggestions to IR@forgame.com.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT EHhESH

The Group believes that identifying and addressing stakeholders view lay a  ANEER{E @ #HAINEERFHENERALEENE
solid foundation to the long-term growth and success of the Group. The  EAZXRFAAINETE T EEMNER - HHEL2EGHAK
stakeholder engagement helps the Group to develop a business strategy SEFIFIEMFEFMN B B KEAEMH LB - 12
that meets the stakeholders’ needs and expectation, enhances the ability to ﬂﬂﬁfﬁﬁiﬁ EIREEEEMIEK - T%TQ%EILZ@T\@
identify risk and strengthens important relationships. Stakeholders can deliver € MBEMRELRE  HekELSETENE

their valuable opinions on ESG to us through various channels. %ﬁ °

The below table presents key stakeholders of the Group how the Group TNERNBTARBEMEZHGE  URAEEBRBE
communicate with them through variety of engagement platform and TERMEF & EREHEFHEEITER
channels.
Stakeholders Engagement Platform
& 28RYA
Government and regulatory agencies O Annual reports, interim repor‘ts ESG reports and other public information
BT e B2 e < FH - PHIRE  RE S RERAMEANEMAFER
Shareholders and investors o Annual general meetings and other general meetings of shareholders
BEERIR - BERAFREREMKRRAE
. Company website
0 yNGIE SR
. Announcements
N
O Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
< i PEHWE  RE  HERERAREAREMARER
Employees O Training
BT . Fall
. Meetings
- BE
O Performance evaluation
. BERGHE
C Leisure activities
- BEERH
Customers . Fax, email and customer service hotline
E9S - BE  EBREPRBARER
O Product and service feedback
0 Em R IRTS 2 8B
Suppliers O Annual audit
HrEm - FEERE
. Meetings
- BE
s On-site visits
C BEER
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The operations of Forgame have impacts on various stakeholders, while
stakeholders have different expectations of the Group. Looking forward, the
Group will continuously strengthen its communications with its stakeholders,
and extensively collect stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would
lead to a more comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group
would also enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative, balance
and consistency, and define the presentation of content and information of

the report in a way which better conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

ESG aspects are discussed regularly within the Group by the Board and
senior management in accordance with their importance in managing the
risks and opportunities that the Group is exposed to. While promoting
sound business growth, the Group is also committed to building an
environmentally friendly corporation that maintains high quality standards
in our service and operations. This Report communicates the social and
environmental aspects that we determine to be the most important, as
advised by the third-party consultant whom we commissioned to review

information disclosed in our ESG Report.

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum of environmental
and social aspects. In order to harness the related risks and opportunities, it
is crucial for the Group to determine the most material aspects. The Group
adopts the three-step process of identification, prioritization and application
to ensure sustainability topics are being managed and reported in accordance

with their materiality.
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(1) Identification (1) &5l
In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide, all fundamental [R5 g RkER/MEES JEETHAER
sustainability topics were identified. In the context of the latest WARHEERTE  ERTNAISEERTLE
sustainability landscape, the Group has determined the following T AEEBETAT+—EERE @ 5&x
21 ESG Materiality topics that are deemed to have impact on the BHARBARMNSEHRENLGEELET
environment and society through our operations. 2.
ESG Aspects ESG Materiality Topics for the Group
BiE  HERERFTE AEBEERE  HERERTE

A. Environmental Responsibility Emission Management (Air Pollutants and Greenhouse Gas) BEE R (BERLAERE)

ARBRE 2. Waste Management REZEY)E 12
3. Energy Saving i 47AE)R
4. Water Consumption FI7KE 12
5. Effluent Discharges 757K HERK
6. Employee Remuneration and Benefits & T % Bl & 1@ F
B. Social Responsibility 7. Diversity and Equal Opportunity Z Tl K FEigke
BiERME 8. Occupational Safety and Health B %2 K2
9. Employee Training and Development 8 T3l 3 &
10.  Anti-child and Forced Labor [ 12 T K 58 #1308 85
I'l.  Supply Chain Management & 5 & I8
12, Customer Service Quality X F RI$E =
13.  Product/Service Quality and Safety Ef,/ REEEMEE
14, Personal Data Privacy Protection fEA & & BEFLIRE
I5.  Product Research and Development Z fhfiff 8%
16. Intellectual Property Rights Protection Azt EE HE IR &
17.  Data Security g% 2
18.  Operational Safety Management &8 % 2 & 12
19.  Anti-corruption R E)5
20.  Community Investment and Engagement L[ 1% & f1£x 6
21.  Climate Change Strategy J& ¥/ & {5& & (b B A%
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0]

Prioritization )

To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the views
of senior management were sought. The senior management, who
possessed a high-level view of all the topics, were asked to conduct
survey and score the importance of each ESG topic to stakeholder
groups and the Group in each of their perspective. Consolidating the
results of internal assessment and the survey, the following materiality
matrix resulted. The topmost-right quadrant determines the topics of

high materiality.

ESG Report
RR -HEgRER/REZS

BERFF

BTEEMERE HENMERTENERN -
BASRTSREEENER - REEEYMR
BEXEHEERBRNEE - WERMWPIRRFD
ENAEENREAZHEERE  HENER
TEMNERMETHEAERTD - HETAK
BARNFERESHEEREK  FHUTER
HERE - RAELRRARDEEEMNERE -

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT MATRIX

EEMER

HENENTE
IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS

IMPORTANCE TO OPERATIONS
HEBHEE
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NTEXRREBESERE  HEMERTENERES
BT

4,15 Personal Data Privacy Protection, Product Research and Development
EABHEALRE - EmiTE

7 Diversity and Equal Opportunity
ZERFERE

12 Customer Service Quality, Data Security
BEFRGEE @ #ERe

16, 17 Intellectual Property Rights Protection, Data Security
HMBERRE @ BELE

6 Employee Remuneration and Benefits
B TH MR EF

I3 Product/Service Quality and Safety
Em/ REEENZ 2

18 Operational Safety Management
HEREEIE

8, 19 Occupational Safety and Health, Anti-corruption
BERZ2RER  RES

I Supply Chain Management
HrEsEE R

9 Employee Training and Development
BTHIIRER

3 Energy Saving
ERAIREIR

(3) Application e

ARERETMEREEZUNEEEREMNE
B RTOEHBEMABNERBEINEE K
REWAASEEZMMNTIEET T EFANN

7]
4B -

The Report discloses all the high and low material topics. To address
topics that matter most to our stakeholders, more depth is detailed

for topics of high materiality throughout the Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

The Group acknowledges the threats of climate change and realizes that we
have responsibilities to better manage our energy use to reduce greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions. As a company providing products for the newest
generation, we are keenly aware that our continued success depends upon
our generation taking environmental responsibility seriously. Since the
Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games, and trading of electronic device and
semiconductor which have minimal direct impact to the environment. As
such, the Group's main contribution to the carbon footprint comes from
indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The source of these emissions
is from the usage of office equipment in the workplace, including but not
limited to the lighting systems, air-conditionings and office machineries. On
the other hand, hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes are considered
minimal to the Group's operation and therefore are not disclosed in this

report.

We are committed to reducing our impact on the environment. We strive
to minimize environmental footprint through energy conservation and waste
reduction. The following sections disclose the Group’s approaches and data

on energy consumption, GHG emissions data and waste.

Aspect Al: Emissions and Wastes Generated

Energy and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions:

The Group strictly follows the low-carbon development goals of China's
|4th Five-Year Plan, promotes corporate green transformation, and strives
to realize the corporate vision of carbon neutrality. In view of this, we
formulated and strictly implemented administrative policies that regulate
emissions and discharge of exhaust gas, waste water, waste solids and
greenhouse gas generated in office areas. In addition, we has formulated the
“Forgame Environment Protection Policy” ({ForgamefBIRIREK)) to
provide clear guidelines on the daily environmental protection for our staff
starting with the details such as management of use of electricity, water,

paper and office supplies.

ESG Report
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The operations and activities of the Group does not directly generate any
hazardous air emissions and pollutants. The Group does not generate any
direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope ). Energy consumption and GHG
emissions at the Group are mainly contributed by electricity consumption in
offices and thus we only report on the indirect energy use and indirect GHG

emissions (Scope 2) of the Group.

$E@ ERED T EEEELAEMNASRBHMK

SRY - AEBSEEEARERBHR(SEE—) -
$E.9']Eb/ VERERAZERBHREERE A EEH
VREE o FL - RIS EE A HEERE R
NMEERERBHR(EE ) -

/-\.—-—.

The following charts summaries the GHG emissions of the Group during the —~ NHEIRBMAEBRHEFE AR EREHHE -
Reporting Period.
FY2020 and FY2021 Summary of annual carbon emissions 20208 FF }2202 | (A E R HE R BB R B
Scope 2 Unit FY2021 FY2020
gE= By —E--BF —_E_TWMEF
GHG Emission tonnes CO,-equivalent 42 35
R = R AE_StIREE

tonnes CO,-equivalent/m? 0.0203 0.0163

Emission density (tonnes CO, equivalent per
square meter of total building area)
/m::'ﬁ%%#ﬁﬁl?f(tiﬁ%ﬁ’l iR ST AR
AB—EILIREE)

DM—E LR EE, A K

Measures to reduce emission

In order to effectively reduce the emissions generated by the Group, the
Group has adopted several measures for the management of employee
travels, including but not limited to strict approval for long-distance travel
arrangements to reduce unnecessary travel and encouraging employees to

use public transportation.
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Waste Management

Owing to the Group’s business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of
business does not produce material hazardous wastes. The non-hazardous
wastes mainly come from various types of recyclables wastes such as paper
and non-recyclable daily office wastes such as office supplies and plastics,
generated from the offices of the Group. We encourage recycling of wastes.
For nonrecyclable items, we collect and sort them to be disposed of by

recyclers with professional qualification on a regular basis.

ESG Report

RiE - #HEBRERRSE

BEYEE

ERAEENEBUE  AEERBEEEBBIERL
BEFTIMEAEEREY  ETEVEIEXREARAE
KBRS PTE SRS &R B YRR EREY) P AR
R RAARKAEERAEEDOIARAER GRS
B - BPsBERYEREMNA - BRHEUBRNAN
Y RABESBRKRE  TEHRXHABEREE
MEEBEITRIWEE -

Environmental performance Unit FY2021 FY2020
BAKR B —®--fF —ToTNF
Hazardous waste generated Kg

ELREREEY Niy 0 0
Density of hazardous waste generated Kg/m?

EAREREENNTE Rt /TR 0 0
Non-hazardous waste generated Kg

PRELEERERY Nay 4,880 4,680
Density of non-hazardous waste generated Kg/m?

FIELBERZNNTE DT/ FHK 236 2.18

Measures to reduce waste generation

The Group actively promotes green office practices, aiming to minimize
the generation of wastes and maximize the efficient use of resources. In
terms of paper consumption, the Group promotes a paperless office, office
papers were from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing
supplies manufactured from recycled materials such as tissue paper. The
Group also encourages its staff members to scale down font size and reduce
paper margins and set up double-sided printing. We continue to improve
the paperless office, start the OA electronic approval process, reduce the
number of document printing, and recommend the circulation of electronic
documents on a daily basis. By strengthening the measures to reduce waste
generation, we aim to achieve the target of reducing waste generation by 5%

before 2026.

BLEYELBEE

FEBBGERGERAZELEE  BRONRIE
AR LEERERYERAL - HAKME - &
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M- AEETFZEE TRANFEMRENEE
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&

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Forgame understands that effective resource management is closely related
to environmental protection and corporate sustainability goals. Due to the
nature of offices’ operations and business, the major resources consumed
by the Group are electricity, water and paper. The Green Policy provides

various energy-saving measures for office activities, including:

. Enabling the off-timer function of office equipment such as
photocopiers, printers and computer monitors in its offices, allowing
such equipment which have been idle for a long time to automatically

power down;
. Setting an appropriate office temperature; and

. When purchasing new office equipment, preference will be given to

those with Grade | energy label.

The Group incorporate environmental issues into its business plan
systematically, including formulating more detailed corporate internal
guidelines for environmental protection, as well as formulating sustainable
development policies and road maps in the long term and proactively

promoting a number of environmental protection campaigns.

Energy

As energy consumption is closely linked to global warming, the Group
has been striving to improve energy management. Therefore, we have
implemented electricity saving measures in the office to raise the awareness
of all our employees on environmental protection. We encourage our staff
to turn off all unnecessary lighting systems and other electronic devices,
such as printers, computers, etc., to avoid idling of electrical appliances.
Meanwhile, partial lightings of the office have been installed with light-
emitting diodes instead of compact fluorescent lamps which can reduce

electricity consumption as compared with compact fluorescent lamps.
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Energy consumption BEIRHFE
Resource Unit FY2021 FY2020
HIR B “EC--HEF —TTHEF
Power consumption
]
Electricity consumption kWh

EE FTRE 63,124 52,968
Electricity intensity Per Kilowatt/m?
REXE STRE,FK 30.58 24.69
Water K

The major kind of wastewater generated by the Group is domestic sewage,

which will be directly discharged to local drainage system. Meanwhile, the

Group has put effort to reduce the water consumption, such as posting

labels to remind and encourage employees to reduce water usage, and

always turning off the faucet and reporting any water leakage. During the

cleaning of office, the cleaning workers are strictly controlled for using of

water and frequency of cleaning. As a result, the consumption of water is

saved.

REBEBSKEERBERSK ZEFSKBEE
HEAEHBIOKRE - AK - AEERIRSAKE -
AREBL R R AR TR R ELEN B B AT KV AK - BFRIRE IR K
BETE MR ERKIBENR - EWBEMABRBEFT B2
ABRERESKOERARBERAE « At - 57
REAK

Water consumption Unit FY2021 FY2020
FKE B —EC--HEF “EOTHEF
Total water consumption m?

HFEKE MK 292 841
Water consumption intensity m3/m?

FEKEE STKSFTTK 0.14 0.40

Packaging material for finished products

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group in its ordinary course of

business does not involve any material usage of packaging materials.

Rk i BB FE R H

HRARBNEREE  AEBNAEEBBEPIL
B MAEABEMBHNERER -
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&

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group focuses on our business impact on the environment and natural
resources and pursues the best practice with the environmental protection.
In addition to complying with relevant environmental laws and regulations
and international standards to properly preserve the natural environment, the
Group has integrated the concept of environmental protection and natural
resources conservation into its internal management and daily operations

with the aim of achieving environmental sustainability.

The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our
environmental initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious culture that
ingrains positive lifestyle and habits among employees. We encourage the
use of public transportation. Our event management is also an avenue by
which we seek to integrate sustainability principles. Events are usually held

on-site and avoid the use of disposal utensils.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

As part of the community, we do not live aside of the impact of climate
change. The Group manages the issue with respect to the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), which
outlines four components: Governance, Strategy, Risk Management and

Metrics and Targets.

Our governance is mainly driven by the Board, who sets out a clear strategy:
to achieve eco-efficiency, the delivery of satisfactory goods and services
while reducing environmental impacts and resource intensity, according to
the World Business Council for Sustainable Development. This pushes us to

consider the climate when making business decisions.

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of online games, and
trading of electronic products and semiconductors. Given the operation
model of the Group, we consider there is no climate-related issues that
could have material impact on the Group. Nevertheless, we continue to pay
close attention to the possible impact of climate change on our business,
strategy and financial performance, and fully support global climate-related

actions.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Aspect Bl: Employment

The Group considers employees as the most valuable wealth and resources
and believes that they are propellent of corporate growth. Therefore, the
Group is committed to providing an equal, harmonious and diversified
working environment to our employees in order to attract and retain
suitable talents in the competitive labor market and for the purpose of

maintaining its competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment management policies cover resources planning,
performance evaluation, training, compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity and

anti-discrimination.

The Group firmly believes that its employees are the most valuable assets
of an enterprise and one of the most important factors for the sustainable
development and success of the Group. The Group strictly complies with
all employment-related laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Labor Contract Law of the PRC ({FIE AR KLMBLEEFE)), the
Labor Law of the PRC ({FRZEARLFMEILE)ZE)), the Regulations on
Paid Annual Leave for Employees (B L7 E FRERIER)), the Law on
the Protection of Rights and Interests of Women ({IFZIERIREE)),
Provisions of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff ({ Bl
BRI B T TIERRIAIRE D)), the Law on the Protection of Disabled
Persons ({3 ARFESE)) and the Social Insurance Law of the PRC (it &
RERED).

The Group has adopted the Employee Handbook (8L F ) to regulate
the workflow of recruiting, induction and training, employee transfers,
dismissals and promotions. the Employee Handbook is aligned with the local
labor laws of Mainland China and Hong Kong and includes key corporate
policies. Newly recruited employees are provided with a softcopy of
the handbook which they are required to review during on-boarding to
familiarize themselves with the Group's operations and employment and
labor practices. In the event of changes to local labor laws, the Group will

update the handbook and issue the revised copy with all employees.
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The Group attaches great importance to talent acquisition, and we recognize
that the success of an enterprise is inseparable from its employees at
all levels. In 2021, we looked for passionate people through a variety of
recruitment channels including internal referral, campus recruitment, social
media recruitment, online recruitment, talent market and head hunters to
strengthen our workforce. Forgame aims to provide our employees with a
supportive workplace built with a culture of respect and dignity that enables

employees to provide excellent service to our customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, to the best of our directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance or

breach of relevant laws and regulations regarding employment.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 48 employees. The data of
Group's number of employees and turnover by type in the Reporting Period

are listed as below:

AEBFEERAT » RIVRMERORINBENFHE
MRET - —T-—FRMBBAMERS - WERES -
HZHERBE  BERE  ATTSREBARSE
TRFBEEDETMABMOAM A - TEEAE
X - BEEEEME TREXBHRENTESHA - 258
BEHESENXL - FEIAMEFREH RS

BE"Z-—5+_A=+—B1It - LEEZARA
AEEREBEIELEZREMNEATARNERE
AR RERNER -

RZBE-_—F+-A=+—H  A5EEH48%E[EE -
MEFERNRNEFEZRERIS»NEE AZEERERK
HEBRIT

FY2021
—E--BF
Total workforce Total
BTRH B 48
By employment type Full time
IR IERAERIE 208 4
Part time
B 2
By gender Male
BRI B S 31
Female
I 17
By age group 30 or below
RFIRARIEID 30BRFIA T 14
31-40
3B EA0R 17
41-50
41 BRE508% 10
51-60
51 BR 2 605% 7
Above 60
60B% A £ 0
By employee category Management
RESRRHEID ERRfE 19
General staff
ERET 29
By geographical regions Mainland China
R 3% [ 19 RN 4
Hong Kong
EE 6
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Employee Turnover:
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BEMAE .

No. of staff
BT A
Total Overall number (Turnover rate)
FE BERRABORKLE) 13 (27.1%)
By gender Male (Turnover rate)
IR SHAR(BUHERKLX) 7 (22.6%)
Female (Turnover rate)
M (MR R ) 6 (35.3%)
By age group 30 or below (Turnover rate)
RERARIE D 30BREIA T ABORKLLLE) 2 (14.3%)
31-40 (Turnover rate)
3R E40 A B (FRKLLE) 7 (41.2%)
41-50 (Turnover rate)
41 BRESORABORAK L) 2 (20.0%)
51-60 (Turnover rate)
51 %2 60sR A B (R L) 0 (0%)
Above 60 (Turnover rate)
60B% A £ ABLOR KL E) 2 (100%)
By geographical regions Mainland China (Turnover rate)
R0 I8 & 15 REIAH A B OR R L2 ) I (26.2%)
Hong Kong (Turnover rate)
BEBANEORKER) 2 (33.3%)
Employment and employee welfare: ERRESEF
Employees are one of Forgame’s most valued assets and the cornerstone BETREFEGERNEE, - 2RREXKRNER
of its corporate growth. We note that employee should be respected and AEBEREEUBEITYRIINEEYHNRETRM
we commit to provide employees with an ideal working environment. The BRENITERE - AEEKEIFMBERETHE

Group’s “Employee Handbook™ clearly stipulates policies on remuneration, My - FREERE BT IERE  RHE - TFHF

recruitment and dismissal, promotion, working hours, holidays, equal

opportunities, and other rights and benefits.

HE AL EME RN EOHE
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Salary, benefits and retirement:

We offer our employees competitive remuneration based on their scope of
work, job responsibilities and individual performance, and reward employee
performance that contributes to the Group’s success. In addition to basic
salary, employees are entitled to benefits including social and medical
insurance in Mainland China, medical insurance in Hong Kong, and family
friendly policies such as marriage leave, maternity and paternity leave,

compassionate leave and funeral leave.

The Group also offers overtime pay and all perquisites and allowances
required by the government. Overtime requests are made in advance,
and eligible requests are supported with benefits such as transportation
allowance, compensated leave and overtime pay. The Group participates
in retirement benefit schemes in Mainland China and Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes

Ordinance for all qualifying employees.

Equal opportunity and non-discrimination:

Equal opportunity and non-discrimination practices underscore the culture
we seek to promote in our offices’ spaces. Forgame welcomes candidates
from different backgrounds and adheres to the Codes of Conduct required

by our business partners by:

. Ensuring there is no discrimination directly or indirectly, in employment
decisions, including hiring, promotion, dismissal, wages and access to
benefits on ground of race, color, sex, language, religion, political or
other opinion, age, national, social or ethnic origin, property, sexual
orientation, birth health status, trade union membership, mental
or physical disability, or other status must not be engaged in or

supported;

. Guaranteeing that no employees are subjected to mandatory health

tests that have no relevance to the job function; and

. Providing equal benefits and opportunities to vulnerable groups,
such as migrant workers, which may be subject to less protection by

national law as national workers.
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Aspect B2: Workplace Health and Safety

Minimizing work-related accidents and providing a safe and secure working
environment for all employees are of paramount importance to the Group.
The safeguard for employees’ health and safety is one of the most important
parts of the Group’s corporate control management. The Group is
committed to formulating and implementing efficient safety and health rules
that focus not only on accident prevention, but also on improving employee
efficiency and morale, requiring all employees to follow workplace safety
rules, use necessary safety equipment and report actual or potential safety

hazards.

The Group strictly abides by the labor laws and regulations in Mainland
China and Hong Kong, including but not limited to (/% A R £ FNE &5

%) (Labor Law of the PRC), {2 A R HAFIBIHEZmB77875) (Law of the
PRC on Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases), {FE AR
HFNEEBFE) (Fire Control Law of the PRC), Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance, (BB EE (1) (Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong)

and other laws and regulations.

Our administration department regularly circulates updated information
relating to health and safety practices, and places posters in common areas

to remind our staff.

The Group takes occupational health and safety seriously and will not
tolerate the flagrant disregard of safety protocols. Verbal warnings are issued
in the event that an employee conducts unsafe working practices that pose
a danger to themselves or others. For serious violations, disciplinary action

may be taken.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 brought challenges to both the Group’s
operations and customers. As such, the Group implemented a number of
measures to safeguard the health of customers and employees. The Group
operated strictly in accordance with the crowd control and social distancing
rules issued by respective local governments, and proactively implement
additional disinfection steps to maintain a safe and hygienic environment.
Working from home was allowed during the peak of pandemic in order
to lower the chance of infection. Employees are required to wear surgical
masks and are reminded to observe a high standard of hygiene. Alcohol-
based hand sanitizers were provided in the office as pandemic precaution

measure.
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Due to the nature of the Group's business, employees mainly work in the
office and the chance of encountering work-related injuries is low. The
Group did not have any serious work-related injuries and no lost day due
to work injury during the Reporting Period. There was no record of work-

related fatality in the past three reporting years.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for the development
of our employees. The professional development of our employees not
only ensures that our workforce is equipped with the skills to meet the
expectations of our customers but also demonstrates our willingness to
invest in our employees. The Group provides training on techniques and
management skills for staff at each level of our company structure and in
various departments depending on operational needs. Our employees are
also encouraged to study for professional qualifications and further their

education.

All of our employees receive initial training for their roles and ongoing on-
the-job training covering topics such as employee Code of Conduct, product
knowledge, supply chain management for office employees, and strategic
planning for our management. To foster a harmonious workplace for our
dedicated staff, we also organize corporate team building activities to
enhance their understanding and cooperation with the team. The following
tables summarize Group training data at the corporate level only, which
includes staff orientation, training on topics like management skills, product

knowledge and trade skills.
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Training Hours Completed of Employees during the Reporting Period

ESG Report
RiE - #HEBRERRSE

R & F ERIES 5T 15 I 5 2L

Total Average Training Hours Per Employee

it SEREEFHIRIEER

Number of training hours

=EIliE3 2
By gender Male
IR S
Female
Eegkd
By employee category Management
BB THERED ERE
General employees
E®mET

To incentivize our employees, reward excellence and enhance staff morale,
a transparent and fair appraisal system is operated by our remuneration
committee and the Group’s management. Carried out annually, the employee
performance evaluation process provides the basis upon which management
can decide on promotion of staff and salary revisions. Performance
management is a complete system as well as an ongoing process, which

includes the following key phases:

Year-end Performance Assessment:

FRBEMEA

*  Appraisal of targets and
performance

HERRERMNTE
Performance recognition
RREAT

Ongoing Coaching and Feedback:
FREERKE
* Management support

BEEXE

Promotion of abilities and skills

RN R ERE

1635 34l
755 244
88.0 5.18
620 326
1015  3.50

RHBET  BBELRBARREABTILR FMZ
BghAEEERERNTERNAFIENE - BB
BHEHERESFET R REEBEEEEIE
AR HER - GUEERRZEE - TR
SEBE  BRE TR

Target Setting:
REBR:
. Based on operational objectives

EREERR

Personal Development Setting:
BARREN :
Management support
EREXR
Identify strengths and weaknesses
BBIREZE
Confirm development plan

BERRE

EFERERAT s=ms02 259
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Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Group supports and abides by all regulations aimed at eradicating child
labor. In our area of operations this includes Mainland China Labor Law,
(HEE A REFIF AR FE AREE) (Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors) and Employment Ordinance. Apart from that, the Group’s Employee
Handbook clearly stated that any form of child labor and forced labor is
prohibited within the Group. To prevent inadvertent hiring of child labor, age
verification is conducted using official identification before confirmation of

employment.

Moreover, the Group forbids any form of forced labor, or modern forms of
slavery such as trafficking. Forcing employees to work excessive overtime,
confiscation of travel/identification documents, deposits or compensation are

subtle forms of forced labor and are against the Group's policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no non-compliance with laws

and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labor or forced labor.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Forgame adheres to the principle of transparency and implements the values
of honesty, integrity and fairness in the supply chain management. When
selecting the suppliers, the Group takes into account the factors such as
quality of services and products, past performance and reputation of the
suppliers and suppliers’ environmental and social responsibility performance.
When dealing with the suppliers of goods and services, the approval
procedures are in place to ensure that supplier engagements are monitored
and approved by the appropriate level of management. The Group expects
major suppliers to observe the same environmental, social, health and safety
and governance policies in their operating practices as those adopted by the

Group.

Forgame shall continue to enhance its own environmental and social
performances, and continue to perfect its supply chain management. In the
long run, the Group shall cooperate with its business partners closely, and
encourage communication and exchange of experiences among its partners
to achieve sustainable development, so as to facilitate the sustainable growth
of the whole industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group partnered
with a total of 47 suppliers.
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Number of the suppliers by geographical region

ESG Report

RiE - #HEBRERRSE

REBHEZ M EE S

Region Unit FY2021
& By —E-—BE
Mainland China Supplier
A A G 24
Hong Kong Supplier
S0 fil 13

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

As a leading technology enterprise, the Group is committed to continuously
improving its products and services quality and provides its customers with
the best experience by focusing on the management of various aspects
such as operation and customer communications. We also conduct a strict
review on the products and services provided to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, there was no
official record of complaint about products or services, and there were no
sold or shipped products that were subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons.

Intellectual property

The Group is committed to preserving the achievements of our research
and development team and avoiding infringement of the intellectual property
rights. We have established the "Guidelines on Prevention of Legal Risks
in the Research and Development and Operations of Online Games” ({48
IR RS E AR E1ES])) and the “Intellectual Property
Management Policy” ({FREEEIZHIE)) to reinforce the protection of
intellectual property right by formulating standard operating procedures. The
Group's intellectual property includes copyright, trademark, patent, trade
secret and other rights endowed by the Patent Law of the PRC ({FZE A
REAFBEFE)), the Trademark Law of the PRC ({FRZEEARLME R
Z3%)), the Copyright Law of the PRC ({HZEARKEFMBEZEREL) ), the
Administrative Measures on China Internet Domain Name ({7 Bl B B A94&
I ZEIRHE) ), the Measures for Software Products Administration ( {EX
HEMEEIIE)), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ({FZE A
RHEFMBERAEFHFE)) and other applicable laws and regulations, under
which games, software, artwork, new technology, skills and other relevant
rights are covered. Confidentiality is held in high regard in order to protect
intellectual property. All involved parties are not allowed to disclose or
deliver relevant information to others during the product development and

creation process.
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Data protection policies

Ensuring data privacy is essential to maintain our relationships with customers
and business partners. To comprehensively manage the potential information
security risk and handle relevant emergencies, the Group established the
Information Technology Internal Control Handbook (%15 B 1T &l
TH|FMH)) in accordance with the “Control Objectives for Information
and related Technology” issued by ISACA (Information Systems Audit
and Control Association) to ensure a stable, safe and efficient system that
can support the Group’s long term development in internet business. The
handbook provides clear guidance on risk management in different stages of
operations to mitigate information security risk. In addition, an emergency
response system is also outlined in the handbook to enable the staff to
understand the steps to be taken when there is an issue related to the
information security found. As safeguarding the information security requires
continuous efforts, the handbook places emphasis on the importance of
regular reviews on the procedures and measures to make sure that the

solutions to be provided can efficiently mitigate the corresponding risks.

To minimize risks of data loss and leakage, extensive data security measures
are adopted including the limited and controlled access right of critical
information, encrypted password and data transmission, and back up of data
at two or more different locations in our internal servers and further in
our long-distance disaster recovery system. Meanwhile, the Group has also
implemented the "Group Visitor Control Management Procedures” ({5 E
SHEEGIBEIEHIE)) to restrain the internet access of our visitors to

prevent potential data losses.

The Group believes that all staff members are the important contributors
to a safe and reliable system. Hence the management handbook clearly
defines the responsibility of each department and staff on how to ensure
the system is reliable. Employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement to acknowledge their duty in keeping the identified information
confidential, including sales data, business plans, personal information of
customers and intellectual property. The access right control in relations to
customer personal data is set up so that our employees get limited access
to sensitive data on a need-to-know basis. In addition, the Group has also
formulated the “Software Management Policy” ({EEBEIEHERERFIE))
and the “Malicious Software Management Procedure” ({5E B 58 2 8L {15 )
EEHIE)) and other guidelines as precautionary measures to minimize the
information security risks by strengthening our staff's awareness over the risks

from external software.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance or

violation in intellectual property and privacy.

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

To embrace business integrity for sustainable operations, the Group
promotes fairness and integrity by deterring unethical business practices,
including bribery, fraud, corruption, extortion and money laundering. The
Group also provides induction training to all new directors and employees,
the training covers areas including but not limited to, anti-corruption laws
and regulations and the company's requirements in relation thereto, as well
as the code of ethics that all directors and employees must comply with.
The code of ethics in the Employee Handbook emphasizes the importance
of abiding by statutory laws and regulations to staff and also states clearly
with the responsibility for violations. We will make our best effort to ensure
employees understand the code of ethics and make it a part of daily business
activities in order to create a positive corporate culture placing integrity and

honesty on a high priority.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited
to the Company Law of the PRC ({H#E ARLFIBIAFIE)), the Anti-
Money Laundering Law ({f%£#)%)) | the Anti-unfair Competition Law of
the PRC ((FEARKFMBERTEEFEFE)), the Basic Standards for
Internal Control of Enterprise (1B A EPIEHIERIRE) ) and the Interim
Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery ({EARZE I SFEERTTAMNE
1T#7E) ), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other laws and regulations
and has formulated the "“Forgame Anti-Corruption Management Policy”
((Forgame S E R MR EIRH|Z)) to provide clear monitoring procedures
and reporting channels. If any employees find any violations such as bribery,
corruption and fraud, he/she can report to the head of the Group's internal
control department through the reporting email or the reporting hotline
provided by the Group. The department is responsible for investigating and
collecting evidences and submitting the same to the audit and compliance
committee. The audit and compliance committee will determine the
corresponding penalties for the violations based on the nature, severity and
evidences obtained, including but not limited to punishment, dismiss the

employees, and report to relevant regulatory authorities for such violations.
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ESG Report

RE - #HEBRERARS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or
regulations in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering and were also no legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against the Group or its employees known to the Group.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviors and social
responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns to reward
shareholders is no longer the only goal of corporate management. Forgame
pays close attention to its bonds with the community where it operates
and is well aware of the importance of different stakeholders’ expectations.
The Group firmly believes that balancing the interests between shareholders
and other stakeholders is the only way to achieve the long-term business

development in a stable and healthy manner.

The Group is committed to bringing enjoyment and happiness to our users
and the community where the Group belongs to. Focusing on our society's
next generation, the Group actively supports education and research on
fintech to envision the youth to study the innovation in this area. During the
Reporting Period, the Group adhered to a social benefit philosophy focusing
on education and development, and emphasized on education of and caring

for children in remote areas.
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